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PART I

ITEM 1.    BUSINESS

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1995. When used in this report, the words "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "estimates," "plans," "believes," "continuing," 
"ongoing," and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These are statements that relate to 
future events and include, but are not limited to, the factors that may impact our financial results; our expectations regarding 
revenue; our expectations with respect to our future research and development, general and administrative and selling and 
marketing expenses and our anticipated uses of our funds; the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the emergence of 
variants of COVID-19, on our business and the U.S. and global economy; our expectations regarding the return to pre-
COVID-19 volume and revenue levels; changes in our executive officers; our beliefs with respect to the optimization of our 
processes for the analysis of ribonucleic acid, or RNA, samples; our ability to successfully integrate HalioDx and Decipher 
Biosciences into our business; our ability to deploy the nCounter Analysis System successfully and run our tests on this 
platform worldwide; our collaboration with Johnson & Johnson Services, Inc.; our belief in the importance of maintaining 
libraries of clinical evidence; our expectations regarding the Percepta Nasal Swab classifier for early lung cancer detection, the 
Percepta Genomic Atlas to help inform lung cancer treatment decisions, the Envisia classifier on the nCounter system and the 
LymphMark lymphoma subtyping test; our expectations regarding our diagnostic company partnerships; our ability to have the 
targeted Atlas platform transferred to our pulmonology indications; our expectations regarding capital expenditures; our 
anticipated cash needs and our estimates regarding our capital requirements; the timing and success of our transition to a single 
platform for all of our classifiers and tests; our ability to maintain Medicare coverage for each of our tests; our need for 
additional financing; potential future sources of cash; our business strategy and our ability to execute our strategy; our ability to 
achieve and maintain reimbursement from third-party payers at acceptable levels and our expectations regarding the timing of 
reimbursement; the estimated size of the global markets for our tests; the estimated number of patients who are candidates for 
our test; the attributes and potential benefits of our tests and any future tests we may develop to patients, physicians and payers; 
the factors we believe drive demand for and reimbursement of our tests; our ability to sustain or increase demand for our tests; 
our intent to expand into other clinical areas; our ability to develop new tests, and the timeframes for development or 
commercialization; our ability to get our data and clinical studies accepted in peer-reviewed publications; our dependence on 
and the terms of our agreement with Thyroid Cytopathology Partners, or TCP, and on other strategic relationships, and the 
success of those relationships; our beliefs regarding our laboratory capacity; the potential for future clinical studies to contradict 
or undermine previously published clinical study results; the applicability of clinical results to actual outcomes; our 
expectations regarding our international expansion; the occurrence, timing, outcome or success of clinical trials or studies; the 
ability of our tests to impact treatment decisions; our beliefs regarding our competitive position; our compliance with federal, 
state and international regulations; the potential impact of regulation of our tests by the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, 
or other regulatory bodies; the impact of new or changing policies, regulation or legislation, or of judicial decisions, on our 
business; the impact of seasonal fluctuations and economic conditions on our business; our belief that we have taken reasonable 
steps to protect our intellectual property; our belief that our intellectual property will develop and maintain our competitive 
position; the impact of accounting pronouncements and our critical accounting policies, judgments, estimates, models and 
assumptions on our financial results; and anticipated trends and challenges in our business and the markets in which we operate. 
We caution you that the foregoing list does not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this report.

Forward-looking statements are based on our current plans and expectations and involve risks and uncertainties which 
could cause actual results to differ materially. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those risks discussed 
in Part I, Item 1A of this report. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. We expressly disclaim any 
obligation or undertaking to update any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations 
with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

When used in this report, all references to "Veracyte," the "company," "we," "our" and "us" refer to Veracyte, Inc., 
together with its consolidated subsidiaries, unless otherwise noted. 

Veracyte, the Veracyte logo, HalioDx, Decipher, Decipher GRID, Afirma, Percepta, Envisia, Prosigna, LymphMark, 
Immunoscore, TMExplore, Brightplex, Immunosign, “Know by Design” and “More about You” are registered trademarks of 
Veracyte, Inc. and its subsidiaries in the U.S. and selected countries. nCounter is the registered trademark of NanoString 
Technologies, Inc., or NanoString, in the U.S. and selected countries and used by Veracyte under license.

This annual report contains statistical data and estimates that we obtained from industry publications and reports. These 
publications typically indicate that they have obtained their information from sources they believe to be reliable, but do not 
guarantee the accuracy and completeness of their information. Some data contained in this annual report is also based on our 
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internal estimates. Although we have not independently verified the third-party data, we are responsible for its inclusion in the 
annual report and believe it to be reasonable.

General

We are a global diagnostics company that improves patient care by answering important clinical questions to inform 
diagnosis and treatment decisions throughout the patient journey in cancer and other diseases. Our growing menu of tests 
leverages advances in molecular science and machine learning technology to improve care for patients, enabling them to avoid 
risky, costly procedures and interventions, and reduce time to appropriate treatment. 

Our tests address eight of the 10 most prevalent cancers by incidence in the United States. In addition to making our tests 
available in the United States through our central laboratories, our exclusive license to the nCounter Analysis System positions 
us to deliver our tests to patients worldwide through laboratories and hospitals that can perform them locally. 

We develop tests that address significant unmet clinical needs in the diagnosis, prognosis and treatment of cancer and 
other diseases. We deploy a comprehensive strategic planning approach that broadly examines the clinical care spectrum in 
areas where our unique approach and expertise may potentially benefit physicians, patients and payers. In each disease area, our 
medical affairs and research teams focus intensely on understanding the patient journey and analyzing critical points of clinical 
decision-making, where having better information can impact what happens next for the patient. 

Our extensive team of research, bioinformatics and clinical professionals rely on deep scientific expertise and an extensive 
network of practicing physicians and key opinion leaders, or KOLs, to inform new product development. This includes 
determining what clinical question each test should answer, where it should be positioned in the patient work-up and what 
sample type and technology should be used. We develop our molecular tests using advanced scientific methods, such as RNA 
whole-transcriptome sequencing and machine learning. Veracyte’s tests are purposefully designed to integrate easily into 
current physician protocols, delivering clinical utility and economic value to physicians, payers, and the healthcare system.

We currently offer tests in thyroid cancer (Afirma); prostate cancer (Decipher Prostate); breast cancer (Prosigna); lung 
cancer (Percepta); interstitial lung diseases (Envisia); bladder cancer (Decipher Bladder); and colon cancer (Immunoscore). Our 
tests for kidney cancer and lymphoma are in development, the latter as a companion diagnostic.

We serve global markets with two complementary and inter-related core models. In the United States, we offer laboratory 
developed tests, or LDTs, which we perform in our centralized, CLIA-certified laboratories in South San Francisco and San 
Diego, California, and Richmond, Virginia, supported by our cytopathology expertise in our Austin, Texas, CLIA lab. In 
addition, outside of the United States, we intend to offer our tests as in vitro diagnostic, or IVD, tests that run on the nCounter 
Analysis System by laboratories that perform them for physicians and their patients locally. We believe our broad menu of 
advanced diagnostic tests, combined with our ability to deliver them globally, uniquely position us in the diagnostics sector. 

In the process of developing leading diagnostics across the oncology market, we have collected a significant number of 
patient samples and proprietary data related to various cancer types. We combine these assets with our robust machine learning 
core competency to further enhance our research capabilities as well as build opportunities with biopharmaceutical and other 
partners to leverage our data and technological expertise.  

In early 2021, Veracyte acquired Decipher Biosciences, expanding our genomic testing menu into urologic cancers. The 
acquisition also provided Veracyte with Decipher GRID (Genomic Resource for Intelligent Discovery), a platform and database 
that helps drive biopharmaceutical partnerships, KOL engagement and pipeline development in urologic cancers. 

In mid-2021, we acquired HalioDx SAS and HalioDx Inc., historically a wholly owned subsidiary of HalioDx SAS, 
(collectively referred to as “HalioDx”), giving us the capabilities and expertise to manufacture our own IVD test kits for use on 
the nCounter Analysis System. The acquisition also deepened our scientific expertise into the rapidly growing area of immuno-
oncology, expanded our reach into colon cancer with the Immunoscore test and further strengthened our offerings to 
biopharmaceutical and other partners. 

We were incorporated in Delaware as Calderome, Inc. in August 2006. Calderome operated as an incubator until early 
2008. We changed our name to Veracyte, Inc. in March 2008. 
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Addressing Unmet Clinical Needs 

We develop our diagnostic tests to address specific unmet clinical needs, enabling better-informed decisions across the 
patient care continuum in major cancers and other diseases. Our leadership team utilizes a robust strategic planning process to 
identify and assess new opportunities based on the clinical need, as well as market size, competitive landscape and alignment 
with our business priorities. We continually monitor the clinical and diagnostics landscape and conduct strategic initiatives to 
assess specific markets and new technologies. 

Our experienced medical affairs team supports the process by conducting extensive diligence to understand the patient 
journey – from early detection to diagnosis to treatment – and determine where providing physicians with more accurate and 
comprehensive information can positively enhance care for patients, enabling them to avoid risky, costly procedures and 
interventions, and accelerate time to appropriate treatment. This assessment includes determining what specific clinical question 
our test should answer, where it should be positioned in the patient work-up and what sample type and technology should be 
used. We leverage an extensive network of practicing physicians and KOLs to inform new product development. We design our 
tests to integrate easily into current physician protocols, helping to deliver clinical utility and economic value to physicians, 
payers, and the healthcare system.

Our Scientific Approach

Our core scientific expertise, robust technology, and expanding biorepositories form the foundation of our business, 
fueling development of our clinical diagnostic tests, as well as our biopharmaceutical partnerships. We have proprietary 
methods in whole genome and targeted RNA and DNA genomic analysis, as well as in spatial immunohistochemistry, across 
numerous biological specimen types. This rich content feeds into our machine learning algorithms, which we utilize to create 
tests that answer specific clinical questions. 

Genomics

In the past, clinicians made diagnostic and treatment decisions with limited cellular, imaging or clinical information. 
Veracyte leverages innovations in advanced genomic and other technologies to create tests that answer specific clinical 
questions, helping physicians and patients make better diagnoses and treatment decisions. 
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We utilize a comprehensive approach to developing our genomic tests, which includes building extensive, robust 
biorepositories of patient samples and well-curated clinical, radiological, outcome and other information from Institutional 
Review Board-approved clinical trials to inform our discovery and validation efforts. We develop our tests on the same type of 
sample on which it will be used in clinical practice, which are prospectively collected through multicenter clinical trials. Due to 
the complex, sometimes rare, subtypes of various diseases like cancer, we develop and train our machine learning algorithms 
using a diverse set of patient samples so that they are equipped to recognize patterns across the whole spectrum of conditions 
that may be encountered in the clinic. 

We extract extensive genomic information from these patient samples before applying our proprietary machine-learning 
algorithms. This approach enables the algorithm to determine which genomic, clinical or other features are most relevant for 
developing high-performing tests, versus relying on a pre-determined set of genes derived from the literature. In addition, our 
bioinformatics pipelines are built to extract genomic variant content from the same assay, which may be used to develop tests 
that inform other decisions, such as therapy selection.

We take a platform-agnostic approach to analyzing genomic content and may in fact utilize a multitude of methodologies 
to develop future tests. When we developed our flagship Afirma test in thyroid cancer in 2008, microarray technologies were a 
cost-effective discovery technology compared to other approaches that were nascent at the time. More recently, rapid cost 
reductions achieved in next-generation sequencing platforms have allowed us to create tests using RNA sequencing. Using this 
technology, we extract rich feature sets – nuclear and mitochondrial gene expression, single nucleotide variants, RNA fusions, 
and copy number variants – from the RNA transcriptome of patient samples to help create the highest-resolution genomic 
picture possible. We continue to evaluate potential opportunities to use new genomic discoveries and technologies to further 
improve patient care.

We have developed proprietary technology, intellectual property and know-how for optimized methods to extract and 
analyze nanogram quantities of RNA from small samples derived from fine needle aspiration biopsies, bronchoscopy brushings 
and nasal swab collections. While others can extract RNA from these small biopsies, we believe our process is optimized and 
scaled for high-throughput clinical testing involving high-density microarrays and next-generation sequencing. 

Machine Learning and Artificial Intelligence 

Our machine learning and artificial intelligence technologies leverage our patient sample and data repositories to drive test 
development. We use machine learning algorithms to match genomic patterns with “clinical truth,” or the true diagnosis or 
clinical outcome, which allows us to predict the presence, or absence, of disease or a patient’s prognosis in a clinical setting. 
For biomarker discovery and product development, we utilize machine learning to select the genomic, clinical or other features 
from our biorepository that best distinguish the condition we are trying to identify. Our machine learning approach recognizes 
patterns of genes that correspond with clinical characteristics. 

We train our proprietary machine learning algorithms to interpret this vast genomic data using large numbers of diverse 
patient samples that represent the broad spectrum of disease that our genomic tests may likely encounter in a clinical setting. In 
some cases, we deploy ensemble algorithms to differentiate between complex biologies. As scientific understanding continues 
to progress, additional features that inform disease status, such as more-refined genomic features or imaging data, can 
potentially help us identify clinical attributes with ever-more precision, enabling development of tests that provide even clearer 
answers to important clinical questions. 

By leveraging our internal technology and bioinformatics capabilities across our growing database of highly-curated data 
for more than 350,000 patient samples, we will have the ability to further drive new product development in existing and future 
indications and offer unique insights to biopharmaceutical researchers. 

Immuno-oncology

Our expertise in immuno-oncology enables us to translate complex tumor immune response data into actionable insights 
that inform clinical decision-making in cancer and also guide new drug development. We offer a unique range of immuno-
oncology solutions, including the flagship Immunoscore test, which provides a score based on the precise identification and 
quantification of T lymphocytes infiltrating the tumor in specific regions. This personalized medicine tool has been shown to 
predict patient outcomes in several indications, which helps physicians determine treatment selection and timing. 

We also offer Immunogram, a spatial molecular analysis and bioinformatics tool that integrates genomic, transcriptomic 
and proteomic data to help researchers understand the intricacies of the tumor immune microenvironment. We offer this tool as 
a service to biopharmaceutical partners who use it to predict patient response to immunotherapy among other uses. We believe 
our immuno-oncology capabilities and offerings are complementary to – and in the future may be more integrated into – our 
core genomic diagnostics business.
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Serving the U.S. Market Through Our CLIA Labs 

We launch our diagnostic tests as laboratory developed tests, or LDTs, which we perform in our Clinical Laboratory 
Improvement Amendments of 1988, or CLIA, certified laboratories, to serve the U.S. market. Our well-honed approach has 
enabled us to establish market-leading tests that are creating new standards of care across a range of clinical indications. 

In each indication, our clinical and medical affairs teams work closely with key opinion leaders, or KOLs, to develop and 
validate our tests with deep clinical rigor. This engagement helps ensure that our tests meet the performance criteria needed to 
achieve physician adoption, while helping us gain KOL familiarization and support. In addition to publishing the results of 
clinical validation studies, we also publish analytical validation studies to establish the reproducibility of our tests across lab 
instruments, operators and samples. Once our tests are ready to be launched, we engage KOLs and community physicians in 
studies to build the clinical utility evidence needed to support coverage policies and reimbursement from Medicare and private 
payers. Additionally, our clinical and medical affairs teams continue to liaise with physicians on user-experience, decision 
impact and other studies. To date, we estimate that over 150 studies demonstrating the performance and clinical utility of our 
CLIA-based tests have been published in peer-reviewed medical journals.

Our ability to develop rigorous clinical evidence for our tests has enabled their inclusion in leading clinical practice 
guidelines, including those from the National Comprehensive Cancer Network, or NCCN. Our CLIA model enables us to 
manage the rollout of our tests and bill payers directly, which facilitates test adoption and helps us work directly with payers to 
secure payment, as well as coverage policies. We employ a team of in-house claims processing and reimbursement specialists 
who work with payers, physician practices and patients to optimize reimbursement. We have achieved Medicare reimbursement 
for many of our commercially available tests launched to date. We expect to continue to focus on increasing adoption, 
coverage, and reimbursement of our tests and to build upon our extensive library of clinical evidence.

Our market development and product marketing expertise help us establish the clinical need for our tests among 
physicians and other audiences, gain initial support from KOLs and expand commercialization once Medicare coverage is 
secured. Our disease-specific sales teams sell directly to physicians who specialize in each of our clinical indications, as well as 
others involved in deciding which diagnostic test to adopt. Our experienced marketing teams help drive market penetration 
through a range of strategies and tactics, including medical conference participation and events; speaker programs; digital 
marketing programs; advocacy group engagement and other initiatives. 

Currently all of our tests in the U.S. are serviced through our own CLIA-certified laboratories in South San Francisco, San 
Diego, Austin, and Richmond. We manage our labs with a focus on operational excellence and continuous improvement. We 
measure performance using such criteria as lab-processing turnaround time, failure rates and deviation vs. control. We have an 
active monitoring program to ensure lab operations exceed regulatory requirements and believe we have leading operational 
infrastructure. We use a systematic analytical approach aimed at delivering optimal outcomes for patients and referring 
physicians, while driving cost and lab-efficiency improvement as we scale operations. 

Driving Global Growth with Distributed IVD Tests 

Once we have developed robust clinical evidence and physician adoption of our tests in the United States, we typically 
then drive further patient access by launching them, as appropriate, into global markets as IVD tests that are run on the 
nCounter Analysis System. This approach enables our tests to be performed locally in laboratories and hospitals worldwide, 
which we believe facilitates market access and physician adoption in Europe and other strategic global markets. 

In December 2019, we acquired the exclusive worldwide license to the nCounter Analysis System for clinical IVD test 
use, development and commercialization. We expect this instrument platform to enable a broad range of testing through its 
ability to simultaneously conduct multiplex evaluation of up to 800 RNA and other targets. The nCounter Analysis System is 
simple to use and requires less than two hours of hands-on time, which is an up to 80 percent reduction compared to sequencing 
technology. These capabilities can make advanced genomic testing more accessible to patients through laboratories that 
previously may not have had the resources or expertise to perform such complex testing. We believe the nCounter Analysis 
System is a key catalyst that is enabling our transformation into a leading global diagnostics company poised for long-term 
growth.

With our broad menu of diagnostic tests already available in our CLIA labs in the U.S., we believe we are well positioned 
to develop and deliver a menu of tests for use on the nCounter Analysis System. Our acquisition of HalioDx in August 2021 
provides us with a European headquarters to develop, manufacture and supply our own IVD test kits for use on the nCounter 
Analysis System.  We plan to transition manufacturing of our tests, currently produced by NanoString in the U.S., to HalioDx’s 
facility in France, giving us end-to-end control of our IVD supply chain. We anticipate the vertical integration of research, 
development and manufacturing of the Veracyte genomic diagnostic portfolio on the nCounter Analysis System will enhance 
our ability to efficiently serve the global market with a broad menu of diagnostic tests. 
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The HalioDx team brings to Veracyte over 20 years of experience developing and helping to commercialize advanced 
genomic tests in-house as a service to diagnostic companies and other partners. This extensive track record with IVD tests 
includes a robust design-control process, quality assurance, know-how for registering tests in countries globally and 
commercial expertise to drive regional market access and market penetration. We believe our internal development and 
commercialization benefits from this experience.

Outside of the United States, our go-to-market strategy takes advantage of the collection of high-quality clinical data 
generated in the U.S., as well as from additional retrospective and prospective large clinical studies needed to meet any further 
level-of-evidence requirements by public and private payers. Documentation of the economic benefit is also required to obtain 
national coverage from health authorities. Our flagship IVD product, the Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay, is now reimbursed in a 
number of European Counties including Germany, Spain, Sweden, Denmark, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and Israel. Our 
customers subsequently bill third-party payers for reimbursement. We take a country-by-country approach to market access and 
reimbursement, working with KOLs to secure our tests’ inclusion in clinical guidelines and to educate government and other 
officials about the value of our products.

Our Clinical Diagnostic Tests 

Our current and pipeline tests address unmet clinical needs in eight of the 10 most prevalent cancers by U.S. incidence. 
Our CLIA tests in the U.S. are improving diagnosis and patient care in thyroid cancer; prostate cancer; lung cancer; interstitial 
lung diseases including idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis; bladder cancer; and colon cancer. We currently offer IVD testing in 
breast cancer. To date, nearly all of our revenue has been derived from customers we serve in the United States.

Thyroid Cancer - Afirma Genomic Sequencing Classifier and Xpression Atlas

In the United States, an estimated 565,000 fine needle aspiration, or FNA, biopsies are performed annually to assess 
patients with potentially cancerous thyroid nodules, of which up to 30 percent of the results are indeterminate (not clearly 
benign or malignant) using traditional cytopathology. Historically, these patients were referred to surgery to remove all or part 
of their thyroid, with 70-80 percent of these nodules ultimately proving to be benign. 

We developed the Afirma Genomic Sequencing Classifier, or GSC, to determine which patients with indeterminate results 
are actually benign so that these patients may avoid unnecessary, costly surgery that often leads to the need for lifelong daily 
thyroid hormone replacement drugs. The test was developed with RNA whole-transcriptome sequencing and machine learning 
technology to provide physicians with clinically actionable results from the same FNA biopsy used for initial cytopathology. 

Strong clinical validation data for the Afirma GSC, from a multicenter cohort of prospectively collected patient samples, 
were published in JAMA Surgery. The findings showed that the test has a sensitivity of 91% and specificity of 68%, meaning 
that in a patient population with 24% cancer prevalence – which is what would be expected in clinical practice – the test can 
identify more than two-thirds of benign thyroid nodules, with a negative predictive value, or NPV, of 96%. The Afirma GSC 
and its predecessor, the Afirma Gene Expression Classifier, are supported by more than 70 peer-reviewed, published studies. 
These include the original clinical validation study, which was published in The New England Journal of Medicine. Afirma 
testing is included in leading practice guidelines and is covered by Medicare and most major commercial health plans in the 
United States.

As part of our offering, the Afirma Xpression Atlas, or XA, provides genomic alteration content from the same FNA 
samples used in Afirma GSC testing to help physicians decide, with greater confidence, on the surgical or therapeutic pathway 
for their patients. The test includes 593 genes, 905 variants and 235 fusions, and we believe it is the most comprehensive 
genomic panel of its kind in thyroid cancer. 

Our sales team sells the Afirma GSC, including the Afirma XA, to endocrinologists and other physicians who perform 
FNA biopsies on patients with thyroid nodules. We estimate that approximately 70% of our testing volume comes from 
physicians in hospital or institutional settings and the remaining 30% comes from community-based practices. Physicians can 
order Afirma GSC testing in one of two ways: by submitting indeterminate FNA samples directly to Veracyte for genomic 
testing or by submitting FNA samples for initial cytopathology analysis by our partner, Thyroid Cytopathology Partners, with 
genomic testing performed by Veracyte when the cytopathology is indeterminate. 

Prostate Cancer - Decipher Prostate Biopsy and Radical Prostatectomy, or RP, Genomic Classifiers

An estimated 268,490 men are diagnosed with prostate cancer each year in the United States. Prior to the utilization of 
genomics, clinicians relied solely on clinical parameters, such as prostate-specific antigen, or PSA, level and pathology to 
determine the appropriate treatment for each patient. But those factors alone were imprecise, which often led to overtreatment 
of some and under treatment of others. The Decipher Prostate cancer test results dramatically improve the physician's ability to 
personalize therapy for each patient and make more appropriate treatment decisions. 
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The Decipher Prostate cancer tests, developed through whole-transcriptome analysis and machine learning, are used 
across localized disease to predict a patient’s risk of progressing to metastatic disease within five years, which helps physicians 
determine an appropriate treatment plan. The Decipher Prostate Biopsy test is performed on a prostate biopsy sample following 
a cancer diagnosis to inform whether the patient is a candidate for active surveillance, needs monotherapy or may benefit from 
multi-modal or intensified therapy. The Decipher Prostate RP test is performed on surgical tissue to guide decision-making 
regarding treatment timing following radical prostatectomy and to help determine whether patients undergoing salvage 
radiotherapy may benefit from the addition of hormone therapy or may safely avoid hormone therapy and its side effects. 

The Decipher Prostate genomic classifier is currently being investigated in seven National Cancer Institute-sponsored, 
phase 3, prospective, randomized controlled clinical trials; 13 phase 2/3 prospective trials; and more than 20 retrospective 
studies of phase 3 randomized controlled trials. Many of these trials require Decipher Prostate testing for study inclusion. The 
test has been featured in over 260 peer-reviewed publications.

The Decipher Prostate RP test is the only genomic prostate cancer test to receive a “recommended” designation by the 
National Comprehensive Cancer Network, or NCCN. Further, the 2022 NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines for Oncology, 
uniquely recommend Decipher Prostate RP after radical prostatectomy and include treatment recommendations based 
specifically on the patient’s Decipher Prostate score. The Decipher Prostate cancer tests are covered by Medicare and 
commercial payers representing more than 150 million enrollees. 

Breast Cancer - Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay

Breast cancer is the most common cancer and the leading cause of cancer-related death in women worldwide. In 2020, 
there were an estimated 2.3 million new cases of the disease and 685,000 deaths. Information about individual patients’ 
prognosis is the foundation of treatment decision-making and recommendations in breast cancer. However, traditional non-
molecular tests are often insufficient to reliably determine patients’ individual risk of recurrence and, therefore, adequately 
inform therapy decisions. 

The Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay is a clinically validated prognostic genomic assay that combines clinical and 
pathological information to help inform next steps for women with early-stage breast cancer, helping them avoid unnecessary 
toxic chemotherapy or under treatment.  The test is performed as an IVD on the nCounter Analysis System and is offered in the 
U.S., EMEA and other selected markets. The test uses advanced genomic technology to inform next steps for post-menopausal 
women with early-stage HR+ and HER2- breast cancer, based on the genomic make-up of their disease. The test analyzes the 
activity of 46 genes in the PAM50 gene signature, along with clinical-pathological features, and can provide a hormone-
receptor positive, early-stage breast cancer patient and their physician with a prognostic risk-of-recurrence score that indicates 
the probability of cancer recurrence over the next ten years. The Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay is built on the biological 
underpinning of disease and has shown improved performance when compared with previously-developed gene expression 
profiling tests and traditional immunohistochemistry. Outside of the United States, test results include the intrinsic breast cancer 
subtype, which can enable a more accurate assessment of tumor gene expression patterns, to complement the risk-of-recurrence 
score.

The Prosigna test is clinically validated in studies published in Annals of Oncology and the Journal of Clinical Oncology. 
Medicare coverage for Prosigna has been in effect since 2015. The test is recommended in guidelines from the National 
Comprehensive Cancer Network and the American Society of Clinical Oncology in the United States. Outside of the United 
States, the test is included in leading medical guidelines, including from the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence in 
the United Kingdom and the European Society for Medical Oncology, or ESMO.

The Prosigna test utilizes formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded breast cancer tissue and is offered as an IVD test that 
runs on the nCounter Analysis System. The test has been CE-marked, showing that it conforms with European Union 
regulations, and is available for use by healthcare professionals in the European Union and other countries that recognize the 
CE mark, as well as in Canada, Israel, Australia, New Zealand and Hong Kong. The Prosigna test is FDA 510(k) cleared in the 
United States for use on the nCounter Analysis System.

In the European Union, the Prosigna test is sold to laboratories by our direct sales team, who also lead efforts to secure 
reimbursement and gain support among KOLs in breast cancer oncology. In the United States, we sell the Prosigna test to 
laboratories through our channel partners. 

We estimate that the global early-stage breast cancer recurrence market is significant, with approximately 375,000 
patients potentially eligible for Prosigna annually. This is comprised of approximately 111,000 patients in the United States and 
250,000 in the rest of the world. 
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Lung Cancer Portfolio

Veracyte’s portfolio of lung cancer tests are intended to address unmet needs across the continuum of disease, which 
today can often result in unnecessary invasive procedures, delayed or missed diagnoses and inappropriate treatment. 
Collectively, our tests leverage cutting-edge genomic science and technology to provide answers and insights that enable 
physicians and patients to make better, faster and more confident care decisions. We currently perform the Percepta Genomic 
Sequencing Classifier, or GSC, and the Percepta Nasal Swab test in our CLIA laboratory. The latter was introduced in October 
2021 to a limited number of sites as we work to build the evidence to support reimbursement.

Percepta Genomic Sequencing Classifier (GSC)

Lung cancer is often difficult to diagnose without invasive, risky and costly surgeries. Patients with lung nodules found on 
CT scans often undergo bronchoscopy – a common, nonsurgical procedure to evaluate potentially cancerous lung nodules. 
However, this procedure often produces inconclusive results, which can lead to unnecessary additional procedures or delays in 
diagnosis.

The Percepta GSC improves lung cancer diagnosis when diagnostic bronchoscopy results are inconclusive. The test, 
developed with RNA whole-transcriptome sequencing, identifies patients with lung nodules who are at low risk of cancer and 
may avoid further, invasive procedures, as well as patients at high risk of cancer so they may obtain faster diagnosis and 
treatment. The test is built upon foundational "field of injury" science - through which genomic changes associated with lung 
cancer in current and former smokers can be identified with a simple brushing of a patient's airway - without the need to sample 
the often hard-to-reach nodule directly.

Our Percepta test is supported by eight published scientific studies, including a clinical validation study published in The 
New England Journal of Medicine, which demonstrate the test’s accuracy in identifying patients who are at low risk of cancer 
following inconclusive results from bronchoscopy. These patients may then be monitored with CT scans in lieu of undergoing 
surgery - a frequent next step at this juncture of the clinical pathway. A clinical utility study published in the journal CHEST 
showed that use of the test significantly reduced unnecessary surgeries in the target patient population, compared to physicians’ 
plans prior to Percepta testing. 

In 2017, we obtained Medicare coverage for Percepta, making it the first genomic test to be covered for use in lung cancer 
diagnosis. The test is available as a covered benefit for Medicare’s over 60 million enrollees. We estimate that half of the 
patients evaluated for lung cancer in the United States are covered by Medicare.

Percepta Nasal Swab Test 

Lung cancer is the leading cancer killer worldwide, causing approximately 1.8 million deaths each year. Lung nodules are 
typically the first sign of lung cancer and cannot be ignored – however, most of them are benign. Today, physicians have 
limited objective tools to help accurately determine which patients with lung nodules found on CT scans have cancer and which 
do not. We developed the Percepta Nasal Swab test to help physicians more accurately, quickly and confidently identify lung 
cancer risk so that patients whose lung nodules are benign may avoid unnecessary invasive procedures and patients whose 
nodules are likely cancerous may proceed to further diagnostic work-up and, if necessary, treatment.

The Percepta Nasal Swab test uses the same “field of injury” principle as Percepta GSC to detect smoking-related damage 
associated with lung cancer in current or former smokers, but uses a sample collected non-invasively from the nasal passage. 
Veracyte developed the final classifier using RNA whole-transcriptome sequencing and machine learning on a training set of 
nasal samples from more than 1,100 patients representing a wide range of lung and tumor biology.

In clinical validation data presented at the 2021 American College of Chest Physicians, or CHEST, Annual Meeting, 
when the Percepta Nasal Swab test identified patients as low risk, its sensitivity was 97%, providing a negative predictive value, 
or NPV, of 98% in a population with the 25% cancer prevalence that would be expected in a broad cohort with suspicious lung 
nodules. This NPV would assist physicians in avoiding unnecessary invasive procedures in these patients with a very small 
likelihood of missing a cancer. When the test identified patients as high risk, its specificity was 92%, for a positive predictive 
value, or PPV, of 70% at a malignancy rate of 25%. This PPV would assist physicians in directing these patients to further 
procedures so they could obtain an accurate diagnosis and speed time to treatment, if necessary. Patients in the moderate risk 
group could be managed according to current clinical guidelines. We began running the Percepta Nasal Swab test in our CLIA 
lab in October 2021. Approximately 15 million patients are now recommended for annual lung cancer CT screening to detect 
potentially cancerous lung nodules early. Today, approximately 1 million Americans are screened annually for lung cancer, and 
about 1.6 million lung nodules are found incidentally. As a consequence we believe that approximately 1 million lung nodules 
every year in the U.S. require further evaluation by a pulmonologist for potential cancer.
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ILD/IPF - Envisia Genomic Classifier

Each year in the United States and Europe, approximately 200,000 patients are suspected of having an interstitial lung 
disease, or ILD, including idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, or IPF, which is among the most common and deadly of these lung-
scarring diseases. Obtaining an accurate, timely IPF diagnosis is important given the availability of drugs that can slow the 
progression of this debilitating disease, as well as the need to avoid inappropriate and potentially harmful treatment. 
Additionally, prognostic information may help physicians determine treatment plans for patients with ILDs, including IPF.

Limitations in current technologies make IPF notoriously difficult to diagnose, often leading to treatment delays, repeated 
misdiagnoses, patient distress and added healthcare expenses. Physicians routinely use high-resolution computed tomography, 
or HRTC, imaging to identify usual interstitial pneumonia, or UIP, the pattern whose presence is essential to IPF diagnosis. 
This approach, however, frequently provides inconclusive results, with current guidelines recommending consideration of 
surgery to secure a more definitive diagnosis. Such surgeries are risky and expensive, and many patients are too frail to undergo 
the procedure. 

The Envisia classifier is the first test of its kind for improving the diagnosis of ILDs, including IPF, without the need for 
surgery. The test identifies usual interstitial pneumonia, or UIP, a pattern that is essential to the diagnosis of IPF, with high 
accuracy on patient samples that are obtained through transbronchial biopsy, a nonsurgical procedure that is commonly used in 
lung evaluation. 

The Envisia classifier is supported by clinical data published in eight peer-reviewed journals, including The Lancet 
Respiratory Medicine and American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. In 2018, the Fleischner Society 
published a white paper suggesting that molecular diagnosis with machine learning will play an increasing role in the diagnosis 
of IPF, when considered along with clinical and imaging features.

We obtained Medicare coverage for the Envisia classifier through the MolDX program in 2019. We estimate that half of 
the patients evaluated for ILDs/IPF in the United States are covered by Medicare. 

Bladder Cancer - Decipher Bladder Genomic Classifier

In 2021 in the U.S., nearly 85,000 people were expected to be diagnosed with bladder cancer and over 17,000 people were 
expected to die of the disease. Patients diagnosed with non-metastatic muscle-invasive bladder cancer, or MIBC, often undergo 
neoadjuvant chemotherapy, or NAC, prior to standard-of-care radical cystectomy, even though the absolute survival benefit 
associated with the addition of NAC to radical cystectomy is just 5-10%. Until recently, there was no reliable way to determine 
which MIBC tumors would – or would not – respond to chemotherapy. 

Decipher Bladder is a genomic test that measures the molecular profile of bladder cancer using gene expression analysis 
from transurethral resected bladder tumor specimens. The test was developed for use in bladder cancer patients with high-grade 
non-muscle-invasive disease who are being considered for treatment and patients with muscle-invasive disease who face the 
question of immediate cystectomy or systemic treatment in the neoadjuvant setting prior to cystectomy. Decipher Bladder 
reports the molecular subtype of the tumor specimen as Luminal or Non-Luminal (Luminal Infiltrated, Basal, Basal Claudin-
Low or Neuroendocrine-like), with each subtype having distinct biological composition, clinical behavior and predicted benefit 
from NAC.

The Decipher Bladder test is supported by multiple peer-reviewed clinical studies demonstrating its ability to identify 
which patients have a higher risk of upstaging to non-organ confined disease at surgery and which patients may benefit the most 
from neoadjuvant therapy. The test also can be used to identify neuroendocrine-like and immune-infiltrated subtypes, which 
may have implications for future therapeutic strategies.

We began commercialization of the Decipher Bladder test in the fall of 2021, following final Medicare coverage for the 
test in July 2021. The Decipher Bladder test is the first genomic test to be covered by Medicare for patients with bladder cancer. 

Colon Cancer - Immunoscore Colon Cancer Test

Approximately 1.15 million new cases of colon cancer are diagnosed worldwide each year. The Immunoscore Colon 
Cancer test is designed to deliver critical information to guide chemotherapy decision-making in Stage II localized colon cancer 
to help physicians identify patients who may be spared adjuvant chemotherapy, and in Stage III localized colon cancer to help 
inform optimal treatment duration for patients. 

The Immunoscore platform is a tissue-based assay that combines advances in immuno-oncology science and spatial 
immunohistochemistry to assess lymphocytic infiltration in human tumors. This personalized medicine tool has been shown to 
predict patient outcomes in several indications and has been validated in an international study conducted on more than 2,500 
Stage I-III colon cancer patients. These studies showed that Immunoscore is an independent prognostic factor for patient 
survival and that it provides the greatest contribution to patient prognostication of all assessed factors. The colon cancer test is 
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the first commercial application of the Immunoscore platform, which Veracyte believes may also be applied to other cancers 
and diseases.

The Immunoscore Colon Cancer test was included in the 2020 ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for Diagnosis, 
Treatment, and Follow-up of Colon Cancer and in 2021, the test was included in the Pan-Asian adapted ESMO guidelines. Both 
guidelines emphasize that tumor recurrence risk-assessment and expected benefit from chemotherapy are key to the evaluation 
of adjuvant therapy options. In this context, the Immunoscore Colon Cancer test is recommended for its ability to refine the 
prognosis of stage II and stage III colon cancer patients, in conjunction with standard cancer staging known as TNM (Tumor, 
Node, Metastasis).

Immunoscore is commercially available as a CLIA or CE-marked test in more than 20 countries, with testing performed in 
Veracyte’s CLIA laboratories. 

Biopharmaceutical and Other Revenue

We have formed several biopharmaceutical partnerships that derive value out of our current assets or future ones. Through 
development and commercialization of our tests, we have built or gained access to unique biorepositories that include extensive 
clinical cohorts and whole-genome RNA sequencing and other data, such as immuno-oncology.

Biopharmaceutical customers may be interested in leveraging our data to: first, understand or confirm a drug’s method of 
action by looking at patients’ gene expression profiles or tumor microenvironment pre- and post-treatment; second, identify 
predictive or prognostic biomarkers for drug response, toxicity or disease progression, which define the ideal patient 
subpopulation for a given therapy; and/or lastly, identify patient populations with rare genetic variations for clinical trials or 
existing therapies. We also offer customized biomarker testing and analytical services to our biopharmaceutical partners, 
helping them advance their goals. 

Our immuno-oncology offerings to biopharmaceutical partners focus on the implications of the tumor microenvironment 
using tools such as Immunoscore, Immunosign, our Brightplex innovative technology, our Immunogram multimodal analysis 
platform and our Cancer Immune Atlas dedicated database. Immunogram, our multi-modal platform, provides a comprehensive 
understanding of the tumor immune microenvironment by seamlessly integrating data from a variety of genomic, 
transcriptomic, and proteomic platforms. 

Additionally, we deploy our know-how in IVD test development to develop and manufacture such tests for other 
diagnostic companies in indications that are noncompetitive to Veracyte. 

Leveraging Data Across the Business

In developing and commercializing our tests, we assemble and curate large amounts of data and clinical information that 
can be leveraged to advance biopharmaceutical partnerships, KOL research, and new product development. Following the 
acquisitions of Decipher Bioscience and HalioDx, we have more than 350,000 total patient molecular profiles, derived 
primarily from whole transcriptome and spatial immunohistochemistry. Our data assets and biorepositories may include RNA, 
DNA, variant, fusion and other genomic data, immune-response data, and well-curated clinical, radiological, outcome and other 
information. 

Impact of COVID-19

We believe the continuation of the COVID-19 outbreak and its recent escalations due to the Delta and Omicron variants 
has impacted our test volumes. Our customers, third-party contract manufacturers, carriers, suppliers and collaboration partners 
have been affected by the closure of hospitals, doctors' offices, manufacturing sites, or country borders, among other measures 
put in place around the world. Layoffs, furloughs and unplanned loss of staff (due to vaccination status or other reasons) in the 
medical industry and otherwise during the pandemic have had, and will continue to have, negative impacts on the demand for 
and supply of medical care and diagnostic tests, which affects the frequency with which tests are ordered, and the ability of 
doctors and hospitals to administer such tests. Further the inability to travel and conduct face-to-face meetings can also make it 
more difficult to expand utilization of our products into new geographies and to drive awareness of our products.

Our Decipher Prostate test has been least impacted by the pandemic because our customers are mostly community-based 
urology practices, which generally remain more accessible to patients and our sales reps. Our Afirma thyroid cancer test has 
been impacted by COVID-19 because a majority of our samples come from hospital-based settings, which are less accessible to 
patients and our reps. We believe our pulmonology business continues to be most impacted since the bronchoscopy procedures 
used to collect samples for our Percepta and Envisia tests are considered elective procedures and are performed in hospital 
settings, which continue to be more restrictive, and these tests are ordered by pulmonologists who are currently largely 
preoccupied with caring for COVID-19 patients. 
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The rapid increase in daily COVID-19 testing consumes reagents and supplies otherwise available to diagnostic testing 
companies like ours across the United States. When not limited by the expiration date of products and when we feel it 
reasonable and feasible to do so, we are taking steps to manage our level of stock reserves, to develop alternative sources of 
supply and to implement procedures to mitigate the impact on our supply chain and our ability to process samples in our 
laboratories. Though we are in regular contact with our key suppliers, we do not have, nor expect to have, the necessary insight 
into our vendors’ supply chain issues that we may need to know to effectively mitigate the impact to our business. Though we 
attempt to mitigate the impact to our business, these interruptions in manufacturing (including the sourcing of reagents or 
supplies) may negatively impact our test volumes or levels of revenue.

The extent of the impact of COVID-19 on our future liquidity and operational performance will depend on certain 
developments, including the deployment and long-term efficacy of vaccines; the duration and spread of the outbreak 
particularly in the form of more transmissible variants; the impact on our customers' operations; and the impact to our sales and 
renewal cycles. See Risk Factors for further discussion of the possible impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business.

Reimbursement

United States 

Revenue from our tests comes from several sources, including commercial third-party payers, such as insurance 
companies and health maintenance organizations, government payers, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and patients.

Medicare generally covers molecular diagnostic tests through the individual Medicare Administrative Contracts, or 
MACs. Medicare coverage for most of Veracyte’s tests is determined through the MolDX program, administered by the MAC 
Palmetto GBA. Through Local Coverage Determinations, or LCDs, and associated coverage articles, MolDX covers Afirma-
GSC, Percepta-GSC, Envisia, Decipher Prostate, Decipher Bladder, and Prosigna. For testing services that do not fall within the 
scope of the MolDX program, coverage may be adjudicated by the MAC with jurisdiction over the laboratory that performs the 
test, either via an LCD or on a claim-by-claim basis.

Since 1984, Medicare has paid for clinical diagnostic laboratory tests, or CDLTs, on the Clinical Laboratory Fee 
Schedule, or CLFS, under section 1833(h) of the Social Security Act, or the SSA. Section 216(a) of the Protecting Access to 
Medicare Act of 2014, or PAMA, made extensive revisions to the Medicare CLFS coding, rate setting processes, and laboratory 
payment reporting for CDLTs, and created a new subcategory of CDLTs called Advanced Diagnostic Laboratory Tests, or 
ADLTs, with separate reporting and payment requirements.

In 2016, CMS issued the final rule to implement the requirements of PAMA, which significantly revised the Medicare 
payment system for CDLTs. The final rule was implemented on January 1, 2018, for the private payer rate-based fee schedule 
required by PAMA. Under the final rule, for CDLTs furnished on or after January 1, 2018, the amount Medicare pays is equal 
to the weighted median of private payer rates for the CDLTs, reported triennially for CDLTs, and annually for ADLTs. 
Congress has extended the first payment cycle under PAMA by an additional three years for CDLTs, moving the next data 
reporting period under PAMA from 2020 to 2023 for final private payer payments made between January 1 and June 30, 2019, 
extending the applicability of the payment rates that took effect in 2018 through December 31, 2023. 

We submit claims to payers directly using unique American Medical Association Current Procedural Terminology, or 
CPT, codes when they exist for our products and services and use either miscellaneous or common CPT codes for non-
proprietary testing services or when unique codes do not exist. Third-party payers, including Medicare, have specific and often 
complex billing rules, failure to abide by which may result in denials, audits, and/or refund requests. We work with commercial 
payers to establish medical coverage policies for our tests and services, negotiate network status and contracted rates. Payment 
from third-party payers differs depending on whether we have entered into a contract with the payers as a “contracted provider” 
or do not have a contract and are considered a “non-contracted provider.” Payers will often reimburse non-contracted providers, 
if at all, at a lower rate than contracted providers.  

When we contract to serve as a contracted provider, reimbursements are made pursuant to a negotiated fee schedule and 
are limited to only covered indications. Becoming a contracted provider generally results in higher reimbursement for covered 
indications and lack of reimbursement for non-covered indications. As a result, the impact of becoming a contracted provider 
with a specific payer will vary.

In some cases, third party payers may request audits of the amounts paid to us. This may require us to repay certain 
amounts to payers as a result of such audits.

Factors that impact reimbursement:

• Variability in medical policies indicating coverage for our products and services
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• Network status and claims adjudication as in-network or out of network and corresponding patient co-pay/coinsurance 
responsibilities

• Patient financial assistance programs
• Changes to AMA-CPT coding rules and edits
• Medicare clinical laboratory and physician fee schedules
• Government sequestration 
• Medicaid fee schedules
• Contracted rates for our diagnostics
• Utilization management or prior authorization processes and steps put in place by commercial payers ensuring medical 

necessity of services ordered for patients
• Billing errors
• Claims disputes
For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, revenue was represented by the indicated percent 

for each payer: 

Medicare accounted for 30%, 24% and 26% of our revenue.  Medicaid accounted for 2%, 2%, and 2% of our revenue. 
Private commercial payers accounted for 54%, 61%, and 61% of our revenue. 

Outside the United States 

Outside of the United States, we bill hospital and laboratory customers directly for test kits they order, which currently 
consist of Prosigna test kits. Our customers subsequently bill third-party payers for reimbursement. Prosigna test marketing has 
initially targeted private and cash-pay markets in Europe. We will continue to drive reimbursement efforts in Europe and other 
global markets through the development of clinical and other evidence to support Prosigna’s inclusion in guidelines and 
coverage programs. The test is currently reimbursed in Germany, Spain, Sweden, Denmark, Switzerland, the United Kingdom 
and Israel.

Competition

Increasing acceptance and knowledge of the importance of earlier screening and diagnostic testing linked with improved 
patient outcomes and therapy selection is leading to more companies developing genomic testing services and technologies. Our 
main competition from diagnostic companies or academic institutions are those that use next generation sequencing technology 
or other methods to measure genomic biomarkers in disease areas addressed by our tests. 

Primary competition in the broader test space comes from traditional methods used by physicians to diagnose and manage 
patient care decisions. Many of the traditional practices have been the standard of care in the United States for many years, and 
we need to continue to educate physicians about the benefits of Veracyte’s tests, which have the potential to change clinical 
practice and improve patient outcomes.

We also face competition from commercial laboratories, such as Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings and Sonic 
Healthcare USA, with strong infrastructure to support the commercialization of diagnostic services. In addition, competitors 
may develop their own versions of our solutions in countries we may seek to enter where we do not have patents or where our 
intellectual property rights are not recognized and compete with us in those countries, including encouraging the use of their 
solutions by physicians in other countries.

We believe key factors contributing to our success in the market include our scientific and technological excellence, 
evidence of clinical differentiation, strong KOL support and payer coverage policies for our tests. We believe our strength 
across these areas form a barrier to entry and a competitive advantage. However, our competitive landscape may change over 
the next few years as new competitors enter the market and we cannot assure we will continue to compete effectively. As we 
add new tests and services, we will face many of these same competitive risks for these new tests as well.

Patents and Proprietary Technology

In order to remain competitive, we must develop and maintain protection of the proprietary aspects of our technologies. 
To that end, we rely on a combination of patents, copyrights and trademarks, as well as contracts, such as confidentiality, 
invention assignment and licensing agreements. We also rely upon trade secret laws to protect unpatented know-how and 
continuing technological innovation. In addition, we have what we consider to be reasonable security measures in place to 
maintain confidentiality. Our intellectual property strategy is intended to develop and maintain our competitive position.

We apply for and in-license patents covering our products and technologies and uses thereof, as we deem appropriate, 
however we may fail to apply for patents on important products and technologies in a timely fashion or at all, or we may fail to 
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apply for patents in potentially relevant jurisdictions. Certain of our issued patents expire between 2021 and 2038 and are 
related to methods used in the Afirma thyroid diagnostic platform, Decipher urologic cancers diagnostics, lung diagnostics, 
breast cancer diagnostics, and the nCounter Analysis System, as well as Immunoscore immuno-oncology diagnostics.

We intend to file additional patent applications in the United States and abroad to strengthen our intellectual property 
rights; however, our patent applications (including the patent applications listed above) may not result in issued patents in a 
timely fashion or at all, and we cannot assure investors that any patents that have issued or might issue will protect our 
technology. We may receive notices of claims of potential infringement from third parties in the future.

We hold registered trademarks in the United States for "Veracyte," "Afirma," "Percepta," "Envisia," "Prosigna," 
“HalioDx,” “Decipher,” “Decipher GRID,” Immunoscore,” TMExplore,” “Brightplex,” “Immunosign,” "Know By Design," the 
Afirma logo, and the current and former Veracyte logos, and we have common law rights and pending trademark applications 
for "LymphMark" and “More About You.” We also hold registered trademarks in various jurisdictions outside of the United 
States.

We require all employees and technical consultants working for us to execute confidentiality agreements, which provide 
that all confidential information received by them during the course of the employment, consulting or business relationship be 
kept confidential, except in specified circumstances. Our agreements with our research employees provide that all inventions, 
discoveries and other types of intellectual property, whether or not patentable or copyrightable, conceived by the individual 
while he or she is employed by us are assigned to us. We cannot provide any assurance, however, that employees and 
consultants will abide by the confidentiality or assignment terms of these agreements. Despite measures taken to protect our 
intellectual property, unauthorized parties might copy aspects of our technology or obtain and use information that we regard as 
proprietary.

Environmental Matters

Our operations require the use of hazardous materials (including biological materials) which subject us to a variety of 
federal, state and local environmental and safety laws and regulations. Some of these regulations provide for strict liability, 
holding a party potentially liable without regard to fault or negligence. We could be held liable for damages and fines as a result 
of our, or others’, business operations should contamination of the environment or individual exposure to hazardous substances 
occur. We cannot predict how changes in laws or new regulations will affect our business operations, or the cost of compliance. 
Historically, the cost of compliance for these safety laws and regulations related to the protection of the environment has not 
materially impacted our operations. There were no material capital expenditures related to environmental compliance in the 
year ended December 31, 2021. Similarly, we do not anticipate any significant expenditures for the year ended December 31, 
2022.

Raw Materials and Suppliers

We procure reagents, equipment, and other materials that we use to perform our tests from sole suppliers. We also 
purchase components used in our collection kits from sole-source suppliers. Some of these items are unique to these suppliers 
and vendors. In addition, we utilize a sole source to assemble and distribute our sample collection kits. While we have 
developed alternate sourcing strategies for these materials and vendors, we cannot be certain whether these strategies will be 
effective, or the alternative sources will be available when we need them. If these suppliers can no longer provide us with the 
materials we need to perform the tests and for our collection kits, if the materials do not meet our quality specifications or are 
otherwise unusable, if we cannot obtain acceptable substitute materials, if materials become unavailable due to COVID-19 
related increases in demand for the materials, or if we elect to change suppliers, an interruption in test processing could occur, 
we may not be able to deliver patient reports and we may incur higher one-time switching costs. Any such interruption may 
significantly affect our future revenue, cause us to incur higher costs, and harm our customer relationships and reputation. In 
addition, in order to mitigate these risks, we maintain inventories of these supplies at higher levels than would be the case if 
multiple sources of supply were available. If our test volume decreases or we switch suppliers, we may hold excess inventory 
with expiration dates that occur before use which would adversely affect our losses and cash flow position. As we introduce any 
new test, we may experience supply issues as we ramp test volume.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be party to lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. We are currently not a party to any 
material legal proceedings.
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Regulation

Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988, or CLIA

As a clinical reference laboratory, we are required to hold certain federal, state and local licenses, certifications and 
permits to conduct our business. We are subject to CLIA, a federal law that regulates clinical laboratories that test specimens 
derived from humans for the purpose of providing information for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of disease. Under 
CLIA, which is administered by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, we are required to hold a certificate 
applicable to the type of laboratory examinations and tests we perform and to comply with standards covering personnel 
qualifications, facilities administration, quality systems, inspections, and proficiency testing. We must maintain CLIA 
compliance and certification to sell our tests and be eligible to bill state and federal healthcare programs, as well as many 
private third-party payers.

Moreover, if one of our clinical reference laboratories is out of compliance with CLIA requirements, we may be subject to 
sanctions such as suspension, limitation or revocation of our CLIA certificate, as well as directed plan of correction, state on-
site monitoring, civil money penalties, civil injunctive suit or criminal penalties. If we were to be found out of compliance with 
CLIA requirements and subjected to sanctions, our business could be harmed.

We have historically held CLIA certifications to perform testing at our South San Francisco and San Diego, California; 
Richmond, Virginia; Austin, Texas; and Marseille, France laboratory locations. To renew our CLIA certificates, we are subject 
to survey and inspection every two years to assess compliance with program standards. Moreover, CLIA inspectors may 
conduct random inspections of our clinical reference laboratories. If we in the future fail to maintain CLIA certificates in our 
laboratory locations, we would be unable to bill for services provided by state and federal healthcare programs, as well as many 
private third-party payers, which may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

State Laboratory Licensing

California Laboratory Licensing

In addition to federal certification requirements of laboratories under CLIA, licensure is required and maintained for our 
South San Francisco and San Diego, California and Richmond, Virginia clinical reference laboratories under California law. 
Such laws establish standards for the day-to-day operation of a clinical reference laboratory, including the training and skills 
required of personnel and quality control. In addition, California laws mandate proficiency testing, which involves testing of 
specimens that have been specifically prepared for the laboratory.

If our clinical reference laboratories are out of compliance with California standards, the California Department of Public 
Health, or CDPH, may suspend, restrict or revoke our license to operate our clinical reference laboratories, assess substantial 
civil money penalties, or impose specific corrective action plans. Any such actions could materially affect our business. We 
maintain current licenses in good standing with CDPH. However, we cannot provide assurance that CDPH will at all times in 
the future find us to be in compliance with all such laws.

New York Laboratory Licensing

Our clinical reference laboratories are required to be licensed by New York, under New York laws and regulations before 
we receive specimens from New York. The New York laws and regulations establish standards for:

• quality management systems;
• qualifications, responsibilities, and training;
• facility design and resource management;
• pre-analytic, analytic (including validation and quality control), and post-analytic systems; and
• quality assessments and improvements.

New York law also mandates proficiency testing for laboratories licensed under New York law, regardless of whether 
such laboratories are located in New York. If a laboratory is out of compliance with New York statutory or regulatory 
standards, the New York State Department of Health, or NYSDOH, may suspend, limit, revoke or annul the laboratory's New 
York license, censure the holder of the license or assess civil money penalties. Statutory or regulatory noncompliance may 
result in a laboratory's operator being found guilty of a misdemeanor under New York law. NYSDOH also must approve 
laboratory developed tests before the test is offered in New York; approval has been received for the Afirma GSC, Envisia, 
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Percepta classifier, Decipher Prostate and Decipher Bladder tests, and is being sought for Immunoscore. Should we be found 
out of compliance with New York laboratory standards of practice, we could be subject to such sanctions, which could harm 
our business. We maintain a current license in good standing with NYSDOH for our South San Francisco and San Diego, 
California and Austin, Texas laboratories. We cannot provide assurance that the NYSDOH will at all times find us to be in 
compliance with applicable laws.

Other States' Laboratory Licensing

In addition to New York and California, other states require licensing of in-state and out-of-state laboratories under 
certain circumstances. For example, Pennsylvania, Maryland and Rhode Island require licenses to test specimens from patients 
in those states. We have obtained licenses from states where we believe we are required to be licensed and believe we are in 
compliance with applicable licensing laws.

From time to time, we may become aware of other states that require in-state or out-of-state laboratories to obtain 
licensure in order to accept specimens from, or conduct laboratory operations in, the state, and it is possible that other states will 
have such requirements in the future. If we identify any other state with such requirements or if we are contacted by any other 
state advising us of such requirements, we intend to comply with such requirements.

United States Regulation of Laboratory Testing

Food and Drug Administration: In Vitro Diagnostics and Diagnostic Kits

IVDs and diagnostic kits, including collection systems that are sold and distributed in the United States, are regulated as 
medical devices by the FDA. Devices subject to FDA regulation must undergo premarket review prior to commercialization 
unless exempt from such review. In addition, manufacturers of medical devices must comply with various regulatory 
requirements under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDC Act, and implementing regulations promulgated 
thereunder. Entities that fail to comply with FDA requirements may be subject to, among other things, issuance of inspectional 
observations on Form FDA-483, untitled or warning letters, recalls, import detentions, seizures, or injunctions, including orders 
to cease manufacturing, and can be liable for civil money penalties or criminal prosecution.

The FDC Act sets forth the classifications of medical devices into one of three categories based on the risks associated 
with the device and prescribes the levels of controls appropriate for each of the three classes to help ensure reasonable 
assurance of safety and effectiveness. Class I devices are considered to be low risk and are generally exempt from FDA 
premarket notification requirements. Class I devices are subject to general regulatory controls. When general controls are 
considered insufficient to provide reasonable assurance of safety and effectiveness, but there is sufficient information to 
establish special controls to provide such assurance, FDA will classify the device as a Class II device. Unless exempt, for Class 
II devices, the FDC Act requires the submission to FDA of a premarket notification, referred to as a “510(k),” which must 
provide data and information showing that the device is substantially equivalent to an already legally marketed device, referred 
to as a predicate device, with respect to the indications for use and the product’s technological characteristics. If the data and 
information are sufficient to show that the device is substantially equivalent to the predicate device, FDA issues a Substantially 
Equivalent letter clearing the device for marketing. 

If there is insufficient information to support classifying a device into Class I or Class II and the device is life-sustaining 
or life-supporting or is substantially important in preventing impairment of human health or presents a potential unreasonable 
risk of illness or injury, FDA places the device into Class III. Class III devices are considered the highest risk devices and 
generally require significant data and information, including testing data and data from nonclinical and clinical studies, to 
provide reasonable assurance of the device's safety and effectiveness. For Class III devices, FDA requires the submission and 
FDA approval of a premarket application, or PMA, before they can be marketed.

Certain devices are classified as Class III devices automatically, by operation of law, when the device does not have a 
predicate device or is found to not be substantially equivalent to a predicate device. If there is sufficient evidence to show that 
the device is a lower risk device, a manufacturer may ask FDA to reclassify the device into Class II or Class I by submitting a 
De Novo classification request. When FDA reclassifies a device through the De Novo process, other manufacturers of the same 
device type do not necessarily have to submit a De Novo request or a PMA in order to legally market the device. Instead, 
manufacturers can submit a 510(k), unless the device has been classified as 510(k)-exempt, to legally market their device, 
because the device that was the subject of the original De Novo request can serve as a predicate device for a substantial 
equivalence determination. If FDA does not issue an order granting the De Novo request for reclassification, the device will 
remain a Class III device and be subject to PMA requirements to obtain marketing authorization.  
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Establishments that manufacture or, in certain situations, distribute FDA-related medical devices, including 
manufacturers, repackagers and relabelers, specification developers, and initial importers, are required to register and list their 
devices with the FDA, including payment of annual user fees.

Devices that may be legally marketed are subject to numerous regulatory requirements. These include: good 
manufacturing practice for medical devices as set out in the Quality System Regulation, or QSR, labeling regulations, 
restrictions on promotion and advertising, the Medical Device Reporting regulation, or MDR (which requires manufacturers to 
report certain adverse events and product malfunctions to the FDA), and the Reports of Corrections and Removals regulation 
(which requires manufacturers to report certain field actions to the FDA). Certain corrections and market removals may also be 
subject to FDA’s recall regulation and procedures. 

The FDA has issued a regulation outlining specific requirements for "specimen transport and storage containers." 
"Specimen transport and storage containers" are medical devices "intended to contain biological specimens, body waste, or 
body exudate during storage and transport" so that the specimen can be destroyed or used effectively for diagnostic 
examination. A specimen transport and storage container is classified as a Class I exempt device, which means that the device is 
exempt from the 510(k) premarket notification requirement and, if not labeled or otherwise represented as sterile, the QSR, 
except for recordkeeping and complaint handling requirements. These 510(k) exempt devices are still subject to general 
controls, including MDR requirements, the reporting of corrections and removals, and establishment registration and product 
listing. 

In our FDA registration, we have listed the containers we provide for collection and transport of Afirma GEC or GSC and 
Percepta samples from a physician to our clinical reference laboratory as Class I devices in accordance with the classification of 
regulation for the specimen transport and storage container. We also plan to list our sample collection containers for Envisia 
samples with the FDA as Class I devices. If the FDA were to determine that our sample collection containers are not Class I 
devices, we may be required to file 510(k) premarket notifications and obtain FDA clearance to manufacture and market the 
containers, which could be time consuming and expensive.

The FDA enforces the requirements described above by various means, including inspection and market surveillance. If 
the FDA finds a violation, it can institute a wide variety of enforcement actions, ranging from an Untitled Letter or Warning 
Letter to more severe sanctions such as:

• fines, injunctions, and civil money penalties;
• recall or seizure of products;
• operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production; and
• criminal prosecution.

Federal Oversight of Laboratory Developed Tests and Research Use Only Products

Clinical laboratory tests like our proprietary genomic tests are regulated under CLIA, as administered by CMS, as well as 
by applicable state laws. Clinical laboratory tests that are developed and run within a single CLIA-certified laboratory are 
referred to as laboratory developed tests, or LDTs, by the FDA. Currently, the FDA believes these tests meet the definition of a 
device under the FDC Act and that it has the authority to regulate them; however, the FDA is continuing to exercise 
enforcement discretion for LDTs, meaning the FDA is not currently enforcing the device regulations that the FDA would apply 
to such tests, although the FDA may continue to enforce device regulations with respect to certain reagents, instruments, 
software or components provided by third parties and used to perform LDTs. We believe that the Afirma, Percepta and Envisia 
classifiers have been developed and are performed in a manner consistent with the FDA’s enforcement discretion policy. In 
October 2014, the FDA published a draft guidance document proposing a framework for the regulation of LDTs. In November 
2016, the FDA announced that it would not finalize guidance and would instead work with the new Administration, Congress 
and stakeholders on an updated framework. In January 2017, the FDA issued a discussion paper on LDTs in which it 
synthesized stakeholder feedback and outlined a substantially revised "possible approach" to the oversight of LDTs, which did 
not represent a formal position of the FDA, and is not enforceable. In a December 2018 statement, the FDA said that there is a 
need for “a unified approach to the regulation of in vitro clinical tests to protect patient safety, support innovation, and keep 
pace with the rapidly evolving technology that’s helping us find new treatments for disease,” and listed key principles of an 
approach it would support.

Some of the materials we use for our tests and that we may use for future tests are IVD products intended and labeled for 
research use only, or RUO, or investigational use only, or IUO. An RUO product cannot be used for any human clinical 
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purpose and must be labeled "For Research Use Only. Not for use in diagnostic procedures." RUOs are a separate regulatory 
category and include IVD devices that are in the laboratory research phase of development. They are therefore not subject to 
most FDA regulatory requirements, so long as they are properly labeled and used in accordance with such labeling. RUOs 
cannot be marketed with any claims, or in a manner indicating, that the device is safe, effective, or has diagnostic utility, or is 
intended for human clinical diagnostic or prognostic use. In November 2013, the FDA issued final guidance titled “Distribution 
of In Vitro Diagnostic Products Labeled for Research Use Only or Investigational Use Only” regarding the distribution, use, 
and labeling of IVD products labeled RUO or IUO. The FDA has advised that if evidence demonstrates that a product is 
inappropriately labeled for research or investigational use only, the device would be considered misbranded and adulterated 
within the meaning of the FDC Act. In the guidance, the FDA stated that the manufacturer’s objective intent for an RUO or 
IUO product’s intended use will be determined by examining the totality of circumstances, including advertising, instructions 
for clinical interpretation, presentations that describe clinical use, and specialized technical support, surrounding the distribution 
of the product in question.

We cannot predict the ultimate form or impact of any such RUO/IUO, LDT or other guidance and the potential effect on 
our solutions or materials used to perform our diagnostic services. While we qualify all materials used in our diagnostic services 
according to CLIA regulations, we cannot be certain that the FDA might not promulgate rules or issue guidance documents that 
could affect our ability to purchase materials necessary for the performance of our diagnostic services. Should any of the 
reagents obtained by us from vendors and used in conducting our diagnostic services be affected by future regulatory actions, 
our business could be adversely affected by those actions, including increasing the cost of service or delaying, limiting or 
prohibiting the purchase of reagents necessary to perform the service.

We cannot provide any assurance that FDA premarket review or other requirements will not be imposed in the future for 
our diagnostic services, whether through additional guidance or regulations issued by the FDA, new enforcement policies 
adopted by the FDA or new legislation enacted by Congress. Legislative proposals addressing oversight of LDTs were 
introduced in recent years, including the Verifying Accurate Leading-edge IVCT Development (VALID) Act of 2018 in 
December 2018, the most recent version of which was released in June 2021, and we expect that new legislative proposals will 
be introduced from time to time. It is possible that legislation could be enacted into law or regulations, or guidance could be 
issued by the FDA which may result in new or increased regulatory requirements for us to continue to offer our tests or to 
develop and introduce new tests.

If premarket review, clearance, or approval is required for the tests that we market as LDTs, our business could be 
negatively affected until such review is completed and clearance or approval to market is obtained, and the FDA could require 
that we stop selling our tests pending premarket clearance or approval. If our tests are allowed to remain on the market but there 
is uncertainty about the legal status of our services, if we are required by the FDA to label them investigational, or if the FDA 
limits the use and corresponding labeling claims, order levels may decline, and reimbursement may be adversely affected. The 
regulatory process may involve, among other things, successfully completing additional clinical studies and submitting to the 
FDA a premarket notification to obtain clearance or submitting a De Novo classification request or PMA to obtain approval to 
market the device. If clearance or approval is required by the FDA, there can be no assurance that our tests will be cleared or 
approved on a timely basis, if at all, nor can there be any assurance that approved labeling claims or labeling claims subject to 
cleared indications for use will be consistent with our current claims or adequate to support continued adoption of and 
reimbursement for our solutions. Ongoing compliance with FDA regulations would increase the cost of conducting our 
business, and subject us to heightened requirements of the FDA and penalties for failure to comply with these requirements. We 
may also decide voluntarily to pursue FDA premarket review of our tests to obtain marketing clearance or approval if we 
determine that doing so would be appropriate.

European Union Regulation of Laboratory Testing

Directive 98/79/EC

In the European Union, or EU, IVDs are currently regulated under EU-Directive 98/79/EC, or the IVDD, and 
corresponding national provisions.

The IVDD requires that IVDs meet certain essential requirements, which are set out in an annex of the IVDD.  To 
demonstrate compliance with the essential requirements, IVDs must undergo a conformity assessment procedure. As a general 
rule, demonstration of conformity of IVDs and their manufacturers with the essential requirements must be based, among other 
things, on the evaluation of clinical data supporting the safety and performance of the products during normal conditions of use.
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IVDs must bear the CE marking of conformity when they are placed on the market, unless a specific exemption applies. 
Compliance with the IVDD essential requirements is a prerequisite for a manufacturer to be able to affix a CE mark, which is a 
declaration by the manufacturer that the IVD meets all the appropriate requirements under the IVDD and corresponding 
national provisions, as applicable.

Under the IVDD, for most IVDs manufacturers can “self-declare” the conformity of their IVDs with the essential 
requirements of the IVDD. For some types of IVDs listed in Annex II of the IVDD, a conformity assessment procedure requires 
the intervention of a notified body. Notified regulatory bodies are independent organizations designated by Member States to 
assess the conformity with the essential requirements of medical devices, including IVDs when required, before a CE mark is 
affixed to the device and the device is placed on the market. The notified body would typically audit and examine the device’s 
technical file and the manufacturer’s quality system, though conformity with the relevant harmonized standards – which is ISO 
13485:2016 for Quality Management Systems – can be used to demonstrate compliance with these requirements. If satisfied 
that the IVD conforms to the relevant essential requirements, the notified body issues a certificate of conformity, which the 
manufacturer uses as a basis for its own declaration of conformity.

In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Device Regulations (2017/746)

The EU regulatory landscape concerning medical devices and IVDs is significantly changing. The IVDD is due to be 
replaced with the full implementation of the In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Device Regulations (2017/746), or IVDR, in the EU 
from 26 May 2022. This is, however, subject to relevant transitional periods.

The main aims of the IVDR are to standardize diagnostic procedures throughout the EU, increase reliability of diagnostic 
analysis and enhance patient safety. As such, IVDs will be subject to additional regulatory scrutiny once the IVDR has come 
into force fully.  

The IVDR introduces a rule-based classification system, whereby IVDs must be classified into one of four classes: A, B, 
C or D. Class A is the lowest risk, and Class D is the highest. These take into account the intended purpose of the IVD and its 
inherent risks. The IVDR also introduces new requirements for conformity assessments. In particular, substantially more IVDs 
will require the involvement of a notified body to be able to affix a CE mark to the IVD. In addition, under the IVDR there will 
be a greater emphasis on post-market surveillance and submission of post-market performance follow-up reports.

Many LDTs, or in-house tests, are not currently regulated by the IVDD. However, the IVDR sets out a number of 
provisions that apply to such tests, and requirements that must be met in order to be able to place the test on the market in the 
EU without obtaining a CE mark. The IVDR also introduces a new classification system for companion diagnostics which are 
now specifically defined. Companion diagnostics will have to undergo a conformity assessment by a notified body. Before it 
can issue a certificate of conformity, the notified body will have to seek a scientific opinion from the European Medicines 
Agency or the relevant national competent authority on the suitability of the companion diagnostic to the medicinal product 
concerned.

IVDs with existing valid notified body-issued CE certificates may currently continue to place those devices on the market 
(if unchanged) until 27 May 2024 or until their certificate expires, whichever occurs first. However, it is estimated that 80-90% 
of IVDs will not qualify for this grace period because they are self-certified under the IVDD but will require the involvement of 
a notified body to obtain a CE mark and demonstrate compliance with the IVDR. Due to the lack of capacity on the part of EU 
notified regulatory bodies to deal with the volume of IVDs requiring their input, the EU institutions are currently finalizing 
amendments to the transitional provisions applicable to certain products. This will mean that where such transitional provisions 
apply, IVDs can continue to be placed on the market under the IVDD for a certain period of time. The applicable amended 
transitional periods will be based on the risk class of the IVD, with higher risk IVDs needing to be fully compliant with the 
IVDR in a shorter time period than lower risk IVDs.

United Kingdom, or UK, Regulation of Laboratory Testing

Following the UK’s departure from the EU, the IVDR will not be implemented in Great Britain (England, Scotland and 
Wales). The previous UK legislation that implemented the IVDD, the Medical Devices Regulations 2002 (SI 2002 No 618, as 
amended), or the 2002 Regulations, remains applicable. As such, the regulatory regime for IVDs in Great Britain will continue 
to be based on the requirements derived from the IVDD, though the UK is currently conducting a consultation on the medical 
device and IVD regime, including whether to align with the IVDR going forward.
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Since January 1, 2021, new regulations require medical devices and IVDs to be registered with the Medicines and 
Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, or MHRA, before being placed on Great Britain market (but manufacturers were given 
a grace period of four to 12 months to comply with the new registration process). The MHRA will only register devices where 
the manufacturer or their UK Responsible Person has a registered place of business in the UK. As such, manufacturers based 
outside the UK will need to appoint a UK Responsible Person that has a registered place of business in the UK to register 
devices with the MHRA in line with the grace periods. 

In addition, a new route to market and accompanying mark, the UKCA, has been introduced to enable manufacturers to 
place medical devices and IVDs on the market in Great Britain. The requirements for this route to market are based on the 
requirements derived from EU law as currently implemented in the UK. CE marks and certificates issued by EU-designated 
notified regulatory bodies will continue to be valid for the Great Britain market until June 30, 2023. For medical devices, 
including IVDs, placed on the market in Great Britain after this period, the UKCA marking will be mandatory. In contrast, 
UKCA marking and certificates issued by UK notified regulatory bodies are not recognized on the EU market.

The position in Northern Ireland is different to Great Britain. The rules for placing medical devices and IVDs on the 
Northern Ireland market align with the rules in the EU and, as such, the IVDR will apply in Northern Ireland and will take 
effect in accordance with EU timeframes and transitional periods.  Therefore, devices marketed in Northern Ireland will require 
assessment according to the EU regulatory regime. Such assessment may be conducted by an EU notified body, in which case a 
CE mark will be required before placing the device on the market in the EU or Northern Ireland. Alternatively, if a UK notified 
body conducts such assessment, a “UKNI” mark will be applied, and the device may only be placed on the market in Northern 
Ireland and not the EU.

Privacy and Fraud and Abuse Compliance

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act and State Data Privacy Laws

Under the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, the U.S. Department of Health 
and Human Services, or HHS, has issued regulations to protect the privacy and security of protected health information used or 
disclosed by health care providers, such as us. HIPAA also regulates standardization of data content, codes and formats used in 
health care transactions and standardization of identifiers for health plans and providers. In 2009, Congress amended HIPAA 
through the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH. The implementing regulations 
of HIPAA, as amended by HITECH, were last modified in 2013 and resulted in significant changes to the privacy, security, 
breach notification, and enforcement requirements with which we must comply. Among these changes, covered entities are now 
vicariously liable for violations of HIPAA resulting from acts or omissions of their business associates where the business 
associate is an agent of the covered entity and was acting within the scope of its agency, regardless of whether the covered 
entity and business associate entered into a business associate agreement in compliance with HIPAA.  Penalties for violations of 
HIPAA regulations include civil and criminal penalties.

We have developed and implemented policies and procedures designed to comply with HIPAA’s privacy, security, and 
breach notification requirements. We may not use or disclose protected health information in any form, including electronic, 
written, or oral, in a manner that is not permitted under HIPAA, and we are required to implement security measures to ensure 
the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the electronic protected health information that we create, receive, maintain, or 
transmit. While we have some flexibility in determining which security safeguards are reasonable and appropriate to implement 
for our operations, it nonetheless requires significant effort and expense to ensure continuing compliance with the HIPAA 
security rule. We are also required to comply with the administrative simplification standards under HIPAA when we conduct 
the electronic transactions regulated by HIPAA, including by using standard code sets and formats and standardized identifiers 
for health plans and providers. The requirements under HIPAA and its implementing regulations may change periodically and 
could have an effect on our business operations if compliance becomes substantially costlier than under current requirements.

In addition to federal privacy regulations, there are a number of state laws governing confidentiality of health information 
that are applicable to our business. In particular, we are subject to the California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act, 
which is similar to but in some ways more restrictive than the HIPAA regulations, and the California Consumer Privacy Act, or 
CCPA, which was enacted in California in 2018 and substantially amended thereafter, most significantly by a ballot initiative 
adopted in November 2020. The CCPA, among other things, requires covered companies to provide disclosures to California 
consumers concerning the collection and sale of personal information, and gives such consumers the right to opt-out of certain 
sales of personal information. The amendments to the CCPA that were adopted by ballot initiative include provisions creating a 
new category of “sensitive personal information” that is subject to more stringent protections than other personal information, 
and new requirements regarding sharing personal information for advertising purposes. In addition, the amendments established 
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a new California Privacy Protection Agency, which has authority both to implement and enforce the CCPA. The new agency is 
currently drafting implementing regulations and is anticipated to be vigorous in its enforcement actions. At the same time, other 
states, including Colorado and Virginia, have enacted CCPA-like laws, and other states are expected to follow suit. Monitoring 
the development, enactment and implementation of these laws and regulations issued pursuant to them adds to our compliance 
costs and we face penalties if we fail to adopt comprehensive compliance measures, including documenting the steps we have 
taken to comply.

EU and UK Data Protection Regime

The processing of personal data, including patients’ personal health data, in the European Economic Area, or EEA, and 
the UK is governed by the General Data Protection Regulation, or the GDPR. The GDPR applies to any company established in 
the EEA and to companies established outside the EEA that process personal data in connection with the offering of goods or 
services to data subjects in the EEA or the monitoring of the behavior of data subjects in the EEA. The GDPR enhances data 
protection obligations for data controllers of personal data, including inter alia stringent requirements relating to lawful and 
legitimate basis and purposes for the processing of personal data, the consent of data subjects, expanded disclosures about how 
personal data is used, requirements to conduct privacy impact assessments for “high risk” processing, limitations on retention of 
personal data, appointment of data protection officers, conclusion of data processing agreements, mandatory data breach 
notification and “privacy by design” requirements, and creates direct obligations on service providers acting as data processors. 

The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data outside of the EEA to countries that do not ensure an 
adequate level of protection, like the United States. Until recently, one such data transfer mechanism was the EU-US Privacy 
Shield, but the Privacy Shield was invalidated for international transfers of personal data in July 2020 by the Court of Justice of 
the European Union, or CJEU. The CJEU upheld the validity of standard contractual clauses, or SCCs, as a legal mechanism to 
transfer personal data but companies relying on SCCs will, subject to additional guidance from regulators in the EEA, need to 
evaluate and implement supplementary measures that provide privacy protections additional to those provided under SCCs. It 
remains to be seen whether SCCs will remain available and whether additional means for lawful data transfers will become 
available. 

Failure to comply with the requirements of the GDPR and the related national data protection laws of the EEA Member 
States may result in fines up to €20 million or 4% of a company’s global annual revenues for the preceding financial year, 
whichever is higher. Moreover, the GDPR grants data subjects the right to claim material and non-material damages resulting 
from infringement of the GDPR. In June 2021, the CJEU issued a ruling that expanded the scope of the “one stop shop” under 
the GDPR. According to the ruling, the competent authorities of EU Member States may, under certain strict conditions, bring 
claims to their national courts against a company for breaches of the GDPR, including unlawful cross-border processing 
activities, even such company does not have an establishment in the EU member state in question and the competent authority 
bringing the claim is not the lead supervisory authority.

In addition, further to the UK’s exit from the EU on January 31, 2020, the GDPR ceased to apply in the UK at the end of 
the transition period on December 31, 2020. However, as of January 1, 2021, the UK’s European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 
incorporated the GDPR (as it existed on December 31, 2020, but subject to certain UK-specific amendments) into UK law, 
referred to as the UK GDPR. The UK GDPR and the UK Data Protection Act 2018 set out the UK’s data protection regime, 
which is independent from but aligned to the EU’s data protection regime. Non-compliance with the UK GDPR may result in 
monetary penalties of up to £17.5 million or 4% of worldwide revenue, whichever is higher. With respect to transfers of 
personal data from the EEA to the UK, on June 28, 2021, the European Commission issued an adequacy decision in respect of 
the UK’s data protection framework, enabling data transfers from EU member states to the UK to continue without requiring 
organizations to put in place contractual or other measures in order to lawfully transfer personal data between the territories. 
While it is intended to last for at least four years, the European Commission may unilaterally revoke the adequacy decision at 
any point, and, if this occurs, it could lead to additional costs and increase our overall risk exposure.

Other Privacy Laws

New laws governing privacy may be adopted in the future from time to time. We have taken steps to comply with health 
information privacy requirements to which we are aware that we are subject. For example, the Personal Information Protection 
Law, or PIPL, recently implemented in China, which broadly regulates the processing of personal information and imposes 
compliance obligations and penalties comparable to those of the GDPR.  However, we can provide no assurance that we are or 
will remain in compliance with diverse privacy requirements in all of the jurisdictions in which we do business. Failure to 
comply with privacy requirements could result in civil or criminal penalties, which could have a materially adverse effect on 
our business.
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Corporate Practice of Medicine

Numerous states, including California and Texas, have enacted laws prohibiting corporations such as us from practicing 
medicine and employing or engaging physicians to practice medicine. These laws are designed to prevent interference in the 
medical decision-making process by anyone who is not a licensed physician. This prohibition is generally referred to as the 
prohibition against the corporate practice of medicine. Violation of this prohibition may result in civil or criminal fines, as well 
as sanctions imposed against us or the professional through licensing proceedings. The pathologists who review and classify 
thyroid FNA cytopathology results for Afirma are employed by TCP, a Texas professional association, pursuant to services 
agreement between us and TCP. Pursuant to the agreement, we pay TCP a monthly fee on a per FNA basis, and TCP manages 
and supervises the pathologists who perform the cytopathology services as a component of the Afirma solution.

Federal and State Physician Self-Referral Prohibitions

We are subject to the federal physician self-referral prohibitions, commonly known as the Stark Law, and to similar 
restrictions under the self-referral prohibitions of certain states in which we operate, including California's Physician Ownership 
and Referral Act, or PORA. Together these restrictions generally prohibit us from billing a patient or any governmental or 
private payer for any diagnostic services when the physician ordering the service, or any member of such physician's immediate 
family, has an investment interest in or compensation arrangement with us, unless the arrangement meets an exception to the 
prohibition.

Both the Stark Law and PORA contain an exception for compensation paid to a physician for personal services rendered 
by the physician meeting certain contractual requirements. We have compensation arrangements with a number of physicians 
for personal services, such as speaking engagements and consulting activities. We have structured these arrangements with 
terms intended to comply with the requirements of the personal services exception to Stark and PORA.

However, we cannot be certain that regulators would find these arrangements to be in compliance with Stark, PORA or 
similar state laws. We would be required to refund any payments we receive pursuant to a referral prohibited by these laws to 
the patient, the payer or the Medicare program, as applicable.

Sanctions for a violation of the Stark Law include the following:

• denial of payment for the services provided in violation of the prohibition;
• refunds of amounts collected by an entity in violation of the Stark Law;
• a civil penalty of up to $15,000 for each service arising out of the prohibited referral;
• possible exclusion from federal healthcare programs, including Medicare and Medicaid; and
• a civil penalty of up to $100,000 against parties that enter into a scheme to circumvent the Stark Law's prohibition.

These prohibitions apply regardless of the reasons for the financial relationship and the referral. No finding of intent to 
violate the Stark Law is required for a violation. In addition, knowing violations of the Stark Law may also serve as the basis 
for liability under the Federal False Claims Act which prohibits knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false, 
fictitious, or fraudulent claim for payment to the U.S. Government.

Further, a violation of PORA is a misdemeanor and could result in civil penalties and criminal fines. Finally, other states 
have self-referral restrictions with which we have to comply that differ from those imposed by federal and California law. 
While we have attempted to comply with the Stark Law, PORA and similar laws of other states, it is possible that some of our 
financial arrangements with physicians could be subject to regulatory scrutiny at some point in the future, and we cannot 
provide assurance that we will be found to be in compliance with these laws following any such regulatory review.

Federal and State Anti-Kickback Laws

The federal Anti-kickback Statute makes it a felony for any person or entity, including a laboratory, to knowingly and 
willfully offer, pay, solicit or receive remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an 
individual, or the furnishing, arranging for, or recommending of an item or service that is reimbursable, in whole or in part, by a 
federal health care program. A violation of the Anti-kickback Statute may result in imprisonment for up to ten years and 
criminal fines of up to $100,000. Convictions under the Anti-kickback Statute result in mandatory exclusion from federal health 
care programs for a minimum of five years. In addition, HHS has the authority to impose civil assessments and fines and to 
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exclude health care providers and others engaged in prohibited activities from Medicare, Medicaid and other federal health care 
programs. Actions which violate the Anti-kickback Statute can also lead to liability under the Federal False Claims Act, which 
prohibits, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim for payment to the 
U.S. Government.

Although the federal Anti-kickback Statute applies only to federal health care programs, a number of states, including 
California, have passed statutes substantially similar to the Anti-kickback Statute pursuant to which similar types of 
prohibitions are made applicable to all other health plans and third-party payers. California's fee-splitting and Anti-kickback 
Statute, Business and Professions Code Section 650, and its Medi-Cal Anti-kickback statute, Welfare and Institutions Code 
Section 14107.2, have been interpreted by the California Attorney General and California courts in substantially the same way 
as HHS and the courts have interpreted the federal Anti-kickback Statute. A violation of Section 650 is punishable by 
imprisonment and fines of up to $50,000. A violation of Section 14107.2 is punishable by imprisonment and fines of up to 
$10,000.

Federal and state law enforcement authorities scrutinize arrangements between health care providers and potential referral 
sources to ensure that the arrangements are not designed as a mechanism to induce patient care referrals or induce the purchase 
or prescribing of particular products or services. The law enforcement authorities, the courts and Congress have also 
demonstrated a willingness to look behind the formalities of a transaction to determine the underlying purpose of payments 
between health care providers and actual or potential referral sources. Generally, courts have taken a broad interpretation of the 
scope of the Anti-kickback Statute, holding that the statute may be violated if merely one purpose of a payment arrangement is 
to induce or reward referrals or purchases.

The federal Anti-kickback Statute includes statutory exceptions and provides for a number of regulatory safe harbors. If 
an arrangement meets the provisions of a safe harbor, it is deemed not to violate the Anti-kickback Statute. An arrangement 
must fully comply with each element of an applicable safe harbor in order to qualify for protection. Many state anti-kickback 
statutes have analogous exceptions or safe harbors to those of the federal Anti-kickback Statute. These state anti-kickback 
statutes have generally been interpreted consistently with the Anti-kickback Statute.

Among the safe harbors that may be relevant to us is the discount safe harbor. The discount safe harbor potentially applies 
to discounts provided by providers and suppliers, including laboratories, to physicians or institutions. If the terms of the 
discount safe harbor are met, the discounts will not be considered prohibited remuneration under the Anti-kickback Statute. 
California does not have a discount safe harbor. However, as noted above, Section 650 has generally been interpreted consistent 
with the Anti-kickback Statute.

The personal services safe harbor to the Anti-kickback Statute provides that remuneration paid for personal services will 
not violate the Anti-kickback Statute provided all of the elements of that safe harbor are met. Our personal services 
arrangements with some physicians and other parties may not meet each requirement of this safe harbor. Failure to meet the 
terms of this, or any other, safe harbor does not necessarily render an arrangement illegal. Rather, the government may evaluate 
such arrangements on a case-by-case basis under the language of the statute, taking into account all facts and circumstances.

While we believe that we are in compliance with the Anti-kickback Statute, Section 650, and Section 14107.2, there can 
be no assurance that our relationships with physicians, academic institutions and other customers or parties will not be subject 
to investigation or challenge under such laws. If imposed for any reason, sanctions under the Anti-kickback Statute, Section 
650, or Section 14107.2 could have a negative effect on our business.

Other Federal and State Fraud and Abuse Laws

In addition to the requirements discussed above, several other health care fraud and abuse laws could have an effect on 
our business. For example, provisions of the Social Security Act permit Medicare and Medicaid to exclude an entity that 
charges the federal health care programs substantially in excess of its usual charges for its services. The terms "usual charge" 
and "substantially in excess" are ambiguous and subject to varying interpretations, though the HHS’ Office of the Inspector 
General, or HHS-OIG, has provided some guidance on the topic.

Further, the federal False Claims Act prohibits a person from knowingly presenting or causing to be presented a false or 
fraudulent claim to, making a false record or statement in order to secure payment from or retaining an overpayment by the 
federal government. In addition to actions initiated by the government itself, the statute authorizes actions to be brought on 
behalf of the federal government by a private party, known as a relator or commonly referred to as a whistleblower, having 
knowledge of the alleged fraud. Because the complaint is initially filed under seal, the action may be pending for some time 
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before the defendant is even made aware of the action. If the government is ultimately successful in obtaining redress in the 
matter or if the relator succeeds in obtaining redress without the government's involvement, then the relator will receive a 
percentage of the recovery. Finally, the Social Security Act includes its own provisions that prohibit the filing of false claims or 
submitting false statements in order to obtain payment. Violation of these provisions may result in up to treble damages, 
substantial civil penalties, fines, imprisonment or combination of the above, and possible exclusion from Medicare or Medicaid 
programs. California has an analogous state false claims act applicable to all payers, as do many other states; however, we may 
not be aware of all such rules and statutes and cannot provide assurance that we will be in compliance with all such laws and 
regulations.

In general, in recent years U.S. Attorneys’ Offices have increased scrutiny of the healthcare industry, as have Congress, 
the Department of Justice, the HHS-OIG and the Department of Defense. These bodies have all issued subpoenas and other 
requests for information to conduct investigations of, and commenced civil and criminal litigation against, healthcare 
companies based on financial arrangements with health care providers, regulatory compliance, product promotional practices 
and documentation, and coding and billing practices. Whistleblowers have filed numerous qui tam lawsuits against healthcare 
companies under the federal and state False Claims Acts in recent years, in part because the whistleblower can receive a portion 
of the government’s recovery under such suits.

In addition, in October 2018, the Eliminating Kickbacks in Recovery Act of 2018, or EKRA, was enacted as part of the 
SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act (P.L 115-271). This law prohibits the solicitation, receipt, payment or offering of 
any remuneration in return for referring a patient or patronage to a recovery home, clinical treatment facility, or laboratory for 
services covered by both government and private payers. EKRA also applies to the payment or offering of remuneration in 
exchange for an individual using the services of a recovery home, clinical treatment facility, or laboratory. To date, neither the 
Department of Justice nor HHS has issued guidance further interpreting or implementing EKRA.

Finally, under the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014, or PAMA, laboratories are required to report to CMS the 
private payer payment rates and test volumes paid by private payers based on final payments made during a specific “data 
collection period.” This data reporting requirement is triennial for most clinical diagnostic laboratory tests (annual for ADLTs), 
with the first data reporting period occurring in 2017 for final payments made in January through June 2016. The next data 
reporting period will be in 2023 for final payments made in January through June 2019. When reporting data under PAMA, the 
President, CEO, or CFO of a reporting entity, or an individual who has been delegated authority to sign for, and who reports 
directly to, such an officer, must sign the certification statement and be responsible for assuring that the data provided are 
accurate, complete, and truthful, and meets all the required reporting parameters. Failure to report or misrepresentation or 
omission in reporting can result in civil penalties of up to $10,000 per day for each violation and other penalties. We believe we 
are in compliance with the PAMA reporting requirements, but there can be no assurance that our reporting practices will not be 
scrutinized under the PAMA regulations.

International

Many countries in which we may offer any of our tests in the future have anti-kickback regulations prohibiting providers 
from offering, paying, soliciting or receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly, in order to induce business that is 
reimbursable under any national health care program. The IVDD and IVDR prohibit the offer of inducements, particularly 
financial, that might influence the judgement of notified regulatory bodies and their personnel to carry out their conformity 
assessment activities. The IVDD and IVDR do not address the question of inducements offered to healthcare professionals or 
other third parties, though Member States may implement their own national laws in this regard. For example, Sapin II is the 
French anti-corruption law, which imposes regulations to prevent and detect bribery and corruption through increased corporate 
transparency, reinforced internal monitoring, and enhanced whistleblower protection. In the UK, the 2002 Regulations do not 
address the question of inducements offered to healthcare professionals to prescribe, sell, supply or recommend use of a 
particular medical device or IVD or to offer the relevant device company any other benefit. These activities are, however, 
prohibited by the Bribery Act 2010, which provides general offenses relating to bribery and receiving a bribe. 

In addition, the largest medical device manufacturer’s industry association, MedTech Europe, issues a Code of Business 
Practice, or the MedTech Code, which is obligatory for its member associations and member companies, and regulates their 
interactions with the medical community and other stakeholders. The MedTech Code prevents member companies from 
offering and providing educational grants to individual health care providers with certain exceptions and has phased out the 
provision of financial or in-kind support directly to individual health care providers to cover costs for their attendance at third-
party organized educational events (with the exception of procedure training). It also sets out transparency obligations with 
regard to all interactions with health care providers, in terms of notification to the health care provider’s superiors or relevant 
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health institutions before the interaction may take place, disclosure of payments (made as educational grants) and a centralized 
platform for the approval of conferences and other events.

In situations involving physicians employed by state-funded institutions or national health care agencies, violation of the 
local anti-kickback law may also constitute a violation of the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA. The FCPA 
prohibits any U.S. individual, business entity or employee of a U.S. business entity to offer or provide, directly or through a 
third party, including any potential distributors we may rely on in certain markets, anything of value to a foreign government 
official with corrupt intent to influence an award or continuation of business or to gain an unfair advantage, whether or not such 
conduct violates local laws. In addition, it is illegal for a company that reports to the SEC to have false or inaccurate books or 
records or to fail to maintain a system of internal accounting controls. We will also be required to maintain accurate information 
and control over sales and distributors' activities that may fall within the purview of the FCPA, its books and records provisions 
and its anti-bribery provisions.

The standard of intent and knowledge in FCPA anti-bribery cases is minimal -- intent and knowledge are usually inferred 
from that fact that bribery took place. The accounting provisions do not require intent. Violations of the FCPA's anti-bribery 
provisions for corporations and other business entities are subject to a fine of up to $2 million and officers, directors, 
stockholders, employees, and agents are subject to a fine of up to $250,000 and imprisonment for up to five years. Other 
countries, including other Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Anti-Bribery Convention members, have 
similar anti-corruption regulations.

When marketing our tests outside of the United States, we may be subject to foreign regulatory requirements governing 
human clinical testing, prohibitions on the import of tissue necessary for us to perform our tests or restrictions on the export of 
tissue imposed by countries outside of the United States or the import of tissue into the United States, and marketing approval. 
These requirements vary by jurisdiction, differ from those in the United States and may in some cases require us to perform 
additional pre-clinical or clinical testing. In many countries outside of the United States, coverage, pricing and reimbursement 
approvals are also required.

Teams and Culture

Our People. At December 31, 2021, we had 761 employees. None of our employees are the subject of collective 
bargaining arrangements, and our management considers its relationships with employees to be good.

Diversity, Inclusion, and Belonging. The Company believes in an inclusive workforce, where diverse backgrounds are 
represented, engaged and empowered to inspire innovative ideas and decisions. Women comprise 57% of our employees, 
including half of our executive leadership team and 40% at the Vice President level and above in the United States, as of 
December 31, 2021. In addition, three of our nine Board of Directors, including our Executive Chairwoman, are women as of 
December 31, 2021. Additionally, as of December 31, 2021, 46% of our U.S. employees are non-White. We strive to further 
advance diversity among our employees and believe that the resulting range of employee ideas, experiences and perspectives 
strengthens our company.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, we have taken important steps to protect the health and safety of our employees and the 
broader community.  These have included asking employees who were able to work from home to do so in order to protect 
employees who perform mission-critical work in our facilities; reconfiguring our workspaces and workshift scheduling to 
enable social distancing; requiring face masks to be worn inside our offices; and other initiatives.

At Veracyte, we pride ourselves on our strong culture, which encourages collaboration and mutual respect, among other 
qualities. We were named a Bay Area “Top Workplace” by the Bay Area News Group in 2021, marking the seventh 
consecutive year in which we received this Bay Area News Service award, which is based solely on employee surveys.

Corporate and Other information

We were incorporated in Delaware as Calderome, Inc. in August 2006. Calderome operated as an incubator until early 
2008. We changed our name to Veracyte, Inc. in March 2008.  Our principal executive offices are located at 6000 Shoreline 
Court, Suite 300, South San Francisco, California 94080, and our phone telephone number is (650) 243-6300.  We completed 
our initial public offering in October 2013, and our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol 
“VCYT.” 
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Our website address is www.veracyte.com. Through a link on the Investor Relations section of our website, we make 
available the following filings as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC): our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current 
Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Exchange Act. All such filings are available free of charge. The information posted on our website is not incorporated into this 
report. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding 
our filings at www.sec.gov.
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ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

Summary of Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully review the “Risk Factors” section 
before you invest in shares of our common stock. Listed below are some of the more significant risks relating to an investment 
in our common stock.

Risks Related to Our Business 

• We have a history of losses, and we expect to incur net losses for the foreseeable future and may never achieve or 
sustain profitability.

• Our financial results currently depend mainly on sales of our Afirma and Decipher Prostate tests, and we will need to 
generate sufficient revenue from these and our other diagnostic tests to grow our business.

• If we are unable to grow sales of our portfolio of tests including Prosigna, Percepta, Envisia, Decipher Bladder and 
Immunoscore, our business may suffer.

• We depend on a few payers for a significant portion of our revenue and if one or more significant payers stops 
providing reimbursement or decreases the amount of reimbursement for our tests, our revenue could decline.

• We have estimated the sizes of the markets for our current and future products and services, and these markets may be 
different than we estimate.

• If payers do not provide reimbursement, rescind or modify their reimbursement policies, delay payments for our tests, 
recoup past payments, or if we are unable to successfully negotiate additional reimbursement contracts, our 
commercial success could be compromised.

• We may experience limits on our revenue if physicians decide not to order our tests or if patients decide not to use our 
tests.

• If we fail to comply with federal, state and foreign licensing requirements, we could lose the ability to perform our 
tests or experience disruptions to our business. 

• If our general strategy of seeking growth through acquisitions and collaborations is not successful, or if we do not 
successfully integrate companies or assets that we acquire into our business, our prospects and financial condition will 
suffer.

• Our future success and international growth depends, in part, on our ability to adapt and manufacture select tests to be 
performed on the nCounter Analysis System. 

• If we are not successful in advancing our biopharma collaborations, or if our general strategy of seeking growth 
through such collaborations is not successful, our prospects and financial condition will suffer.

• COVID-19 has had an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
• We rely on sole suppliers for some of the reagents, equipment, and other materials used to perform our tests, and we 

may not be able to find replacements or transition to alternative suppliers.
• We depend on a specialized cytopathology practice to perform the cytopathology component of our Afirma test, and 

our ability to perform our diagnostic solution would be harmed if we were required to secure a replacement.
• Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly or may fall below the expectations of investors or securities 

analysts for various reasons, including in response to the way we recognize revenue, which may cause our stock price 
to fluctuate or decline.

• We may be unable to manage our future growth effectively, which could make it difficult to execute our business 
strategy.

• If we are unable to support demand for our commercial tests, our business could suffer.
• Changes in healthcare policy, including legislation reforming the U.S. healthcare system, may have a material adverse 

effect on our financial condition and operations.
• Because of Medicare billing rules, we may not receive reimbursement for all tests provided to Medicare patients.
• If the FDA or foreign authorities were to begin regulating those of our tests that are not currently regulated, we could 

incur substantial costs and delays associated with trying to obtain premarket clearance, approval or certification.
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• Obtaining marketing authorization or certification by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities or notified regulatory 
bodies for our diagnostic tests will take significant time and require significant research, development and clinical 
study expenditures and ultimately may not succeed.

• If we are unable to obtain marketing authorizations, approvals, clearances or certifications to market Prosigna in 
additional countries or if regulatory limitations are placed on our diagnostic kit products, our business and growth will 
be harmed.

• We are subject to ongoing and increasingly extensive regulatory requirements, which may be subject to change, and 
our failure to comply with these requirements could substantially harm our business.

• If we are unable to compete successfully, we may be unable to increase or sustain our revenue or achieve profitability.
• We have experienced significant changes in our senior management team, and the loss of one or more of our executive 

officers, or the inability to attract and retain highly-skilled employees or other key personnel could adversely affect our 
business.

• Billing for our diagnostic tests is complex, and we must dedicate substantial time and resources to the billing process 
to be paid.

• If our internal sales force is less successful than anticipated, our business expansion plans could suffer and our ability 
to generate revenues could be diminished. 

• Developing new products involves a lengthy and complex process, and if we do not achieve our projected 
development and commercialization goals in the time frames we announce and expect, our business will suffer and our 
stock price may decline.

• International expansion of our business exposes us to business, personnel, regulatory, political, operational, financial, 
and economic risks associated with doing business outside of the United States.

• Our operating results may be adversely affected by unfavorable economic and market conditions.
• Security breaches, loss of data and other disruptions to our or our third-party service providers' data systems could 

compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us from accessing critical information and expose 
us to liability, which could adversely affect our business and our reputation.

• If we are unable to protect our intellectual property effectively, our business would be harmed. 
• We may be involved in litigation related to intellectual property, which could be time-intensive and costly and may 

adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition.

Risks Related to our Recent Acquisitions

• The recently completed acquisitions of HalioDx and Decipher Biosciences each present risks and we must successfully 
integrate the HalioDx and Decipher Biosciences businesses to realize the financial goals that we currently anticipate.

Risks Related to Being a Public Company

• If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose 
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our reported financial information and the market price of our 
common stock may be negatively affected.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

• Our stock price may be volatile, and you may not be able to sell shares of our common stock at or above the price you 
paid.

Risks Related to Our Business 

We have a history of losses, and we expect to incur net losses for the foreseeable future and may never achieve or sustain 
profitability.

We have incurred net losses since our inception. For the year ended December 31, 2021, we had a net loss of 
$75.6 million and as of December 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $357.2 million. We expect to incur additional 
losses in the future, and we may never achieve revenue sufficient to offset our expenses. We expect to continue to devote 
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substantially all of our resources to increase adoption of and reimbursement for our molecular diagnostic portfolio of tests, and 
the development of additional tests. We may never achieve or sustain profitability, and our failure to achieve and sustain 
profitability in the future could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Our financial results currently depend mainly on sales of our Afirma and Decipher Prostate tests, and we will need to 
generate sufficient revenue from these and our other diagnostic tests to grow our business.

Most of our revenue to date has been derived from the sale of our Afirma tests, which are used in the diagnosis of thyroid 
cancer. Our second largest source of revenue in 2021 was our urological tests, which we began marketing and selling following 
our acquisition of Decipher Biosciences in March 2021. Over the next few years, we expect to continue to derive a substantial 
portion of our revenue from sales of our Afirma and Decipher tests. To date, we have derived a smaller portion of our revenue 
from our Prosigna, Percepta, Envisia, and Immunoscore tests. Once tests are clinically validated and commercially available for 
patient testing, we must continue to develop and publish evidence that our tests are informing clinical decisions in order for 
them to receive positive coverage decisions by payers. Without coverage policies, our tests may not be reimbursed and we will 
not be able to recognize revenue. We cannot guarantee that tests we commercialize will gain and maintain positive coverage 
decisions and therefore, we may never realize revenue from tests we commercialize. In addition, we are in various stages of 
research and development for other diagnostic tests that we may offer, but there can be no assurance that we will be able to 
identify other diseases that can be effectively addressed or, if we are able to identify such diseases, whether or when we will be 
able to successfully commercialize solutions for these diseases and obtain the evidence and coverage decisions from payers. If 
we are unable to increase sales and expand reimbursement for our Afirma, Decipher Prostate, Prosigna, Percepta, Envisia, 
Decipher Bladder, and Immunoscore tests, or develop and commercialize other tests, our revenue and our ability to achieve and 
sustain profitability would be impaired, and the market price of our common stock could decline.

If we are unable to grow sales of our portfolio of tests including Prosigna, Percepta, Envisia, Decipher Bladder, and 
Immunoscore, our business may suffer.

Although Prosigna, Percepta, Envisia, Decipher Bladder and Immunoscore have not contributed significant revenue to 
date, we expect them to grow and become an increasingly important component of our strategic focus, as well as our results of 
operations. We plan to introduce new tests going forward as well, including our nasal swab test for early lung cancer detection. 
There can be no assurance that physicians will request our new tests be performed in sufficient volumes for our revenue to meet 
our projections. Additionally, we anticipate expanding the reach of our tests to international markets through the distribution of 
the nCounter Analysis System; if our distribution of this platform is unsuccessful, or if our products are not widely adopted 
internationally, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected. 

We depend on a few payers for a significant portion of our revenue and if one or more significant payers stops providing 
reimbursement or decreases the amount of reimbursement for our tests, our revenue could decline.

Federal Medicare funding and state budgets are limited and have been placed under tremendous strain in recent years, 
which is likely to be further exacerbated as a result of reduced tax receipts and greater deficit spending as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Such budgetary pressures may force Medicare or state agencies to reduce payment rates or change 
coverage policies. If there is a decrease in Medicare or other payers’ payment rates for our tests, our revenue from Medicare and 
such payers will decrease and the payment rates for some of our commercial payers may also decrease if they tie their allowable 
rates to the Medicare rates. These changes could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Revenue for tests performed on patients covered by Medicare and UnitedHealthcare Group was 30% and 10%, 
respectively, of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared with 24% and 11%, respectively, for the year 
ended December 31, 2020. The percentage of our revenue derived from significant payers is expected to fluctuate from period 
to period as our revenue fluctuates, as additional payers provide reimbursement for our tests or if one or more payers were to 
stop reimbursing for our tests or change their reimbursed amounts. Effective January 2012, Palmetto GBA, the regional 
Medicare Administrative Contractor, or MAC, that handled claims processing for Medicare services over our jurisdiction at that 
time, issued coverage and payment determinations for our Afirma Classifiers now covered by Noridian Healthcare Solutions, 
the current MAC for our jurisdiction, through the Molecular Diagnostics Services Program, or MolDX program, administered 
by Palmetto GBA, under an LCD.
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On March 1, 2015, CPT code 81545 for the Afirma GEC was issued. On January 1, 2018, the Medicare Clinical 
Laboratory Fee Schedule payment rate for the Afirma classifier increased from $3,220 to $3,600. This rate is based on the 
volume-weighted median of private payer payment rates made between January 1 and June 30, 2016, which we reported to the 
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services in 2017 as required under the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014, or 
PAMA. In December 2019, through the Further Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2020, Congress delayed the next data 
reporting period from 2020 to 2021 for final payments made between January 1 and June 30, 2019, extending the applicability 
of the payment rates based on 2017 reporting by one year through December 31, 2021. As a result of the transition from Afirma 
GEC to Afirma GSC, a new CPT Category I code (81546) was established for the Afirma classifier, effective January 1, 2021. 
This code went through the national payment determination process for Medicare in 2020, through which CMS priced 81546 at 
the same rate of $3,600 as 81545.  Since the Afirma GSC code 81546 was newly issued in 2021 the first PAMA data collection 
period for 81546 under the current triennial data collection and reporting process would be January 2023 through June 2023.  
There is no guarantee that the Afirma GSC Medicare rate will not be negatively impacted starting in 2027 based on the reported 
weighted median of private commercial payers. 

New CPT Proprietary Laboratory Analyses, or PLA, codes were also established for Afirma Xpression Atlas (0204U) and 
Afirma MTC (0208U), effective October 1, 2020. CMS has priced 0204U at the same rate of $2,919.60 as CPT 81455. The new 
payment rate for 0204U became effective January 1, 2021. In 2020 CMS did not price 0208U, and instead assigned the code to 
the “gapfilling” process, under which the individual MACs will set the payment rate for the test in 2021 based on the following 
four factors: 1) charges for the test and routine discounts to charges; 2) resources required to perform the test; 3) payment 
amounts determined by other payers; and 4) charges, payment amounts, and resources required for other tests that may be 
comparable or otherwise relevant. In July 2021, Veracyte submitted an application to the CPT Editorial Panel to request 
deletion of 0208U in order to replace the code with a new CPT code, for Afirma MTC as a stand-alone test. On October 1, the 
CPT Editorial Panel deleted CPT code 0208U effective January 1, 2022, so the median of MAC gapfill rates will not take effect 
on January 1, 2022. 

Decipher Prostate Biopsy and Decipher Prostate RP are currently reimbursed by Medicare pursuant to LCDs issued by 
Palmetto GBA and adopted by Noridian Healthcare Solutions, each acting as a MAC, as well as by a number of commercial 
payers.  However, there are many commercial payers who currently do not provide reimbursement for our prostate genomic 
tests, or provide only limited reimbursement, and we have contracts for reimbursement with only a limited number of 
commercial payers for our prostate tests. Our Decipher Prostate tests were assigned a new American Medical Association 
Current Procedural Terminology code, or CPT code, 81542, for 2020. CPT code changes can result in a risk of an error being 
made in the claim adjudication process. Such errors can occur with claims submission, third-party transmission or in the 
processing of the claim by the payer. Claim adjudication errors may result in a delay in payment processing or a reduction in 
the amount of the payment we receive.

We submit claims to Medicare for Decipher Prostate Biopsy and Decipher Prostate RP using CPT code 81542. CMS 
assigned 81542 to the gapfilling process in 2020, and it has been priced effective January 1, 2021 at $3,873, based on CMS’ 
revision of the median of payment rates set by the MACs through the gapfilling process.  There can be no assurance that the 
Medicare payment rates for Decipher Prostate Biopsy and Decipher Prostate RP will not decrease during a future reporting 
cycle under PAMA.

An LCD was issued for Prosigna by Palmetto GBA in August 2015, which has been in effect since October 1, 2015. 
There can be no assurance that the Afirma or Prosigna rates will not decrease during subsequent reporting cycles under PAMA.

Noridian Healthcare Solutions issued an LCD for Percepta effective for services performed on or after May 2017. This 
coverage policy requires us to establish and maintain a Certification and Training Registry program and make Percepta 
available only to certain Medicare patients through physicians who participate in this program. Failure by us or physicians to 
comply with the requirements of the Certification and Training Registry program could lead to loss of Medicare coverage for 
Percepta, which could have an adverse effect on our revenue.

We submit claims to Medicare for Percepta using an unlisted code under the MolDX program and MolDX priced Percepta 
at $3,220.  There is no assurance that MolDX won’t reprice Percepta in the future and the rate could be lower than $3,220.

Noridian Healthcare Solutions provided Medicare coverage for the Envisia Genomic Classifier on April 11, 2019.
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We submit claims to Medicare for Envisia using CPT code 81554, which became effective January 1, 2021. We applied 
for New ADLT designation for Envisia, and the test was approved as a New ADLT on September 17, 2020. Effective October 
1, 2020 through June 30, 2021, the Medicare payment rate for Envisia was set at $5,500, the “actual list charge” for the test. 
Veracyte reported private payer rates for Envisia in March 2021, reflecting final payments between October 1, 2020 and 
February 28, 2021. The volume-weighted median of these reported rates, which was $5,500, set the payment rate for Envisia 
from July 1, 2021 through December 31, 2022, after which Envisia will be priced based on private payer rates collected and 
reported annually. There can be no assurance that the Medicare payment rate for Envisia will not be reduced when it is set 
based on the volume-weighted median of private payer rates when we are required to report private payer rates for Envisia 
under PAMA in subsequent reporting cycles.

Effective July 18, 2021, Decipher Bladder is reimbursed by Medicare pursuant to LCDs issued by three MACs and 
Decipher Bladder is covered by a fourth MAC, Noridian Healthcare Solutions, effective as of July 25, 2021.  We have not yet 
contracted with any commercial payers for reimbursement of Decipher Bladder.  Our Decipher Bladder test was assigned a new 
CPT code, 0016M, for 2020. 

We will submit claims to Medicare for Decipher Bladder using CPT code 0016M. CMS assigned 0016M to the gapfilling 
process in 2021. There is no assurance that the gapfilling process will not result in a lower-than-expected payment rate for 
0016M, or that the Medicare payment rate for Decipher Bladder will not decrease during a future reporting cycle under PAMA.

HalioDx’s Immunoscore test is currently not subject to a coverage policy from Medicare or any of the MACs.  HalioDx’s 
Immunoscore test has been assigned CPT code 0261U effective October 1, 2021. The Immunoscore code went through the 
national payment determination process, was crosswalked to CPT code 0108U and assigned a rate of $2,513.25 effective 
January 1, 2022. There is no assurance that the clinical laboratory fee schedule rate for Immunoscore will not decrease during a 
future reporting cycle under PAMA or that Medicare may require a coverage policy in the future.

Although we have entered into contracts with certain third-party payers that establish in-network allowable rates of 
reimbursement for many of our tests, payers may suspend or discontinue reimbursement at any time, may require or increase 
co-payments from patients, or may reduce the reimbursement rates paid to us. Reductions in private payer amounts could 
decrease the Medicare payment rates for our tests under PAMA. In addition, private payers have begun requiring prior 
authorization for molecular diagnostic tests. Potential reductions in reimbursement rates or increases in the difficulty of 
achieving payment could have a negative effect on our revenue.

We have estimated the sizes of the markets for our current and future products and services, and these markets may be 
different than we estimate.

Our estimates of the annual addressable markets for our current tests, products and services and those under development 
are based on a number of internal and third-party estimates, including, without limitation, the number of patients who have 
developed one or more of a broad range of cancers and certain diseases, the number of individuals who are at a higher risk for 
developing one or more of broad range of cancers and certain diseases, the number of individuals with certain diseases we or 
our collaborators are able to detect through our tests, products and services, the proportion of patients in each market whose 
needs can be addressed by our or our collaborators’ tests, products and services, the number of potential tests utilized per 
patient and the assumed prices at which we can sell our current and future tests, products and services for markets that have not 
been established. While we believe our assumptions and the data underlying our estimates are reasonable, these assumptions 
and estimates may not be as accurate as we initially intended and the conditions upon which our assumptions or estimates are 
based may change at any time. As a result, our estimates of the annual addressable market for our current or future tests, 
products and services may ultimately be incorrect. If the actual number of patients who would benefit from our tests, products 
or services, the price at which we can sell future tests, products and services or the annual addressable market for our tests, 
products or services is smaller than we have estimated, it may impair our sales growth and have an adverse impact on our 
business.
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If payers do not provide reimbursement, rescind or modify their reimbursement policies, delay payments for our tests, 
recoup past payments, or if we are unable to successfully negotiate additional reimbursement contracts, our commercial 
success could be compromised.

Physicians might not order our tests unless payers reimburse a substantial portion of the test price. There is significant 
uncertainty concerning third-party reimbursement of any test incorporating new technology, including our tests. 
Reimbursement by a payer may depend on a number of factors, including a payer’s determination that these tests are:

• not experimental or investigational;

• pre-authorized and appropriate for the specific patient;

• cost-effective;

• supported by peer-reviewed publications; and

• included in clinical practice guidelines.

Since each payer makes its own decision as to whether to establish a coverage policy or enter into a contract to reimburse 
our tests, seeking these approvals is a time-consuming and costly process.

We are an out-of-network provider with some commercial payers in the U.S. and thus, we do not have control over rates 
or terms of reimbursement. Without contracted rates for reimbursement, our claims are often denied upon submission, and we 
must appeal the claims. The appeals process is time consuming and expensive and may not result in payment. In cases where 
we are out-of-network, there is typically a greater patient cost-share responsibility which may result in further delays and/or 
decreased likelihood of collection. Payers may attempt to recoup prior payments after review, sometimes after significant time 
has passed, which would impact future revenue.

We expect to continue to focus substantial resources on increasing adoption, coverage and reimbursement for the Afirma, 
Decipher Prostate, Prosigna, Percepta, Envisia, Decipher Bladder, and Immunoscore and any other future tests we may develop. 
We believe it will take several years to achieve coverage and contracted reimbursement with a majority of third-party payers. 
We cannot predict whether, under what circumstances, or at what payment levels payers will reimburse for our tests. Also, 
payer consolidation is underway and creates uncertainty as to whether coverage and contracts with existing payers will remain 
in effect. Finally, if there is a decrease in the Medicare payment rates for our tests, the payment rates for some of our 
commercial payers may also decrease if they tie their allowable rates to the Medicare rates. Reductions in private payer 
amounts could decrease the Medicare payment rates for our tests under PAMA. Our failure to establish broad adoption of and 
reimbursement for our tests, or our inability to maintain existing reimbursement from payers, will negatively impact our ability 
to generate revenue and achieve profitability, as well as our future prospects and our business.

We may experience limits on our revenue if physicians decide not to order our tests.

If we are unable to create or maintain demand for our tests in sufficient volume, we may not become profitable. To 
generate demand, we will need to continue to educate physicians about the clinical utility and cost-effectiveness of our tests 
through published papers, presentations at scientific conferences, marketing campaigns and one-on-one education by our sales 
force. In addition, our ability to obtain and maintain adequate reimbursement from third-party payers will be critical to 
generating revenue. Moreover, many patients have been deferring elective procedures and medical visits as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, and we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, a significant reduction in patient demand 
or physician recommendations, which has and may continue to adversely affect our business.

The Afirma genomic classifier is included in most physician practice guidelines in the United States for the assessment of 
patients with thyroid nodules. However, historical practice recommended a full or partial thyroidectomy in cases where 
cytopathology results were indeterminate to confirm a diagnosis. 

The strength of the clinical data supporting the use of the Decipher Prostate Biopsy and Decipher Prostate RP tests have 
led to the tests’ inclusion in national guidelines. For example, in the 2020 NCCN Practice Guidelines for Prostate Cancer, the 
Decipher Prostate RP test is “recommended” for use to improve therapy decision making. It is the only test to achieve this 
designation for post-surgery patients with localized prostate cancer. Further, in September 2021, the 2022 NCCN guidelines 
were released and recommend specific treatment decisions for patients based on their Decipher Prostate RP score. 
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Although Decipher Prostate Biopsy and Decipher Prostate RP have been integrated into the NCCN guidelines, if we are 
unsuccessful in maintaining and increasing the level of recommendation of our genomic tests within these guidelines, are 
unable to cause any new genomic tests we develop to be included in these guidelines, or are unable to cause our genomic tests 
to be included in other influential guidelines, we may be at a disadvantage in gaining market acceptance and market share 
relative to our competitors.

Our lung products are not yet integrated into practice guidelines and physicians may be reluctant to order tests that are not 
recommended in these guidelines. The Prosigna test is included in practice guidelines in the United States and internationally 
but faces competition from other products globally.

Because our Afirma, Decipher Prostate Biopsy, Decipher Prostate RP, Percepta, Envisia, Decipher Bladder, and 
Immunoscore testing services are performed by our certified laboratories under the Clinical Laboratory Improvement 
Amendments of 1988, or CLIA, rather than by the local laboratory or pathology practice, pathologists may be reluctant to 
support our testing services as well. Guidelines that include our tests currently may subsequently be revised to recommend 
another testing protocol, and these changes may result in physicians deciding not to use our tests. Lack of guideline inclusion 
could limit the adoption of our tests and our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability. To the extent international 
markets have existing practices and standards of care that are different than those in the United States, we may face challenges 
with the adoption of our tests in international markets.

We may experience limits on our revenue if patients decide not to use our tests.

Some patients may decide not to use our tests because of price, all or part of which may be payable directly by the patient 
if the patient’s insurer denies reimbursement in full or in part. There is a growing trend among insurers to shift more of the cost 
of healthcare to patients in the form of higher co-payments or premiums, and this trend is accelerating which puts patients in the 
position of having to pay more for our tests. We expect to continue to see pressure from payers to limit the utilization of tests, 
generally, and we believe more payers are deploying costs containment tactics, such as pre-authorization and employing 
laboratory benefit managers to reduce utilization rates. Implementation of provisions of the Patient Protection and Affordable 
Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, collectively the ACA, has also 
resulted in increases in premiums and reductions in coverage for some patients. These events may result in patients delaying or 
forgoing medical checkups or treatment due to their inability to pay for our tests, which could have an adverse effect on our 
revenue. Many patients have been deferring elective procedures and medical visits as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and 
we have experienced, and may continue to experience, a significant reduction in patient demand, which has and may continue 
to adversely affect our business.

If we fail to comply with federal and state licensing requirements, we could lose the ability to perform our tests or 
experience disruptions to our business.

We are subject to CLIA, a federal law that regulates clinical laboratories that perform testing on specimens derived from 
humans for the purpose of providing information for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of disease. CLIA regulations 
mandate specific personnel qualifications, facilities administration, quality systems, inspections, and proficiency testing. CLIA 
certification is also required for us to be eligible to bill state and federal healthcare programs, as well as many private third-
party payers. To renew these certifications, we are subject to survey and inspection every two years. Moreover, CLIA 
inspectors may conduct random inspections of our clinical reference laboratories. If we fail to maintain CLIA certificates in our 
South San Francisco, California, San Diego, California, Austin, Texas, Marseille, France or Richmond, Virginia laboratory 
locations, we would be unable to bill for services provided by state and federal healthcare programs, as well as many private 
third-party payers, which may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are also required to maintain state licenses to conduct testing in our laboratories. California, New York, and Texas, 
among other states’ laws, require that we maintain a license and comply with state regulation as a clinical laboratory. Other 
states may have similar requirements or may adopt similar requirements in the future. In addition, all of our clinical laboratories 
are required to be licensed on a test-specific basis by New York. We have received approval for the Afirma, Decipher Prostate, 
Percepta, Envisia and Decipher Bladder tests, and will be seeking approval for the Immunoscore test. We will be required to 
obtain approval for other tests we may offer in the future. If we were to lose our CLIA certificate or California license for our 
South San Francisco, San Diego, or Richmond laboratories, whether as a result of revocation, suspension, limitation or 
otherwise, we would no longer be able to perform our molecular tests, which would eliminate our primary source of revenue 
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and harm our business. If we fail to meet the state licensing requirements for our Austin laboratory, whether as a result of 
revocation, suspension, limitation or otherwise, which could result in a delay in processing tests during that transition and 
increased costs. If we were to lose our CLIA certificate for our Marseille or Richmond laboratories, whether as a result of 
revocation, suspension, limitation or otherwise, we would no longer be able to perform our Immunoscore test. If we were to 
lose our licenses issued by New York or by other states where we are required to hold licenses, we would not be able to test 
specimens from those states. New tests we may develop may be subject to new approvals by regulatory bodies such as New 
York State, and we may not be able to offer our new tests until such approvals are received.

If our general strategy of seeking growth through acquisitions and collaborations is not successful, or if we do not 
successfully integrate companies or assets that we acquire into our business, our prospects and financial condition will 
suffer.

As an element of our growth strategy, we may pursue opportunities to license assets or purchase companies or assets that 
we believe would complement our current business or help us expand into new markets.  For example, we acquired the 
nCounter Analysis System and Prosigna test from NanoString, we also acquired Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx. We may 
pursue additional acquisitions of complementary businesses or assets as part of our business strategy. There can be no assurance 
that we will successfully integrate the assets acquired from such acquisitions into our existing business, in general, or that our 
exclusive worldwide license to the nCounter Analysis System for in vitro diagnostic use granted by NanoString will allow us to 
expand our international reach as anticipated. This and any future acquisitions made by us also could result in significant write-
offs or the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities, any of which could harm our operating results. Integration of acquired 
companies or businesses we may acquire in the future also may require management resources that otherwise would be 
available for ongoing development of our existing business. We may not identify or complete these transactions in a timely 
manner, on a cost-effective basis, or at all, and we may not realize the anticipated benefits of any acquisition, technology 
license, strategic alliance, joint venture or investment.

To finance any acquisitions or investments, we have previously issued and may choose in the future to issue shares of our 
stock as consideration, which would dilute the ownership of our stockholders. If the price of our common stock is low or 
volatile, we may not be able to acquire other companies for stock. Alternatively, it may be necessary for us to raise additional 
funds for these activities through public or private financings. Additional funds may not be available on terms that are favorable 
to us, or at all. If these funds are raised through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, dilution to our stockholders 
could result. Our Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank contains covenants that could limit our ability to sell 
debt securities or obtain additional debt financing arrangements, which could affect our ability to finance acquisitions or 
investments other than through the issuance of stock.

Our future success and international growth depends, in part, on our ability to adapt and manufacture select tests to be 
performed on the nCounter Analysis System. 

Our strategy to expand into international markets depends on our ability to successfully distribute the nCounter Analysis 
System, adapt our menu of diagnostic tests for the platform, and secure necessary regulatory approvals. Currently, the Prosigna 
breast cancer assay is the only commercially-available test on the platform. If we are not able to adapt our other current or 
future genetic tests to be performed on the nCounter Analysis System, or if the nCounter Analysis System fails to be 
competitive against other diagnostic tests, our prospects for growth could suffer. In addition, to the extent international markets 
have existing practices and standards of care that are different than those in the United States, we may face challenges with the 
adoption of the nCounter Analysis System in international markets.

If we are not successful in advancing our biopharma collaborations, our prospects and financial condition will suffer.

We have previously entered into technology licensing and collaboration arrangements, such as our collaborations with 
Johnson & Johnson in December 2018, with Acerta Pharma, the hematology research and development arm of AstraZeneca, in 
December 2019 and with CareDx in May 2020, as well as our investment in MAVIDx in July 2020, which reflect an important 
element of our business strategy. We also may pursue additional strategic alliances that leverage our core technology and 
industry experience to expand our offerings or distribution, or make investments in other companies. However, we have limited 
experience with respect to the formation of strategic alliances and joint ventures. There can be no assurance that we will 
successfully identify or complete these transactions in a timely manner, on a cost-effective basis, or at all, and we may not 
realize the anticipated benefits of any technology license, strategic alliance, joint venture or investment.
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COVID-19 has had an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

COVID-19 has caused significant volatility in financial markets and has raised the prospect of an extended global 
recession. Public health problems resulting from COVID-19 and precautionary measures instituted by governments and 
businesses to mitigate its spread, including travel restrictions and quarantines, have contributed to a general slowdown in the 
global economy, adversely impacted patients, physicians, customers, suppliers, third-party contract manufacturers, and 
collaboration partners, and disrupted our operations. The global COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve. Certain jurisdictions 
have begun re-opening only to return to restrictions due to increases in new COVID-19 cases and the emergence of new variant 
strains of COVID-19. Changes in our operations in response to COVID-19 or employee illnesses resulting from the pandemic 
may result in inefficiencies or delays, including in sales and product development efforts, timing to receive patient sample 
shipments and additional costs related to business continuity initiatives, that cannot be fully mitigated through succession 
planning, employees working remotely or teleconferencing technologies. To date, the FDA has approved several vaccines, 
certain of which are subject to an Emergency Use Authorization, or EUA, for certain uses. Although vaccines are increasingly 
available in the United States and Europe, and certain countries in South America, Asia and Oceania, there can be no guarantee 
that the vaccines will be effective against new strains of the virus or that the vaccines will be broadly accepted. Also there can 
be no guarantee that federal, state, local and foreign agencies will not continue to take other cautionary steps to combat the virus 
to reduce the incidence of new cases, which could negatively impact our volumes and revenue and limit our ability to reliably 
forecast our test volumes and levels of revenue.

COVID-19 and related governmental reactions have had and may continue to have a negative impact on our business, 
liquidity, results of operations, and stock price due to the occurrence of some or all of the following events or circumstances 
among others:

• We may not be able to manage our business effectively due to key employees becoming ill, working from home 
inefficiently and being unable to travel to our facilities.

• We and our customers, suppliers, third-party contract manufacturers, and collaboration partners may be prevented 
from operating worksites, including manufacturing facilities, due to employee illness, reluctance to appear at work or 
“stay-at-home” regulations.

• Interruptions in manufacturing (including the sourcing of reagents or supplies) and shipment of our products. We 
believe the rapid increase in daily testing volumes is consuming reagents and supplies otherwise available to genomic 
testing companies like ours across the United States.  When not limited by the expiration date of products and when we 
feel it reasonable and feasible to do so, we are taking steps to increase our level of supplies and inventory reserves, to 
develop alternative sources of supply and to implement procedures to mitigate the impact on our supply chain or our 
ability to process samples in our laboratories.  Though we are in regular contact with our key suppliers, we do not 
have, nor expect to have, the necessary insight into our vendors’ supply chain issues that we may need to know to 
effectively mitigate the impact to our business. Though we attempt to mitigate the impact to our business, these 
interruptions in manufacturing (including the sourcing of reagents or supplies) may negatively impact our test volumes 
or levels of revenue.

• Reduced patient demand for, or provider capacity to deliver, diagnostic testing and elective procedures generally 
(which may impact our ability to deliver to our revenue estimates).

• Disruptions of the operations of our third-party contract manufacturers and suppliers, which could impact our ability to 
purchase components at efficient prices and in sufficient amounts.

• We may need to raise capital, and if we raise capital by issuing equity securities, our common stock may be diluted.

• The market price of our common stock may drop or remain volatile.

• Inability of healthcare providers to deliver anticipated testing volumes due to temporary or permanent staff attrition as 
a result of vaccine mandates.

• We may incur significant employee health care costs under our insurance programs.
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The extent of the impact of COVID-19 on our business and financial results will depend largely on future developments, 
including the deployment, efficacy, availability and utilization of vaccines, the emergence of new variant strains of COVID-19, 
the impact on capital and financial markets and the related impact on the financial circumstances of patients, physicians, 
suppliers, third-party contract manufacturers, and collaboration partners, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be 
predicted. This situation is changing rapidly, and additional impacts may arise that we are not aware of at this time.

We rely on sole suppliers for some of the reagents, equipment and other materials used to perform our tests, and we may 
not be able to find replacements or transition to alternative suppliers.

We rely on sole suppliers for critical supply of reagents, equipment and other materials and services that we use to 
perform our tests and for the manufacture of the nCounter Analysis System for diagnostic use and Prosigna test kits sold to 
customers. We also purchase components used in our sample collection testing kits from sole-source suppliers. Some of these 
items are unique to these suppliers and vendors. In addition, we utilize a sole source to assemble and distribute our sample 
collection kits. 

We rely on NanoString for the supply of the nCounter Analysis System for diagnostic use and Prosigna test kits. As part 
of the HalioDx Acquisition we intend to migrate manufacture of the test kits for the nCounter from NanoString to HalioDx. 

While we have developed alternate sourcing strategies for these materials and vendors, we cannot be certain whether these 
strategies will be effective or the alternative sources will be available when we need them. Moreover, the supply of key reagents 
and testing materials has been severely challenged by the COVID-19 pandemic. Periodically, as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic and other challenges to global supply chains, we experienced supply chain disruptions in the supply of plastic 
materials used in the processing of samples, although this has not resulted in delays in our ability to timely return test results. If 
suppliers can no longer provide us with the materials we need to perform the tests and for our sample collection kits, if the 
materials do not meet our quality specifications or are otherwise unusable, if we cannot obtain acceptable substitute materials, 
or if we elect to change suppliers, an interruption in test processing or system and test kit deliveries could occur, we may not be 
able to deliver patient reports and we may incur higher one-time switching costs. Carriers responsible for transporting samples 
to us are currently operating at lower than usual capacity because of COVID-19, causing delays in the timeliness of our receipt 
of samples. Any such interruption may significantly affect our future revenue, cause us to incur higher costs, and harm our 
customer relationships and reputation. In addition, in order to mitigate these risks, we maintain inventories of these supplies at 
higher levels than would be the case if multiple sources of supplies were available. If our test volume decreases or we switch 
suppliers, we may hold excess supplies with expiration dates that occur before use which would adversely affect our losses and 
cash flow position. As we introduce any new test, we may experience supply issues as we ramp test volume. Moreover, the 
COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted supply chains globally, and could adversely affect our ability to source essential reagents, 
equipment and other materials in a timely manner or at all.

We depend on a specialized cytopathology practice to perform the cytopathology component of our Afirma test, and our 
ability to perform our diagnostic solution would be harmed if we were required to secure a replacement.

We rely on TCP to provide cytopathology professional diagnoses on thyroid FNA samples pursuant to a pathology 
services agreement. Pursuant to this agreement, as amended, TCP has the exclusive right to provide our cytopathology 
diagnoses on FNA samples at a fixed price per test. Until February 2019, TCP also previously subleased a portion of our 
facility in Austin, Texas. Our agreement with TCP is effective through October 31, 2022, and thereafter automatically renews 
every year unless either party provides notice of intent not to renew at least 12 months prior to the end of the then-current term.

If TCP were not able to support our current test volume or future increases in test volume or to provide the quality of 
services we require, or if we were unable to agree on commercial terms and our relationship with TCP were to terminate, our 
business would be harmed until we were able to secure the services of another cytopathology provider. There can be no 
assurance that we would be successful in finding a replacement that would be able to conduct cytopathology diagnoses at the 
same volume or with the same high-quality results as TCP. Locating another suitable cytopathology provider could be time 
consuming and would result in delays in processing Afirma tests until a replacement was fully integrated with our test 
processing operations.
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Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly or may fall below the expectations of investors or securities 
analysts for various reasons, including in response to the way we recognize revenue, which may cause our stock price to 
fluctuate or decline.

Our quarterly financial and operating results depend on sales of our products in the markets we operate and are sensitive 
to a number of factors, including patient and clinician demand, market condition, and the prevalence of the indications we seek 
to address.  In addition, we cannot be sure that we will be able to successfully complete development of or commercialize any 
of our planned future products, or that they will prove to be capable of reliably being used. Before we can successfully develop 
and commercialize any of our currently planned or other new diagnostic solutions, we will need to:

• conduct substantial research and development;
• obtain the necessary testing samples and related data;
• conduct clinical validation studies;
• expend significant funds;
• expand and scale-up our laboratory processes;
• expand and train our sales force;
• gain acceptance from ordering clinicians at a larger number of hospitals;
• gain acceptance from ordering laboratories; and
• seek and obtain regulatory clearances, approvals or certifications of our new solutions, as required by 

applicable regulatory bodies.

This process involves a high degree of risk and may take up to several years or more. Our test development and 
commercialization efforts may be delayed or fail for many reasons, including:

• failure of the test at the research or development stage;
• difficulty in accessing suitable testing samples, especially testing samples with known clinical results;
• lack of clinical validation data to support the effectiveness of the test;
• delays resulting from the failure of third-party suppliers or contractors to meet their obligations in a timely 

and cost-effective manner;
• failure to obtain or maintain necessary clearances, approvals or certifications to market the test; or
• lack of commercial acceptance by patients, clinicians or third-party payers.

Few research and development projects result in commercial products, and success in early clinical studies often is not 
replicated in later studies. At any point, we may abandon development of new diagnostic tests, or we may be required to expend 
considerable resources repeating clinical studies, which would adversely impact the timing for generating potential revenues 
from those new diagnostic tests. In addition, as we develop diagnostic tests, we will have to make additional investments in our 
sales and marketing operations, which may be prematurely or unnecessarily incurred if the commercial launch of a test is 
abandoned or delayed. If a clinical validation study fails to demonstrate the prospectively defined endpoints of the study, we 
would likely abandon the development of the test or test feature that was the subject of the clinical study, which could harm our 
business.

In addition, we recognize test revenue upon delivery of the patient report to the prescribing physician based on the amount 
we expect to ultimately realize. We determine the amount we expect to ultimately realize based on payer reimbursement 
history, contracts, and coverage. Upon ultimate collection, the amount received is compared to the estimates and the amount 
accrued is adjusted accordingly. We cannot be certain as to when we will receive payment for our diagnostic tests, and we must 
appeal negative payment decisions, which delays collections. Should judgments underlying estimated reimbursement change or 
be incorrect at the time we accrued such revenue, our financial results could be negatively impacted in future quarters. As a 
result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not rely on our past 
results as an indication of our future performance. In addition, these fluctuations in revenue may make it difficult for us, for 
securities analysts and for investors to accurately forecast our revenue and operating results. If our revenue or operating results 
fall below expectations, the price of our common stock would likely decline.
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We may be unable to manage our future growth effectively, which could make it difficult to execute our business strategy.

In addition to the need to scale our testing capacity, future growth, including our transition to a multi-product company 
with international operations, will impose significant added responsibilities on management, including the need to identify, 
recruit, train and integrate additional employees with the necessary skills to support the growing complexities of our business. 
Rapid and significant growth may place strain on our administrative, financial and operational infrastructure. Our ability to 
manage our business and growth will require us to continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, 
reporting systems and procedures. We have implemented an internally-developed data warehouse, which is critical to our 
ability to track our diagnostic services and patient reports delivered to physicians, as well as to support our financial reporting 
systems. The time and resources required to optimize these systems is uncertain, and failure to complete optimization in a 
timely and efficient manner could adversely affect our operations. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, it may be 
difficult for us to execute our business strategy and our business could be harmed.

If we are unable to support demand for our commercial tests, our business could suffer.

As demand for our tests grows, we will need to continue to scale our testing capacity and processing technology, expand 
customer service, billing and systems processes and enhance our internal quality assurance program. We will also need 
additional certified laboratory scientists and other scientific and technical personnel to process higher volumes of our tests. We 
cannot assure you that any increases in scale, related improvements and quality assurance will be successfully implemented or 
that appropriate personnel will be available. Failure to implement necessary procedures, transition to new processes or hire the 
necessary personnel could result in higher costs of processing tests, quality control issues or inability to meet demand. There 
can be no assurance that we will be able to perform our testing on a timely basis at a level consistent with demand, or that our 
efforts to scale our operations will not negatively affect the quality of test results. If we encounter difficulty meeting market 
demand or quality standards, our reputation could be harmed and our future prospects and our business could suffer.

Changes in healthcare policy, including legislation reforming the U.S. healthcare system, may have a material adverse 
effect on our financial condition and operations.

The ACA, enacted in March 2010, made changes that significantly affected the pharmaceutical and medical device 
industries and clinical laboratories. Along with the now-repealed 2.3% excise tax on the sale of certain medical devices sold 
outside of the retail setting, other significant measures contained in the ACA include, for example, coordination and promotion 
of research on comparative clinical effectiveness of different technologies and procedures, initiatives to revise Medicare 
payment methodologies, such as bundling of payments across the continuum of care by providers and physicians, and initiatives 
to promote quality indicators in payment methodologies. The ACA also includes significant new fraud and abuse measures, 
including required disclosures of financial arrangements with physician customers, lower thresholds for violations and 
increasing potential penalties for such violations. In addition, various efforts to amend the ACA are ongoing. We cannot predict 
if, or when, the ACA will be amended, and cannot predict the impact that an amendment of the ACA will have on our business.

In addition to the ACA, various healthcare reform proposals have also periodically emerged from federal and state 
governments. For example, in February 2012, Congress passed the Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, 
which in part reset the clinical laboratory payment rates on the Medicare Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule, or CLFS, by 2% in 
2013. In addition, under the Budget Control Act of 2011, which is effective for dates of service on or after April 1, 2013, 
Medicare payments, including payments to clinical laboratories, are subject to a reduction of 2% due to the automatic expense 
reductions (sequester) until fiscal year 2024. In March 2020, Congress passed the CARES Act, which suspended the 2% 
reduction in Medicare fee-for-service payments from May 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020.  To account for this temporary 
suspension, the legislation also extends the effect of sequestration by a year (now through fiscal year 2030). Reductions 
resulting from the Congressional sequester are applied to total claims payment made; however, they do not currently result in a 
rebasing of the negotiated or established Medicare or Medicaid reimbursement rates. In December 2020, Congress passed the 
Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021, or CAA, which extended the suspension through March 31, 2021. Legislation 
enacted April 14, 2021 further extended the suspension through December 31, 2021.  The Protecting Medicare and American 
Farmers from Sequester Cuts Act, enacted on December 10, 2021, extends the suspension through March 31, 2022, after which 
a 1.0% sequestration would apply for Medicare payments made between April 1, 2022 and June 30, 2022. The legislation also 
applies a 2.25% sequestration to Medicare payments made during the first six months of fiscal year 2030, and a 3% reduction to 
payments made during the last six months of fiscal year 2030. 
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State legislation on reimbursement applies to Medicaid reimbursement and managed Medicaid reimbursement rates within 
that state. Some states have passed or proposed legislation that would revise the reimbursement methodology for clinical 
laboratory payment rates under those Medicaid programs. For example, effective July 2015, California’s Department of Health 
Care Services implemented a new rate methodology for clinical laboratories and laboratory services. This methodology 
involves the use of a range of rates that fell between zero and 80% of the calculated California-specific Medicare rate and the 
calculation of a weighted average (based on units billed) of such rates.

We cannot predict whether future healthcare initiatives will be implemented at the federal or state level or in countries 
outside of the United States in which we do or may do business, or the effect any future legislation or regulation will have on 
us. The taxes imposed by the new federal legislation, cost reduction measures and the expansion in the role of the U.S. 
government in the healthcare industry may result in decreased revenue, lower reimbursement by payers for our tests or reduced 
medical procedure volumes, all of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In 
addition, sales of our tests outside the United States subject our business to foreign regulatory requirements and cost-reduction 
measures, which may also change over time.

Ongoing calls for deficit reduction at the federal government level and reforms to programs such as the Medicare program 
to pay for such reductions may affect the pharmaceutical, medical device and clinical laboratory industries. Currently, clinical 
laboratory services are excluded from the Medicare Part B co-insurance and co-payment as preventative services. Any 
requirement for clinical laboratories to collect co-payments from patients may increase our costs and reduce the amount 
ultimately collected.

CMS bundles payments for clinical laboratory diagnostic tests together with other services performed during hospital 
outpatient visits under the Hospital Outpatient Prospective Payment System. CMS currently maintains an exemption for 
molecular pathology tests from this bundling provision. It is possible that this exemption could be removed by CMS in future 
rule making, which might result in lower reimbursement for tests performed in this setting.

PAMA includes a substantial new payment system for clinical laboratory tests under the CLFS. Under PAMA, 
laboratories that receive the majority of their Medicare revenues from payments made under the CLFS and the Physician Fee 
Schedule would report on a triennial basis (or annually for ADLTs), private payer rates and volumes for their tests with specific 
CPT codes based on final payments made during a set data collection period (the first of which was January 1 through June 30, 
2016). We believe that PAMA and its implementing regulations are generally favorable to us. We reported to CMS the data 
required under PAMA before the March 31, 2017 deadline. The new payment rate for the Afirma genomic classifier based on 
the volume-weighted median of private payer rates took effect January 1, 2018, increasing from $3,220 to $3,600 through 
December 31, 2020. In December 2019, through the Further Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2020, Congress delayed the 
next data reporting period from 2020 to 2021 for final payments made between January 1 and June 30, 2019, extending the 
applicability of the current rate for Afirma through December 31, 2021. In March 2020, through the CARES Act, Congress 
further delayed the next reporting period to 2022 for final payments made between January 1 and June 30, 2019, extending the 
applicability of the payment rates based on 2017 reporting through December 31, 2022. In December 2021, through the 
Protecting Medicare and American Farmers from Sequester Cuts Act, Congress further delayed the next reporting period to 
2023. There can be no assurance that the payment rate for Afirma or Prosigna will not decrease in the future or that the payment 
rates for Afirma Xpression Atlas, Afirma MTC, Decipher Prostate Biopsy, Decipher Prostate RP, Percepta, Decipher Bladder 
or Immunoscore will not be adversely affected by the PAMA law and regulations.

Our Envisia classifier was approved by CMS as a New ADLT on September 17, 2020. The initial payment rate (for a 
period not to exceed nine months) under PAMA for a New ADLT (an ADLT for which payment has not been made under the 
CLFS prior to January 1, 2018) will be set at the “actual list charge” for the test as reported by the laboratory. Effective July 1, 
2021, Envisia is priced based on private payer rates collected and reported annually.  We can determine whether to seek ADLT 
status for our tests, but there can be no assurance that our tests will be designated ADLTs or that the payment rates for our tests, 
including Envisia, will not be adversely affected by such designation.   

There have also been substantial changes to the payment structure for physicians, including those passed as part of the 
Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015, or MACRA, which was signed into law on April 16, 2015. MACRA 
created the Merit-Based Incentive Payment System which, beginning in 2019, more closely aligns physician payments with 
composite performance on performance metrics similar to three existing incentive programs (i.e., the Physician Quality 
Reporting System, the Value-based modifier program and the Electronic Health Record Meaningful Use program) and 
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incentivizes physicians to enroll in alternative payment methods. At this time, we do not know whether these changes to the 
physician payment systems will have any impact on orders or payments for our tests.

In December 2016, Congress passed the 21st Century Cures Act, which, among other things, revised the process for 
LCDs. Additionally, effective June 11, 2017, a MAC is required to, among other things, publish a summary of the evidence that 
it considered when developing an LCD, including a list of sources, and an explanation of the rationale that supports the MAC’s 
determinations. In October 2018, CMS issued additional guidance revising the requirements for the development of LCDs. We 
cannot predict whether these revisions will delay future LCDs and result in impeded coverage for our test products, which could 
have a material negative impact on revenue.

In December 2020, in its enactment of the CAA, Congress enacted the No Surprises Act. This law, which takes effect 
January 1, 2022, prohibits an out-of-network provider from billing a patient at an amount in excess of the in-network cost 
sharing for services furnished with respect to a visit at certain in-network health care facilities. The law establishes an 
independent dispute resolution process between the provider and the payer to determine the appropriate payment rate to the 
provider. As written, the No Surprises Act may apply to laboratory tests furnished by an independent laboratory with respect to 
a hospital visit. The law establishes a notice and consent exception that generally does not apply to laboratory tests, although it 
allows for the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services, or HHS, to apply the exception to certain advanced 
tests. HHS, the Department of Labor, and the Department of the Treasury in 2021 implemented the No Surprises Act through 
Interim Final Rules issued on July 1, 2021 and September 30, 2021. The No Surprises Act, and regulations and subregulatory 
guidance promulgated thereunder, could limit our ability to achieve payment in full for our testing services.

Because of Medicare billing rules, we may not receive reimbursement for all tests provided to Medicare patients. 

Under previous Medicare billing rules, hospitals were required to bill for our tests when performed on Medicare 
beneficiaries who were hospital outpatients at the time of tissue specimen collection when these tests were ordered less than 14 
days following the date of the patient's discharge.

Effective January 1, 2018, CMS revised its billing rules to allow the performing laboratory to bill Medicare directly for 
molecular pathology tests performed on specimens collected from hospital outpatients, even when those tests are ordered less 
than 14 days after the date of discharge, if certain conditions are met. We believe that our Afirma, Decipher Prostate Biopsy, 
Decipher Prostate RP, Percepta, Envisia, and Decipher Bladder classifiers, along with Prosigna, should be covered by this 
policy. Accordingly, we bill Medicare for these tests when we perform them on specimens collected from hospital outpatients 
and meet the conditions set forth in CMS's revised billing rules.

This change does not apply to tests performed on specimens collected from hospital inpatients. We will continue to bill 
hospitals for tests performed on specimens collected from hospital inpatients when the test was ordered less than 14 days after 
the date of discharge.

In the CY 2020 Hospital Outpatient Prospective Payment System Proposed Rule, CMS solicited comments on potential 
revisions to these billing rules that could have impacted our ability to bill Medicare directly for our Afirma, Decipher Prostate 
Biopsy, Decipher Prostate RP, Percepta, Envisia, and Decipher Bladder classifiers, as well as for Prosigna, when performed on 
specimens collected from hospital outpatients. Although these changes were not finalized, if CMS makes similar changes in the 
future, it could negatively impact our business.

In addition, we must maintain CLIA compliance and certification to sell our tests and be eligible to bill for diagnostic 
services provided to Medicare beneficiaries.

If the FDA or foreign authorities were to begin regulating those of our tests that are not currently regulated, we could 
incur substantial costs and delays associated with trying to obtain premarket clearance, approval or certification.

Clinical laboratory tests have long been subject to comprehensive regulations under CLIA, as well as by applicable state 
laws. Most clinical diagnostic tests developed and run within a single CLIA-certified clinical laboratory (known as “laboratory 
developed tests” or “LDTs”), are not currently subject to regulation under the FDA's enforcement discretion policy.  While the 
FDA maintains its authority to regulate LDTs, it continues to exercise enforcement discretion not to enforce the premarket 
review, quality system/current Good Manufacturing Practices regulations, and other applicable medical device requirements 
against most LDT developers and users. Certain reagents, instruments, software or components manufactured and sold by third 
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parties and used by their customers to manufacture or perform diagnostic tests may be subject to regulation under certain 
circumstances.  Further, FDA has raised concerns about companies who manufacture, and label finished clinical test kits or 
clinical testing components as “research use only”, or RUO, or “investigational use only”, or IUO, and either knowingly use 
them or sell them for use in patient care.  We believe that the Afirma, Decipher Prostate Biopsy, Decipher Prostate RP, 
Percepta, Envisia, and Decipher Bladder classifiers, as well as Immunoscore, have been developed and are performed in a 
manner consistent with FDA’s enforcement discretion policy. 

In October 2014, the FDA issued two draft guidance documents stating that the FDA intended to modify its policy of 
enforcement discretion with respect to LDTs in a risk-based manner consistent with the existing classification of medical 
devices. Although the FDA halted finalization of the guidance in November 2016 to allow for further public discussion on an 
appropriate oversight approach to LDTs and to give Congressional authorizing committees the opportunity to develop a 
legislative solution, it is unclear if Congress or the FDA will modify the current approach to the regulation of LDTs in a way 
that would subject our current or future services marketed as LDTs to the enforcement of FDA regulatory requirements. The 
FDA Commissioner and the Director of the Center for Devices and Radiological Health (“CDRH”) have expressed significant 
concerns regarding disparities between some LDTs and in vitro diagnostics that have been reviewed, cleared, authorized or 
approved by the FDA. If the FDA were to determine that Afirma, Decipher Prostate Biopsy, Decipher Prostate RP, Percepta, 
Envisia, and Decipher Bladder classifiers, as well as Immunoscore, offered as LDTs are not within the policy for LDTs for any 
reason, including new rules, policies or guidance, or due to changes in statute, our tests may become subject to extensive FDA 
requirements, or our business may otherwise be adversely affected. If the FDA were to disagree with our LDT status or modify 
its approach to regulating LDTs, we could experience reduced revenue or increased costs, which could adversely affect our 
business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

In March 2017, a draft bill on the regulation of LDTs, entitled "The Diagnostics Accuracy and Innovation Act", or DAIA, 
was released for discussion. In December 2018, the sponsors of DAIA released a new version of the legislation called the 
“Verifying Accurate, Leading-edge IVCT Development Act", or VALID Act. The VALID Act proposes a risk-based approach 
to regulate LDTs and creates a new in vitro clinical test category, which includes LDTs, and a new regulatory structure under 
the FDA. Similar versions of the VALID Act have since been introduced. The most recent version was released in June 2021. 
As proposed, the bill would create a precertification program for lower risk tests not otherwise required to go through premarket 
review. It would grandfather existing tests but would allow the FDA to subject otherwise grandfathered tests to premarket 
review under certain conditions. Similarly, the Verified Innovative Testing in American Laboratories (VITAL) Act was 
introduced in December 2020 and re-introduced in May 2021.  In contrast with the VALID Act, the VITAL Act would prevent 
FDA from regulating LDTs and would instead assign regulatory authority over LDTs entirely to CMS.  We cannot predict 
whether either of these or other draft bills governing LDTs will become legislation and cannot quantify the effect of such draft 
bills on our business. 

In addition, changes in the way the European Union, or EU, regulates LDTs, or in-house tests, could result in additional 
expenses for offering our current and any future tests or possibly delay or suspend development, or commercialization of such 
tests. In the EU, LDTs are exempt from the regulations that govern medical devices and in vitro diagnostic medical devices, or 
IVD MDs, under certain conditions. The EU In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Devices Directive (Directive 98/79/EC), or IVDD, 
currently governs the exemptions applicable to LDTs. However, the EU regulatory landscape is significantly changing and the 
EU Regulation (EU) 2017/746 of April 5, 2017, repealing the IVDD, referred to as the IVD Medical Devices Regulation, or 
IVDR, becomes applicable on May 26, 2022. Under the IVDR, the general safety and performance requirements set out in 
Annex I will also be applicable to devices manufactured and used only within health institutions unless certain conditions are 
met. The exemptions provided under the IVDR for LDTs remain to be further interpreted and clarified and there are proposals 
currently being considered by the EU institutions meaning that the date of application of the relevant provisions will be 
extended to May 2024 and May 2028. As such, the extent of such exemptions or when they are applicable is not yet fully 
determined.  If our tests do not qualify for an exemption, we may be subject to the full application of the IVDR with respect to 
some or all of our existing, as well as future, tests, and we would be required to expend additional time and resources to 
complying with the requirements of the IVDR. Following Brexit, the IVDR will not be applicable in Great Britain (although it 
will apply in Northern Ireland), but the UK government is currently undertaking a consultation on the regime applicable to in 
vitro diagnostics in the UK, and it is anticipated that similar provisions will be introduced as under the IVDR.  

If the FDA or foreign authorities were to require us to seek clearance, approval or certification for our existing tests that 
are not currently cleared, approved, or certified or any of our future products for clinical use, we may not be able to obtain such 
approvals or certifications on a timely basis, or at all. While we believe our Afirma, Decipher Prostate Biopsy, Decipher 
Prostate RP, Percepta, Envisia, and Decipher Bladder classifiers, as well as Immunoscore, would likely qualify for the 
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“grandfathered” tests treatment, there can be no assurance of what the FDA might ultimately require if it issues a rule. If 
premarket reviews or certifications are required, our business could be negatively impacted if we are required to stop selling our 
products pending their clearance, approval or certification. In addition, the launch of any new products that we develop could be 
delayed by the implementation of future FDA or foreign regulations. The cost of complying with premarket review or 
certification requirements, including obtaining clinical data, could be significant. In addition, future regulation by the FDA or 
foreign authorities could subject our business to further regulatory risks and costs. Failure to comply with applicable regulatory 
requirements of the FDA or foreign authorities could result in enforcement action, including receiving untitled or warning 
letters, fines, injunctions, or civil or criminal penalties. Any such enforcement action would have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and operations. In addition, our sample collection containers are listed as Class I devices with 
the FDA. If the FDA were to determine that they are not Class I devices or otherwise not exempt from 510(k) clearance 
requirements, we would be required to file 510(k) premarket notifications and obtain FDA clearance to use the containers, 
which could be time consuming and expensive.

The FDA has taken the position that if evidence demonstrates that a product which otherwise meets the definition of a 
regulated medical device is inappropriately labeled RUO or IUO, distribution, sale, or use of the product could violate the 
misbranding or adulteration provisions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or the FDC Act. In the EU, under the 
IVDD, RUO products which are intended to be used for research purposes, without any medical objective, are not regarded as 
devices for performance evaluation used in diagnostic procedures. More importantly, the IVDR expressly provides that 
products intended for RUO are excluded from the scope of the regulation. A material intended for RUO, without any medical 
purpose or objective, is therefore not considered as an IVD MD and is not subject to compliance with the IVD MDs 
requirements. Depending on the product in question, other regulations may be applicable to the RUO products. Some of the 
reagents, instruments, software or components obtained by us from suppliers for use in our products are currently labeled by 
those suppliers as “RUO” or “IUO”. If the FDA or foreign bodies were to determine that any of these reagents, instruments, 
software or components are improperly labeled RUO or IUO and undertake enforcement actions, some of our suppliers might 
cease selling these reagents, instruments, software or components to us or be forced to recall them, and any failure to obtain an 
acceptable substitute could significantly and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, 
including increasing the cost of testing or delaying, limiting or prohibiting the purchase of reagents, instruments, software or 
components necessary to perform testing.  Such actions could also lead FDA to investigate our purchase and use of supplier 
products and for the Agency to question whether or not Veracyte has violated the FDC Act.

Obtaining marketing authorization or certification by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities or notified regulatory 
bodies for our diagnostic tests will take significant time and require significant research, development and clinical study 
expenditures and ultimately may not succeed.

Before we begin to label and market some of our products for use as clinical diagnostics in the United States, unless an 
exemption applies, we are required to obtain clearance from the FDA by submitting a premarket notification under section 
510(k) of the FDC Act or 510(k), or approval from the FDA by submitting a premarket approval, or PMA. We may also be able 
to obtain marketing authorization through a De Novo classification process rather than through a PMA if the 510(k) pathway is 
not available. In September 2013, we obtained FDA 510(k) clearance for Prosigna as a prognostic indicator for distant 
recurrence-free survival at ten years in post-menopausal women with Stage I/II lymph node-negative or Stage II lymph node-
positive (1-3 positive nodes), hormone receptor-positive breast cancer to be treated with adjuvant endocrine therapy alone, 
when used in conjunction with other clinicopathological factors after they have undergone surgery in conjunction with 
locoregional treatment and consistent with the standard of care. 

The FDA issued guidance titled "In Vitro Companion Diagnostic Devices" that defined an IVD companion diagnostic 
device as an in vitro diagnostic device that provides information that is essential for the safe and effective use of a 
corresponding therapeutic product. The use of an IVD companion diagnostic device with a therapeutic product is stipulated in 
the instructions for use in the labeling of both the diagnostic device and the corresponding therapeutic product, including the 
labeling of any generic equivalents of the therapeutic product. The FDA stated that an IVD companion diagnostic should be 
submitted for review and cleared through an appropriate device submission contemporaneously with the review and approval of 
the therapeutic product to facilitate concurrent review. The FDA guidance also stated that while there may be cases when a 
companion diagnostic could come to market through the 510(k) pathway, the FDA expects that most companion diagnostics 
will be Class III devices. An IVD diagnostic device that is not a companion diagnostic device, because it is not essential for the 
safe and effective use of a corresponding therapeutic product, may still be beneficial for use with a therapeutic product, but may 
not be identified in the labeling of the therapeutic product. It is possible that revenue from a cleared or approved beneficial or 
complementary IVD diagnostic device may be less than revenue from a cleared or approved IVD companion diagnostic device.
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The FDA issued another draft guidance in December 2018 specific to oncology companion diagnostic tests, which it 
finalized in April 2020.  The guidance explained that some oncology companion diagnostic tests can be developed in a way that 
results in labeling for a specific group of oncology therapeutic products, rather than a single therapeutic product. However, 
there is no assurance that we would be able to obtain clearance or approval for any of our diagnostic devices in development as 
a companion diagnostic device or that any such clearance or approval will occur without significant delay.

Any marketing authorization we obtain for any future device product would be subject to regulatory requirements that 
would affect how we are able to market and sell the device. The FDC Act and FDA regulations place considerable requirements 
on our products, including, but not limited to, compliance with the quality system regulations, or QSR, establishment 
registration and product listing with the FDA, and compliance with labeling, marketing, complaint handling, medical device 
reporting requirements, and reporting certain corrections and removals. Obtaining FDA clearance or approval for diagnostics 
can be expensive and uncertain, generally may take several months to several years, and generally requires detailed and 
comprehensive scientific and clinical data, as well as compliance with FDA regulations for investigational devices. In addition, 
we have limited experience in obtaining PMA approval from the FDA and are therefore supplementing our operational 
capabilities to manage the more complex processes needed to obtain and maintain PMAs. Notwithstanding the expense, these 
efforts may never result in FDA clearance or approval. Even if we were to obtain marketing authorization, it may not be for the 
uses we believe are important or commercially attractive, in which case we would not market our product for those uses.

Sales of our diagnostic tests outside the United States are subject to foreign regulatory requirements governing clinical 
studies, vigilance reporting, marketing approval, manufacturing, regulatory inspections, product licensing, pricing and 
reimbursement. These regulatory requirements vary greatly from country to country. As a result, the time required to obtain 
approvals or certifications outside the United States may differ from that required to obtain FDA marketing authorization, and 
we may not be able to obtain foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basis or at all. Marketing authorization from the FDA 
does not ensure approval or certification by regulatory authorities in other countries, and approval or certification by any 
foreign regulatory authority does not ensure marketing authorization or certifications by regulatory authorities in other countries 
or by the FDA. Foreign regulatory authorities could require additional testing beyond what the FDA requires. In addition, the 
FDC Act imposes requirements on the export of medical devices, such as labeling requirements, and foreign governments 
impose requirements on the import of medical devices from the United States. Failure to comply with these regulatory 
requirements or to obtain required approvals, clearances, and export certifications could impair our ability to commercialize our 
diagnostic products outside of the United States.

For instance, in order to sell some of our products in the EU, those products must currently comply with the essential 
requirements of the IVDD. Compliance with these requirements is a prerequisite to be able to affix the European Conformity, 
or CE, mark to our products, without which they cannot be sold or marketed in the EU. All medical devices placed on the 
market in the EU must meet the essential requirements laid down in Annex I to the IVDD, unless an exemption applies, 
including the requirement that an IVD MD must be designed and manufactured in such a way that it will not compromise the 
clinical condition or safety of patients, or the safety and health of users and others. In addition, the device must achieve the 
performances intended by the manufacturer and be designed, manufactured, and packaged in a suitable manner. To demonstrate 
compliance with the essential requirements we must undergo a conformity assessment procedure, which varies according to the 
type of medical device and its (risk) classification. As a general rule, demonstration of conformity of IVD MDs and their 
manufacturers with the essential requirements must be based, among other things, on the evaluation of clinical data supporting 
the safety and performance of the products during normal conditions of use. Specifically, a manufacturer must demonstrate that 
the device achieves its intended performance during normal conditions of use, that the known and foreseeable risks, and any 
adverse events, are minimized and acceptable when weighed against the benefits of its intended performance, and that any 
claims made about the performance and safety of the device are supported by suitable evidence. 

For most IVD MDs, the manufacturer can self-declare the conformity of its products with the essential requirements of the 
IVDD. For some types of IVDs listed in Annex II of the IVDD, a conformity assessment procedure requires the intervention of 
a notified body. Notified regulatory bodies are independent organizations designated by EU member states to assess the 
conformity of devices before being placed on the market. The notified body would typically audit and examine the product’s 
technical file and the manufacturer’s quality system (notified body must presume that quality systems which implement the 
relevant harmonized standards – which is ISO 13485:2016 for Quality Management Systems – conform to these requirements). 
If satisfied that the relevant product conforms to the relevant essential requirements, the notified body issues a certificate of 
conformity, which the manufacturer uses as a basis for its own declaration of conformity. The manufacturer may then apply the 
CE Mark to the device, which allows the device to be placed on the market throughout the EU. If we fail to remain in 
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compliance with applicable EU laws and directives, we would be unable to continue to affix the CE mark to our products, 
which would prevent us from selling them within the EU and European Economic Area, or EEA (which consists of the 27 EU 
member states plus Norway, Liechtenstein and Iceland). 

The EU regulatory landscape concerning medical devices is significantly changing, and the new IVDR governing IVD 
MDs will become applicable on May 26, 2022. The new requirements in the IVDR will have a significant effect on the way we 
conduct our business in the EU and the EEA. In particularly, substantially more IVDs will require the involvement of a notified 
body to be able to affix a CE Mark to the product, which may lead to delay in being able to place such products on the market. 
Given the large number of products on the market that will now require the involvement of a notified body to be placed on the 
market under the IVDR, the EU institutions are currently finalizing amendments to the transitional provisions applicable to 
certain products, meaning that where such transitional provisions apply, the products can continue to be placed on the market 
under the IVDD for a certain period of time.

Since January 1, 2021, the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, or MHRA, has become the sovereign 
regulatory authority responsible for the Great Britain (i.e., England, Wales and Scotland) medical device market according to 
the requirements provided in the Medical Devices Regulations 2002  (SI 2002 No 618, as amended). The UK regulation 
implemented the three pre-existing EU directives, including the IVDD. Following the end of the Brexit transitional period on 
January 1, 2021, new regulations require medical devices to be registered with the MHRA (but manufacturers were given a 
grace period of four to 12 months to comply with the new registration process) before being placed on Great Britain market. 
The MHRA only registers devices where the manufacturer or their United Kingdom, or UK, Responsible Person has a 
registered place of business in the UK. Manufacturers based outside the UK will need to appoint a UK Responsible Person that 
has a registered place of business in the UK to register devices with the MHRA. By July 1, 2023, in Great Britain, all medical 
devices will require a UK Conformity Assessed, or UKCA, mark but CE marks issued by EU notified regulatory bodies will 
remain valid until this time. Manufacturers may choose to use the UKCA mark on a voluntary basis until June 30, 2023. 
However, UKCA marking will not be recognized in the EU. The MHRA is also currently consulting on the UK regime going 
forward, and it is expected that requirements similar to those under the IVDR will be put in place in the UK.

An MHRA public consultation was opened until end of November 2021 on the post-Brexit regulatory framework for 
medical devices and diagnostics. The MHRA seeks to amend the UK Medical Devices Regulations 2002 (which are based on 
EU legislation, primarily the EU Medical Devices Directive 93/42/EEC and the IVDD), in particular to create a new access 
pathway to support innovation, create an innovative framework for regulating software and artificial intelligence as medical 
devices, reform IVD MD regulation, and foster sustainability through the reuse and remanufacture of medical devices. The 
regime is expected to come into force in July 2023, coinciding with the end of the acceptance period for EU CE marks in Great 
Britain, subject to appropriate transitional arrangements. The consultation indicated that the MHRA will publish guidance in 
relation to the changes to the regulatory framework and may rely more heavily on guidance to add flexibility to the regime.

Under the terms of the Northern Ireland Protocol, Northern Ireland follows EU rules on medical devices, including the 
IVDR when applicable. Therefore, devices marketed in Northern Ireland will require assessment according to the EU regulatory 
regime. Such assessment may be conducted by an EU notified body, in which case a CE mark is required before placing the 
device on the market in the EU or Northern Ireland. Alternatively, if a UK notified body conducts such assessment, a ‘UKNI’ 
mark is applied and the device may only be placed on the market in Northern Ireland and not the EU.

If we are unable to obtain marketing authorizations or certifications, approvals, clearances or certifications to market 
Prosigna or our other assays on the nCounter Analysis System in additional countries or if regulatory limitations are placed 
on our diagnostic kit products, our business and growth will be harmed.

The FDA cleared the Prosigna test for marketing in the United States. Prosigna is CE marked which permits us to market 
the test in the EU and Prosigna received marketing authorizations in selected other jurisdictions. We intend to seek regulatory 
authorizations or certifications for Prosigna in other jurisdictions and, potentially, for other indications. 

On April 5, 2017, the IVDR, was adopted to establish a modernized and more robust EU legislative framework, with the 
aim of ensuring better protection of public health and patient safety. Unlike directives, the IVDR does not need to be transposed 
into national law and therefore reduces the risk of discrepancies in interpretation across the different European markets. The 
IVDR increases the regulatory requirements applicable to IVD MDs in the EU and would require that we re-classify and obtain 
new certificates of conformity for our existing CE-marked IVD MDs by May 25, 2022, unless a transitional provision applies to 
our current certificates. The EU institutions are currently finalizing amendments to the transitional provisions applicable to 
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certain products, meaning that where such transitional provisions apply, the products can continue to be placed on the market 
under the IVDD for a certain period of time.

The IVDR will not be implemented in Great Britain, and the previous legislation that implemented the IVDD, the Medical 
Devices Regulations 2002 (SI 2002 No 618, as amended), applies. For the time being, the regulatory regime for medical devices 
and IVD MDs in Great Britain (England, Scotland and Wales) continues to be based on the requirements derived from current 
EU legislation, but subject to the outcome of the MHRA public consultation on the post-Brexit regulatory framework for 
medical devices and diagnostics, the UK may choose to retain regulatory flexibility or align with the EU Medical Devices 
Regulation and the IVDR going forward. EU CE markings will continue to be recognized in the UK, and certificates issued by 
EU-registered notified regulatory bodies will be valid in the UK until June 30, 2023. For medical devices, including IVD MDs,  
placed on the market in Great Britain after this period, the UKCA marking will be mandatory. In contrast, UKCA marking and 
certificates issued by UK notified regulatory bodies are not recognized on the EU market. The rules for placing medical devices 
on the Northern Ireland market differ from those in Great Britain, and the IVDR will apply in Northern Ireland. These 
modifications may have an effect on the way we intend to conduct our business in these countries.

In addition, pursuant to our collaborations with pharmaceutical companies for the development of companion diagnostic 
tests for use with their drugs, we are responsible for obtaining regulatory authorizations or certifications to use the companion 
diagnostic tests in clinical studies as well as the  authorizations or certifications to sell the companion diagnostic tests following 
completion of such studies. Some of the compensation we expect to receive pursuant to these collaborations is based on the 
receipt of authorizations or certifications. Any failure to obtain authorizations or certifications for our diagnostic kits in a 
particular jurisdiction may also reduce sales of the nCounter Analysis System for clinical use in that jurisdiction, as the lack of a 
robust menu of available diagnostic tests would make those systems less attractive to testing laboratories.

In the EU, there is currently no legal definition or classification system for companion diagnostics. Companion 
diagnostics are deemed to be IVD MDs, governed by the IVDD, and are required to conform with the essential requirements of 
the IVDD. The conformity assessment varies according to the type of IVD MD. As there is currently no classification system 
for companion diagnostics, the conformity assessment varies depending on the companion diagnostics’ characteristics and they 
will be either subject to a conformity assessment by a notified body or to a self-assessment by the manufacturer (without the 
intervention of a notified body). The regulation of companion diagnostics will be subject to further requirements once the IVDR 
will become applicable on May 26, 2022, although if the current proposals being discussed by the EU institutions are finalized, 
this requirement will be applicable to companion diagnostics in May 2026. The IVDR introduces a new classification system 
for companion diagnostics which are now specifically defined as a device which is essential for the safe and effective use of a 
corresponding medicinal product to: (a) identify, before and/or during treatment, patients who are most likely to benefit from 
the corresponding medicinal product; or (b) identify, before and/or during treatment, patients likely to be at increased risk of 
serious adverse reactions as a result of treatment with the corresponding medicinal product. Companion diagnostics will have to 
undergo a conformity assessment by a notified body. Before it can issue a certificate of conformity, the notified body will have 
to seek a scientific opinion from the European Medicines Agency or the relevant national competent authority on the suitability 
of the companion diagnostic to the medicinal product concerned.

We cannot assure investors that we will be successful in obtaining or maintaining regulatory clearances, certifications, 
approvals, or marketing authorizations. If we do not obtain or maintain regulatory clearances, certifications, approvals, or 
marketing authorizations for future diagnostic kit products or expand future indications for diagnostic purposes, if additional 
regulatory limitations are placed on our diagnostic kit products or if we fail to successfully commercialize such products, the 
market potential for our diagnostic kit products would be constrained, and our business and growth prospects would be 
adversely affected.

We are subject to ongoing and increasingly extensive regulatory requirements, which may be subject to change, and our 
failure to comply with these requirements could substantially harm our business.

Certain of our products are regulated as IVD MDs, including Prosigna and the nCounter Analysis System. Accordingly, 
we and certain of our contract manufacturers are subject to ongoing International Organization for Standardization, or ISO, 
obligations as well as requirements under CLIA and state laboratory quality statutes and regulations, the FDC Act and related 
FDA regulations, and other statutory and regulatory requirements enforced by other government authorities. These may include 
routine inspections by notified bodies, FDA, CMS, and other health authorities, of our manufacturing facilities and our records 
for compliance with standards such as ISO 13485 and QSR regulations, which establish extensive requirements for quality 
assurance and control as well as manufacturing and change control procedures, among other things. These inspections may 
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include the manufacturing facilities of any suppliers.  In the event that a supplier fails to maintain compliance with regulatory or 
our quality requirements, we may have to qualify a new supplier and could experience manufacturing delays as a result.  We are 
also subject to other regulatory obligations, such as registration of our company offices and facilities and the listing of our 
devices with the FDA; continued adverse event and malfunction reporting; reporting certain corrections and removals; and 
labeling and promotional requirements.

The IVDR increases the regulatory requirements applicable to in vitro diagnostics in the EU and would require that we re-
classify and obtain new certificates of conformity for our existing CE-marked IVD products by May 25, 2022, unless a 
transitional provision applies to our current certificates. 

The IVDR will become applicable five years after publication (on May 26, 2022), subject to relevant transitional periods, 
and once applicable to a particular product, the IVDR will among other things:

• strengthen the rules on placing devices on the market and reinforce surveillance once they are available;
• establish explicit provisions on manufacturers’ responsibilities for the follow-up of the quality, performance and safety 

of devices placed on the market;
• establish explicit provisions on importers’ and distributors’ obligations and responsibilities; 
• impose an obligation to identify a responsible person who is ultimately responsible for all aspects of compliance with 

the requirements of the new regulation;
• improve the traceability of medical devices throughout the supply chain to the end-user or patient through the 

introduction of a unique identification number, to increase the ability of manufacturers and regulatory authorities to 
trace specific devices through the supply chain and to facilitate the prompt and efficient recall of medical devices that 
have been found to present a safety risk;

• set up a central database (Eudamed) to provide patients, healthcare professionals and the public with comprehensive 
information on products available in the EU; and

• strengthen rules for the assessment of certain high-risk devices that may have to undergo an additional check by 
experts before they are placed on the market.

Due to a severe shortage of capacity of the European notified regulatory bodies designated for IVDR certification to 
assess all IVD MDs that will require notified body certification under IVDR, the EU institutions are currently finalizing 
proposed amendments to the transitional periods, so that longer periods may apply to certain IVDs.  Failure to secure these re-
certifications in time will halt our ability to commercialize our products in relevant countries. Currently our tests that require 
recertification are Prosigna and Immunoscore. Moreover, complying with the stricter regulatory requirements of the IVDR, 
including with respect to clinical evaluation requirements, quality systems, and post-market surveillance, may require us to 
incur significant expenditures. Failure to meet these requirements could adversely impact our business in the EU and EEA and 
other regions that tie their product registrations or regulations to the EU requirements. 

Other regulatory bodies may also issue guidelines and regulations that could impact the development of our products, 
including companion diagnostic tests. For example, the European Medicines Agency recently launched an initiative to 
determine guidelines for the use of genomic biomarkers in the development and lifecycle of drugs. The guidelines may impose 
greater requirements for demonstrating the clinical validity and utility of our biomarker-based tests and may interfere with our 
ability to develop companion diagnostics or otherwise obtain or maintain marketing authorization or certifications for our 
diagnostic tests.

The EU IVDR will not be implemented in Great Britain, and the previous legislation that implemented the IVDD, 
the Medical Devices Regulations 2002  (SI 2002 No 618, as amended), applies. Therefore, the regulatory regime for medical 
devices in Great Britain (England, Scotland and Wales) will continue to be based on the requirements derived from current EU 
legislation, and the UK is currently conducting a consultation on the medical device regime, including whether to align with the 
EU Medical Devices Regulation, going forward. EU CE markings will continue to be recognized in the UK, and certificates 
issued by EU-registered notified regulatory bodies will be valid in the UK, until June 30, 2023. For medical devices placed on 
the market in Great Britain after this period, the UKCA marking will be mandatory. In contrast, UKCA marking and certificates 
issued by UK notified regulatory bodies are not recognized on the EU market. The rules for placing medical devices on the 
Northern Ireland market differ from those in Great Britain, and the EU IVDR will apply in Northern Ireland. These 
modifications may have an effect on the way we intend to conduct our business in these countries.
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We may also be subject to additional FDA or foreign regulatory authority post-marketing obligations or requirements by 
the FDA or foreign regulatory authority to change our current product classifications which would impose additional regulatory 
obligations on us. The promotional claims we can make for Prosigna are limited to the indications for use in the United States 
as cleared by the FDA or outside the United States as authorized or certified by the applicable regulatory authority. If we are not 
able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may not be permitted to market our medical device products and/or may be subject 
to enforcement actions by the FDA or other governmental authorities such as the issuance of warning or untitled letters, fines, 
injunctions, and civil penalties; recall or seizure of products; operating restrictions; and criminal prosecution. In addition, we 
may be subject to similar regulatory regimes of foreign jurisdictions as we continue to commercialize our products in new 
markets outside of the United States and Europe. Adverse notified body, EU competent authority or FDA or global regulatory 
authority action in any of these areas could significantly increase our expenses and limit our revenue and profitability.

If we are unable to compete successfully, we may be unable to increase or sustain our revenue or achieve profitability.

Our principal competition for our tests comes from traditional methods used by physicians to diagnose and manage patient 
care decisions or diagnostic tests provided by other commercial and academic laboratories. For our Afirma genomic classifier, 
practice guidelines in the United States have historically recommended that patients with indeterminate diagnoses from 
cytopathology results be considered for surgery to remove all or part of the thyroid to rule out cancer. This practice has been the 
standard of care in the United States for many years, and we need to continue to educate physicians about the benefits of the 
Afirma genomic classifier to change clinical practice.

We also face competition from companies and academic institutions that use next generation sequencing technology or 
other methods to measure mutational markers such as BRAF and KRAS, along with numerous other mutations. These 
organizations include Interpace Diagnostics Group, Inc., CBLPath, Inc./University of Pittsburgh Medical Center and others 
who are developing new products or technologies that may compete with our tests. In the future, we may also face competition 
from companies developing new products or technologies.

Our Decipher Prostate test faces competition from Myriad Genetics and Exact Sciences, which offer genomic testing for 
prognostic purposes within localized prostate cancer.  Additionally, traditional methods used by pathologists and clinicians to 
estimate risk of disease progression pose competitive threats to our business. Companies combining these traditional methods 
with artificial intelligence could potentially emerge as competitors, but most of these technologies are currently in the research 
stage. In bladder cancer, we are not currently aware of a direct competitor offering genomic testing for prognostic purposes that 
match the intended use population for the Decipher Bladder test. However, DNA mutational analysis and traditional clinical 
methods and nomograms are currently in use by physicians for similar purposes.

We believe our primary competition in pulmonology with our Percepta and Envisia classifiers will similarly come from 
traditional methods used by physicians to diagnose the related diseases. For the Percepta test, we expect competition from 
companies focused on lung cancer such as Biodesix, Inc. We believe our principal competitor in the breast cancer diagnostics 
market is Exact Sciences, Inc., which currently commands a substantial majority of the market. Other competitors in the breast 
cancer diagnostics market include Myriad Genetics, Inc. and Agendia, Inc. As we expand our portfolio of tests to address 
clinical questions across the clinical care continuum, we may also face competition from companies focused on screening at-
risk patients for cancer or companies informing treatment decisions such as Guardant Health or Foundation Medicine, Inc. 
Competition could also emerge from competitors, including GRAIL, Inc. (which was acquired by our supplier Illumina Inc. in 
August 2021), using alternative samples, such as blood, urine or sputum. 

In general, we also face competition from commercial laboratories, such as Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings 
and Sonic Healthcare USA, with strong infrastructure to support the commercialization of diagnostic services. We face 
potential competition from companies such as Illumina, Inc. and Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., both of which have entered the 
clinical diagnostics market. Other potential competitors include companies that develop diagnostic products, such as Roche 
Diagnostics, a division of Roche Holding Ltd, Siemens AG and Qiagen N.V.

In addition, competitors may develop their own versions of our solutions in countries we may seek to enter where we do 
not have patents or where our intellectual property rights are not recognized and compete with us in those countries, including 
encouraging the use of their solutions by physicians in other countries.

To compete successfully, we must be able to demonstrate, among other things, that our diagnostic test results are accurate 
and cost effective, and we must secure a meaningful level of reimbursement for our products.
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Many of our potential competitors have widespread brand recognition and substantially greater financial, technical and 
research and development resources, and selling and marketing capabilities than we do. Others may develop products with 
prices lower than ours that could be viewed by physicians and payers as functionally equivalent to our solutions or offer 
solutions at prices designed to promote market penetration, which could force us to lower the list price of our solutions and 
affect our ability to achieve profitability. If we are unable to change clinical practice in a meaningful way or compete 
successfully against current and future competitors, we may be unable to increase market acceptance and sales of our products, 
which could prevent us from increasing our revenue or achieving profitability and could cause the market price of our common 
stock to decline. As we add new tests and services, we will face many of these same competitive risks for these new tests.

We have experienced significant changes in our senior management team, the loss of one or more of our executive 
officers, or any inability to attract and retain highly-skilled employees and other key personnel could adversely affect our 
business.

Our success depends in part on the skills, experience and performance of key members of our executive management team 
and others in key management positions. We have in the past and may in the future experience changes in our executive 
management, which may be disruptive to our business. Executive transitions may impact our ability to implement our business 
strategy and could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

In addition, our research and development programs and commercial laboratory operations depend on our ability to attract 
and retain highly skilled scientists. We may not be able to attract or retain qualified scientists and technicians in the future due 
to the intense competition for qualified personnel among life science businesses. Our success in the development and 
commercialization of advanced diagnostics requires a significant medical and clinical staff to conduct studies and educate 
physicians and payers on the merits of our tests in order to achieve adoption and reimbursement. We are in a highly competitive 
industry to attract and retain this talent, and the labor market in our industry is becoming increasingly competitive. Additionally, 
our success depends on our ability to attract and retain qualified sales-people. We recently significantly expanded our sales 
force as we invest in our multi-product sales strategy, which includes assignment of a single contact to successfully develop and 
implement relationships with our customers. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in maintaining and growing 
our business. Additionally, as we increase our sales channels for new tests we commercialize, including the Decipher Prostate, 
Prosigna, Percepta, Envisia, Decipher Bladder and Immunoscore tests, we may have difficulties recruiting and training 
additional sales personnel or retaining qualified sales-people, which could cause a delay or decline in the rate of adoption of our 
tests. Finally, our business requires specialized capabilities in reimbursement, billing, and other areas and there may be a 
shortage of qualified individuals. If we are not able to attract and retain the necessary personnel to accomplish our business 
objectives, we may experience constraints that could adversely affect our ability to support our research and development, 
clinical laboratory, sales and reimbursement, billing and finance efforts. All of our U.S. employees are at will, which means that 
either we or the employee may terminate their employment at any time. We do not carry key man insurance for any of our 
employees.

Billing for our diagnostic tests is complex, and we must dedicate substantial time and resources to the billing process to be 
paid.

Billing for clinical laboratory testing services is complex, time-consuming and expensive. Depending on the billing 
arrangement and applicable law, we bill various payers, including Medicare, insurance companies and patients, all of which 
have different billing requirements. We generally bill third-party payers for our diagnostic tests and pursue reimbursement on a 
case-by-case basis where pricing contracts are not in place. To the extent laws or contracts require us to bill patient co-payments 
or co-insurance, we must also comply with these requirements. We may also face increased risk in our collection efforts, 
including potential write-offs of accounts receivable and long collection cycles, which could adversely affect our business, 
results of operations and financial condition.

Several factors make the billing process complex, including:

• differences between the list price for our tests and the reimbursement rates of payers;

• compliance with complex federal and state regulations related to billing government payers, such as Medicare and 
Medicaid, including requirements to have an active CLIA certificate;
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• risk of government audits related to billing Medicare and other government payers;

• disputes among payers as to which party is responsible for payment;

• differences in coverage and in information and billing requirements among payers, including the need for prior 
authorization and/or advanced notification;

• the effect of patient co-payments or co-insurance;

• changes to billing codes used for our tests;

• incorrect or missing billing information; and

• the resources required to manage the billing and claims appeals process.

We use standard industry billing codes, known as CPT codes, to bill for cytopathology. Through December 31, 2020, we 
used the CPT code 81545 to bill for our Afirma classifier. Effective January 1, 2021, we began using the new CPT code 81546 
to bill for our Afirma classifier, and code 81545 was retired. Effective October 1, 2020, we began using the CPT code 0204U to 
bill for Afirma Xpression Atlas, and  CPT code 0208U to bill for Afirma MTC. Effective January 1, 2020, we began using  
CPT code 81542 to bill for Decipher Prostate Biopsy and Decipher Prostate RP tests. There is no CPT code for our Percepta 
classifier. Therefore, until such time that we are assigned and are able to use a designated CPT code specific to Percepta, we use 
“unlisted” codes for claim submissions, which can lead to delays in payers adjudicating our claims or denying payment 
altogether.  Effective January 1, 2021, we began using the new CPT code 81554 to bill for our Envisia classifier. Effective 
October 1, 2020, we began using  CPT code 0016M to bill for our Decipher Bladder test. Effective October 1, 2021, we began 
using the new CPT code 0261U to bill for the Immunoscore test. 

CPT codes can change over time. When codes change, there is a risk of an error being made in the claim adjudication 
process. These errors can occur with claims submission, third-party transmission or in the processing of the claim by the payer. 
Claim adjudication errors may result in a delay in payment processing or a reduction in the amount of the payment received. 
Coding changes, therefore, may have an adverse effect on our revenues. Even when we receive a designated CPT code specific 
to our tests, there can be no assurance that payers will recognize these codes in a timely manner or that the process of 
transitioning to such a code and updating their billing systems and ours will not result in errors, delays in payments and a 
related increase in accounts receivable balances.

As we introduce new tests, we will need to add new codes to our billing process as well as our financial reporting systems. 
Failure or delays in effecting these changes in external billing and internal systems and processes could negatively affect our 
collection rates, revenue and cost of collecting.

Correct coding is subject to the coding policies of the American Medical Association CPT Editorial Panel, or AMA CPT. 
With respect to claims submitted to Medicare and Medicaid, it is also subject to coding policies developed through the National 
Correct Coding Initiative, or NCCI. Other payers may develop their own payer-specific coding policies. The broader coding 
policies of the AMA CPT, NCCI, and other payers are subject to change. For instance, the NCCI adopted an update to its 
Coding Policy Manual effective January 1, 2019, to limit instances when multiple codes may be billed for molecular pathology 
testing. Although the NCCI appears to have moderated this change in its updates effective January 1, 2020, such coding policy 
changes may negatively affect our revenues and cash flow.

Additionally, our billing activities require us to implement compliance procedures and oversight, train and monitor our 
employees, challenge coverage and payment denials, assist patients in appealing claims, and undertake internal audits to 
evaluate compliance with applicable laws and regulations as well as internal compliance policies and procedures. Payers also 
conduct external audits to evaluate payments, which adds further complexity to the billing process. If the payer makes an 
overpayment determination, there is a risk that we may be required to return some portion of prior payments we have received. 
Additionally, the ACA established a requirement for providers and suppliers to report and return any overpayments received 
from government payers under the Medicare and Medicaid programs within 60 days of identification. Failure to identify and 
return such overpayments exposes the provider or supplier to liability under federal false claims laws. These billing 
complexities, and the related uncertainty in obtaining payment for our tests, could negatively affect our revenue and cash flow, 
our ability to achieve profitability, and the consistency and comparability of our results of operations.
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We rely on a third-party provider to transmit claims to payers, and any delay in transmitting claims could have an adverse 
effect on our revenue.

While we manage the overall processing of claims, we rely on a third-party provider to transmit the actual claims to 
payers based on the specific payer billing format. We have previously experienced delays in claims processing when our third-
party provider made changes to its invoicing system, and again when it did not submit claims to payers within the timeframe we 
require. Additionally, coding for diagnostic tests may change, and such changes may cause short-term billing errors that may 
take significant time to resolve. If claims are not submitted to payers on a timely basis or are erroneously submitted, or if we are 
required to switch to a different provider to handle claim submissions, we may experience delays in our ability to process these 
claims and receipt of payments from payers, or possibly denial of claims for lack of timely submission, which would have an 
adverse effect on our revenue and our business.

If our internal sales force is less successful than anticipated, our business expansion plans could suffer and our ability to 
generate revenues could be diminished. In addition, we have limited history selling our molecular diagnostics tests on a 
direct basis and our limited history makes forecasting difficult.

If our internal sales force is not successful or new additions to our sales team fail to gain traction among our customers, 
we may not be able to increase market awareness and sales of our molecular diagnostic tests. If we fail to establish our 
molecular diagnostic tests in the marketplace, it could have a negative effect on our ability to sell subsequent molecular 
diagnostic tests and hinder the desired expansion of our business. We have growing, however limited, historical experience 
forecasting the direct sales of our molecular diagnostics products. Our ability to produce test volumes that meet customer 
demand is dependent upon our ability to forecast accurately and plan production capacities accordingly.

Developing new products involves a lengthy and complex process, and if we do not achieve our projected development and 
commercialization goals in the time frames we announce and expect, our business will suffer and our stock price may 
decline.

From time to time, we expect to estimate and publicly announce the anticipated timing of the accomplishment of various 
clinical and other product development goals. The actual timing of accomplishment of these targets could vary dramatically 
compared to our estimates, in some cases for reasons beyond our control, including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. We 
cannot be certain that we will meet our projected targets and if we do not meet these targets as publicly announced, the 
commercialization of our diagnostic solutions may be delayed or may not occur at all and, as a result, our business will suffer 
and our stock price may decline.

We continually seek to develop enhancements to our current test offerings and additional diagnostic tests that requires us 
to devote considerable resources to research and development. We may face challenges obtaining sufficient numbers of samples 
to validate a genomic signature for a molecular diagnostic product. After launching new products, we still must complete 
studies that meet the clinical evidence required to obtain reimbursement. Moreover, we may experience delays in the 
development and introduction of new products due to the effects of the current COVID-19 pandemic.

In order to develop and commercialize diagnostic tests, we need to:

• expend significant funds to conduct substantial research and development;
• conduct successful analytical and clinical studies;
• scale our laboratory processes to accommodate new tests; and
• build the commercial, regulatory, and compliance infrastructure to market and sell new products.

Our product development process involves a high degree of risk and may take several years. Our product development 
efforts may fail for many reasons, including:

• failure to identify a genomic signature in biomarker discovery;
• inability to secure sufficient numbers of samples at an acceptable cost and on an acceptable timeframe to conduct 

analytical and clinical studies; or
• failure of clinical validation studies to support the effectiveness of the test.
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Typically, few research and development projects result in commercial products, and success in early clinical studies often 
is not replicated in later studies. At any point, we may abandon development of a product candidate, or we may be required to 
expend considerable resources repeating clinical studies, which would adversely affect the timing for generating potential 
revenue from a new product and our ability to invest in other products in our pipeline. If a clinical validation study fails to 
demonstrate the prospectively defined endpoints of the study or if we fail to sufficiently demonstrate analytical validity, we 
might choose to abandon the development of the product, which could harm our business. In addition, competitors may develop 
and commercialize competing products or technologies faster than us or at a lower cost.

If we cannot enter into new clinical study collaborations, our product development and subsequent commercialization 
could be delayed.

In the past, we have entered into clinical study collaborations, and our success in the future depends in part on our ability 
to enter into additional collaborations with highly regarded institutions. This can be difficult due to internal and external 
constraints placed on these organizations. Some organizations may limit the number of collaborations they have with any one 
company so as to not be perceived as biased or conflicted. Organizations may also have insufficient administrative and related 
infrastructure to enable collaboration with many companies at once, which can extend the time it takes to develop, negotiate and 
implement a collaboration. Moreover, it may take longer to obtain the samples we need which could delay our studies, 
publications, and product launches and reimbursement. Additionally, organizations often insist on retaining the rights to publish 
the clinical data resulting from the collaboration. The publication of clinical data in peer-reviewed journals is a crucial step in 
commercializing and obtaining reimbursement for our diagnostic tests, and our inability to control when and if results are 
published may delay or limit our ability to derive sufficient revenue from them.

If we are unable to develop products to keep pace with rapid technological, medical and scientific change, our operating 
results and competitive position could be harmed.

In recent years, there have been numerous advances in technologies relating to diagnostics, particularly diagnostics that 
are based on genomic information. These advances require us to continuously develop our technology and to work to develop 
new solutions to keep pace with evolving standards of care. Our solutions could become obsolete unless we continually 
innovate and expand our product offerings to include new clinical applications. If we are unable to develop new products or to 
demonstrate the applicability of our products for other diseases, our sales could decline, and our competitive position could be 
harmed.

Our Loan and Security Agreement provides our lenders with a first-priority lien against substantially all of our assets, 
excluding our intellectual property, and contains financial covenants and other restrictions on our actions, which could 
limit our operational flexibility and otherwise adversely affect our financial condition.

Our Loan and Security Agreement restricts our ability to, among other things, incur liens, make investments, incur 
indebtedness, merge with or acquire other entities, dispose of assets, make dividends or other distributions to holders of its 
equity interests, engage in any new line of business, or enter into certain transactions with affiliates, in each case subject to 
certain exceptions. It also requires us to achieve certain revenue levels tested quarterly on a trailing twelve-month basis. 
However, failure to maintain the revenue levels will not be considered a default if the sum of our unrestricted cash and cash 
equivalents maintained with Silicon Valley Bank and amount available under the Revolving Line of Credit is at least $40.0 
million. Our ability to comply with these and other covenants is dependent upon a number of factors, some of which are beyond 
our control.

Our failure to comply with the financial covenants, or the occurrence of other events specified in our Loan and Security 
Agreement, could result in an event of default under the Loan and Security Agreement, which would give our lenders the right 
to terminate their commitments to provide additional loans under the Loan and Security Agreement and to declare all 
borrowings outstanding, together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees, to be immediately due and payable. In addition, we 
have granted our lenders a first-priority lien against all of our assets, excluding our intellectual property, as collateral. Failure to 
comply with the covenants or other restrictions in the Loan and Security Agreement could result in a default. If the debt under 
our Loan and Security Agreement was to be accelerated, we may not have sufficient cash on hand or be able to sell sufficient 
collateral to repay it, which would have an immediate adverse effect on our business and operating results. This could 
potentially cause us to cease operations and result in a complete loss of your investment in our common stock.
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Complying with numerous statutes and regulations pertaining to our business is an expensive and time-consuming 
process, and any failure to comply could result in substantial penalties.

Our operations are subject to other extensive federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations, all of which are subject 
to change. These laws and regulations currently include, among others:

• the Federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which established comprehensive 
federal standards with respect to the privacy and security of protected health information and requirements for the use 
of certain standardized electronic transactions, and amendments made in 2013 to HIPAA under the Health Information 
Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, which strengthen and expand HIPAA privacy and 
security compliance requirements, increase penalties for violators, extend enforcement authority to state attorneys 
general, and impose requirements for breach notification;

• Medicare billing and payment regulations applicable to clinical laboratories, including requirements to have an active 
CLIA certificate;

• the Federal Anti-kickback Statute (and state equivalents), which prohibits knowingly and willfully offering, paying, 
soliciting, or receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an 
individual, or the furnishing, arranging for, or recommending of an item or service that is reimbursable, in whole or in 
part, by a federal healthcare program;

• the Eliminating Kickbacks in Recovery Act of 2018, which prohibits the solicitation, receipt, payment or offering of 
any remuneration in return for referring a patient or patronage to a recovery home, clinical treatment facility, or 
laboratory for services covered by both government and private payers;

• the Federal Stark physician self-referral law (and state equivalents), which prohibits a physician from making a referral 
for certain designated health services covered by the Medicare program, including laboratory and pathology services, 
if the physician or an immediate family member has a financial relationship with the entity providing the designated 
health services, unless the financial relationship falls within an applicable exception to the prohibition;

• the Federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which prohibits, among other things, the offering or transfer of 
remuneration to a Medicare or state health care program beneficiary if the person knows or should know it is likely to 
influence the beneficiary’s selection of a particular provider, practitioner, or supplier of services reimbursable by 
Medicare or a state health care program, unless an exception applies;

• the Federal False Claims Act, which imposes liability on any person or entity who knowingly presents, or causes to be 
presented, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim for payment to the federal government;

• the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, enacted as part of the ACA, which imposes annual reporting requirements on 
manufacturers of certain devices, drugs and biologics for certain payments and transfers of value by them and in some 
cases their distributors to covered recipients, including physicians, as defined by such law, teaching hospitals, and 
certain healthcare providers as well as ownership or investment interests that physicians or physicians’ immediate 
family members hold with the reporting entity;

• other federal and state fraud and abuse laws, such as anti-kickback laws, prohibitions on self-referral, fee-splitting 
restrictions, prohibitions on the provision of products at no or discounted cost to induce physician or patient adoption, 
and false claims acts, which may extend to services reimbursable by any third-party payer, including private insurers;

• the prohibition on reassignment of Medicare claims, which, subject to certain exceptions, precludes the reassignment 
of Medicare claims to any other party;

• the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014, which requires us to report private payer rates and test volumes for 
specific CPT codes on a triennial basis and imposes penalties for failures to report, omissions, or misrepresentations;
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• the No Surprises Act and its implementing regulations (effective January 1, 2022), which prohibit an out-of-network 
provider from billing a patient at an amount in excess of the in-network cost sharing for services furnished with respect 
to a visit at certain in-network health care facilities, as well as various state laws restricting balance billing of patients; 

• the rules regarding billing for diagnostic tests reimbursable by the Medicare program, which prohibit a physician or 
other supplier from marking up the price of the technical component or professional component of a diagnostic test 
ordered by the physician or other supplier and supervised or performed by a physician who does not “share a practice” 
with the billing physician or supplier;

• state laws that prohibit other specified practices related to billing such as billing physicians for testing that they order, 
waiving co-insurance, co-payments, deductibles, and other amounts owed by patients, and billing a state Medicaid 
program at a price that is higher than what is charged to other payers;

• the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, and other similar laws, which apply to our international activities;

• unclaimed property (escheat) laws and regulations, which may require us to turn over to governmental authorities the 
property of others held by us that has been unclaimed for a specified period of time; 

• enforcing our intellectual property rights; and

• foreign laws and regulations equivalent to the above.

We have adopted policies and procedures designed to comply with applicable laws and regulations. In the ordinary course 
of our business, we conduct internal reviews of our compliance with these laws. Our compliance with some of these laws and 
regulations is also subject to governmental review. The growth of our business and sales organization and our expansion 
outside of the United States may increase the potential of violating these laws or our internal policies and procedures. We 
believe that we are in material compliance with all statutory and regulatory requirements, but there is a risk that one or more 
government agencies could take a contrary position.

In recent years U.S. Attorneys’ Offices have increased scrutiny of the healthcare industry, as have Congress, the 
Department of Justice, the Department of Health and Human Services’ Office of the Inspector General and the Department of 
Defense. These bodies have all issued subpoenas and other requests for information to conduct investigations of, and 
commenced civil and criminal litigation against, healthcare companies based on financial arrangements with health care 
providers, regulatory compliance, product promotional practices and documentation, and coding and billing practices. 
Whistleblowers have filed numerous qui tam lawsuits against healthcare companies under the federal and state False Claims 
Acts in recent years, in part because the whistleblower can receive a portion of the government’s recovery under such suits.

Many member states in the EU have adopted specific anti-gift statutes that further limit commercial practices for medical 
devices (including IVD MDs), in particular vis-à-vis healthcare professionals and organizations. Additionally, there has been a 
recent trend of increased regulation of payments and transfers of value provided to healthcare professionals or entities and many 
EU member states have adopted national “Sunshine Acts” which impose reporting and transparency requirements (often on an 
annual basis), similar to the requirements in the United States, on medical device manufacturers.

These laws and regulations are complex and are subject to interpretation by the courts and by government agencies. If one 
or more such agencies alleges that we may be in violation of any of these requirements, regardless of the outcome, it could 
damage our reputation and adversely affect important business relationships with third parties, including managed care 
organizations and other commercial third-party payers. Any action brought against us for violation of these or other laws or 
regulations, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our 
management’s attention from the operation of our business. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws 
and regulations, we may be subject to any applicable penalty associated with the violation, including civil and criminal 
penalties, damages and fines, we could be required to refund payments received by us, and we could be required to curtail or 
cease our operations. Any of the foregoing consequences could seriously harm our business and our financial results.
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If we use hazardous materials in a manner that causes contamination or injury, we could be liable for resulting damages.

We are subject to federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations governing the use, discharge, storage, handling and 
disposal of biological material, chemicals and waste. We cannot eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury to 
employees or third parties from the use, storage, handling or disposal of these materials. In the event of contamination or injury, 
we could be held liable for any resulting damages, remediation costs and any related penalties or fines, and any liability could 
exceed our resources or any applicable insurance coverage we may have. The cost of compliance with these laws and 
regulations may become significant, and our failure to comply may result in substantial fines or other consequences, and either 
could negatively affect our operating results.

International expansion of our business exposes us to business, regulatory, political, operational, financial and economic 
risks associated with doing business outside of the United States.

Our business strategy includes international expansion in select countries and may include developing and maintaining 
physician outreach and education capabilities outside of the United States, establishing agreements with laboratories, and 
expanding our relationships with international payers. In 2021, we acquired HalioDx, a France based immuno-oncology 
diagnostics company, with global operations.  Doing business internationally involves a number of risks, including:

• multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regulations such as tax laws, privacy laws, export and import restrictions, 
employment laws, regulatory requirements and other governmental approvals, permits and licenses;

• failure by us to obtain regulatory approvals or certifications where required for the use of our solutions in various 
countries;

• complexities associated with managing multiple payer reimbursement regimes, government payers or patient self-pay 
systems;

• logistics and regulations associated with shipping tissue samples, including infrastructure conditions and transportation 
delays;

• challenges associated with establishing laboratory partners, including proper sample collection techniques, 
management of supplies, sample logistics, billing and promotional activities;

• limits on our ability to penetrate international markets if we are not able to process tests locally;

• financial risks, such as longer payment cycles, difficulty in collecting from payers, the effect of local and regional 
financial crises, and exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

• natural disasters, political and economic instability, including wars, terrorism, and political unrest, outbreak of disease, 
including COVID-19, boycotts, curtailment of trade and other business restrictions; and

• regulatory and compliance risks that relate to maintaining accurate information and control over activities that may fall 
within the purview of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, including both its books and records provisions and 
its anti-bribery provisions.

Any of these factors could significantly harm our future international expansion and operations and, consequently, our 
revenue and results of operations.

Our operating results may be adversely affected by unfavorable economic and market conditions.

Our business or financial results may be adversely impacted by uncertain economic conditions, including: the impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, adverse changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, tax laws or tax rates; inflation; 
contraction in the availability of credit in the marketplace due to legislation or other economic conditions, which may 
potentially impair our ability to access the capital markets on terms acceptable to us or at all; and the effects of government 
initiatives to manage economic conditions. Many of the countries in which we operate, including the U.S. and those in Europe, 
have experienced and continue to experience uncertain economic conditions, including increased inflation rates, resulting from 
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global as well as local factors. For example, on June 23, 2016, the UK, held a referendum pursuant to which voters elected to 
leave the EU, commonly referred to as Brexit. The UK formally left the EU on January 31, 2020 and began a transition period 
that ended on December 31, 2020. Although the impact of Brexit is evolving, and the UK is in the process of negotiating trade 
deals with other countries, Brexit has created additional uncertainties that may ultimately result in new regulatory costs and 
challenges for companies and increased restrictions on imports and exports throughout Europe, which could adversely affect 
our ability to conduct and expand our operations in Europe and which may have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. Additionally, Brexit may increase the possibility that other countries may decide to leave 
the European Union in the future.

Moreover, we cannot predict how future economic conditions will affect our customers, suppliers and distributors and any 
negative impact on our critical customers, suppliers or distributors may also have an adverse impact on our results of operations 
or financial condition. A severe or prolonged economic downturn, as result of a global pandemic such as the COVID-19 
pandemic or otherwise, could result in a variety of risks to our business, including weakened demand for our products and 
services and our ability to raise additional capital when needed on favorable terms, if at all. A weak or declining economy could 
strain our collaborators, possibly resulting in supply disruption, or cause delays in their payments to us. Any of the foregoing 
could harm our business and we cannot anticipate all of the ways in which the current economic climate and financial market 
conditions could adversely impact our business.

Our reliance on distributors for sales of our products outside of the United States, and on clinical laboratories for delivery 
of Prosigna testing services, could limit or prevent us from selling our products and impact our revenue.

We have established distribution agreements for the nCounter Analysis System for diagnostic use and related diagnostic 
kit products in certain countries where we do not sell directly. We intend to continue to grow our business internationally, and 
to do so we must attract additional distributors and retain existing distributors to maximize the commercial opportunity for our 
products. There is no guarantee that we will be successful in attracting or retaining desirable sales and distribution partners or 
that we will be able to enter into such arrangements on favorable terms. Distributors may not commit the necessary resources to 
market and sell our products to the level of our expectations or may choose to favor marketing the products of our competitors. 
If current or future distributors do not perform adequately, or we are unable to enter into effective arrangements with 
distributors in particular geographic areas, we may not realize long-term international revenue growth.

Similarly, we or our distributors have entered into agreements with clinical laboratories globally to provide Prosigna 
testing services. We do not provide testing services directly and, thus, we are reliant on these clinical laboratories to actively 
promote and sell Prosigna testing services. These clinical laboratories may take longer than anticipated to begin offering 
Prosigna testing services and may not commit the necessary resources to market and sell Prosigna testing services to the level of 
our expectations. Furthermore, we intend to contract with additional clinical laboratories to offer Prosigna testing services, 
including physician-owned laboratories, and we may be unsuccessful in attracting and contracting with new clinical laboratory 
providers. If current or future Prosigna testing service providers do not perform adequately, or we are unable to enter into 
contracts with additional clinical laboratories to provide Prosigna testing services, we may not be successful selling Prosigna 
and our future revenue prospects may be adversely affected.

Errors or defects in our products or services could harm our reputation, decrease market acceptance of our products or 
services or expose us to product liability claims, and we could face substantial liabilities that exceed our resources.

We are creating new tests, products and services, many of which are initially based on novel technologies. Our new tests 
and products may contain undetected errors or defects that are not identified until after they are first introduced to the market. 
As all of our tests, products and services progress, we or others may determine that we made unintended scientific or 
technological mistakes or omissions. Furthermore, the testing processes utilize a number of complex and sophisticated 
biochemical, informatics, optical and mechanical processes, many of which are highly sensitive to external factors and variation 
between testing runs. Refinements to our processes may initially result in unanticipated issues that reduce efficiency or increase 
variability. In particular, sequencing, which is a key component of these processes, could be inefficient with higher-than-
expected variability. This could increase total sequencing costs and reduce the number of samples we can process in a given 
time period, which may negatively impact customer turnaround time. Additionally, our laboratory operations could result in any 
number of errors or defects. Our quality assurance system or product development processes may fail to prevent us from 
inadvertent problems with samples, sample quality, lab processes including sequencing, software, data upload or analysis, raw 
materials, reagent manufacturing, assay quality or design, or other components or processes. Moreover, our assays may have 
quality or design errors, and we may have inadequate procedures or instrumentation to process samples, assemble our 
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proprietary primer mixes and commercial materials, upload and analyze data, or otherwise conduct our laboratory operations. 
Additionally, the marketing, sale and use of our current or future tests could lead to product liability claims if someone were to 
allege that the tests failed to perform as they were designed. We may also be subject to liability for errors in the results we 
provide to physicians or for a misunderstanding of, or inappropriate reliance upon, the information we provide. Our Afirma 
classifiers are performed on FNA samples that are diagnosed as indeterminate by standard cytopathology review. We report 
results as benign or suspicious to the prescribing physician. Under certain circumstances, we might report a result as benign that 
later proves to have been malignant. This could be the result of the physician having poor nodule sampling in collecting the 
FNA, performing the FNA on a different nodule than the one that is malignant or failure of the classifier to perform as intended. 
We may also be subject to similar types of claims related to our Decipher Prostate, Prosigna, Percepta, Envisia, Decipher 
Bladder and Immunoscore tests, as well as tests we may develop or acquire in the future. 

Any of the foregoing defects or errors could harm our reputation, decrease market acceptance of our products or services 
or expose us to product liability claims.  A product liability or errors and omissions liability claim could further result in 
substantial damages and be costly and time consuming for us to defend. Although we maintain product liability and errors and 
omissions insurance, we cannot assure you that our insurance would fully protect us from the financial impact of defending 
against these types of claims or any judgments, fines or settlement costs arising out of any such claims. Any product liability or 
errors and omissions liability claim brought against us, with or without merit, could increase our insurance rates or prevent us 
from securing insurance coverage in the future.  Additionally, any product liability lawsuit could cause injury to our reputation, 
decrease market acceptance of our products or cause us to recall or suspend sales of our products and solutions. The occurrence 
of any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Our business is subject to the risk of disruptions caused by pandemics, political events, war, terrorism, earthquakes, fire, 
power outages, floods, and other catastrophic events.

War, terrorism, geopolitical uncertainties, trade restrictions, public health issues, natural disasters and other catastrophic 
events may cause damage or disruption to the economy and commerce on a global, regional or country-specific basis, and could 
disrupt supply or delivery of, or demand for, our products. For example, the COVID-19 outbreak has had, and we expect will 
continue to have, a negative effect on consumer confidence and spending, and other impacts, which could adversely affect our 
business.

If a catastrophe strikes any of our laboratories or if any of our laboratories becomes inoperable for any other reason, we 
will be unable to perform our testing services and our business will be harmed.

We perform all of the Afirma, Percepta and Envisia genomic classifier testing at our laboratory in South San Francisco, 
California, near major earthquake faults known for seismic activity and in a region affected by wildfires. We perform our 
urology tests in our laboratory in San Diego, California. Our laboratory in Austin, Texas accepts and stores the majority of our 
Afirma FNA samples pending transfer to our California laboratory for genomic test processing. Our laboratory in Richmond, 
Virginia performs our Immunoscore test. The laboratories and equipment we use to perform our tests would be costly to replace 
and could require substantial lead time to replace and qualify for use if they became inoperable. Either of our facilities may be 
harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, including earthquakes, flooding and power outages, which 
may render it difficult or impossible for us to perform our testing services for some period of time or to receive and store 
samples. The inability to perform our tests for even a short period of time may result in the loss of customers or harm our 
reputation, and we may be unable to regain those customers in the future. Although we maintain insurance for damage to our 
property and the disruption of our business, this insurance may not be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses and may not 
continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all.

Our inability to raise additional capital on acceptable terms in the future may limit our ability to develop and 
commercialize new solutions and technologies and expand our operations.

We expect continued capital expenditures and operating losses over the next few years as we expand our infrastructure, 
commercial operations and research and development activities. We may seek to raise additional capital through equity 
offerings, debt financings, collaborations or licensing arrangements. Additional funding may not be available to us on 
acceptable terms, or at all. If we raise funds by issuing equity securities, dilution to our stockholders could result. Any equity 
securities issued also may provide for rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock. The 
terms of debt securities issued or borrowings could impose significant restrictions on our operations. The incurrence of 
additional indebtedness or the issuance of certain equity securities could result in increased fixed payment obligations and could 
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also result in restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt or issue additional equity, 
limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual property rights, and other operating restrictions that could adversely 
affect our ability to conduct our business. Our Loan and Security Agreement imposes restrictions on our operations, increases 
our fixed payment obligations, and has restrictive covenants. In addition, the issuance of additional equity securities by us, or 
the possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our common stock to decline. In the event that we enter into 
collaborations or licensing arrangements to raise capital, we may be required to accept unfavorable terms. These agreements 
may require that we relinquish or license to a third-party on unfavorable terms our rights to technologies or product candidates 
that we otherwise would seek to develop or commercialize ourselves, or reserve certain opportunities for future potential 
arrangements when we might be able to achieve more favorable terms. The trading prices for our common stock and other 
biotechnology companies have been highly volatile as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, which may reduce our ability to 
access capital on favorable terms or at all. In addition, a recession, depression or other sustained adverse market event resulting 
from the spread of COVID-19 could materially and adversely affect our business and the value of our common stock. If we are 
not able to secure additional funding when needed, we may have to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more research 
and development programs or selling and marketing initiatives. In addition, we may have to work with a partner on one or more 
of our products or development programs, which could lower the economic value of those programs to our company.

Security breaches, loss of data and other disruptions to our or our third-party service providers' data systems could 
compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us from accessing critical information and expose us to 
liability, which could adversely affect our business and our reputation.

In the ordinary course of our business, we and our third-party service providers collect and store sensitive data, including 
legally protected health information, personally identifiable information about our patients, credit card information, intellectual 
property, and our proprietary business and financial information. We manage and maintain our applications and data utilizing a 
combination of on-site systems, managed data center systems and cloud-based data center systems. We face a number of risks 
related to our protection of, and our service providers’ protection of, this critical information, including loss of access, 
inappropriate disclosure and inappropriate access, as well as risks associated with our ability to identify and audit such events. 
System failures or outages, including any potential disruptions due to significantly increased global demand on certain cloud-
based systems during the COVID-19 pandemic, could compromise our ability to protect sensitive information and prevent 
business interference, which could harm our ability to conduct business and/or delay our financial reporting. Such failures could 
materially adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

The secure processing, storage, maintenance and transmission of this critical information is vital to our operations and 
business strategy, and we devote significant resources to protecting such information. Although we take measures to protect 
sensitive information from unauthorized access or disclosure, our information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable 
to attacks by hackers or viruses or otherwise breached due to employee error, malfeasance or other activities. While we are not 
currently aware of any such attack or breach having occurred, if such event were to occur and cause interruptions in our 
operations, our networks would be compromised and the information we store on those networks could potentially be accessed 
by unauthorized parties, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could result 
in legal claims or proceedings, liability, and penalties under federal, state, and international laws and regulations that protect the 
privacy and security of personal information, such as the HIPAA regulations and the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or 
GDPR. Unauthorized access, loss or dissemination of such data also could disrupt our operations, including our ability to 
process tests, provide test results, bill payers or patients, process claims and appeals, provide customer assistance services, 
conduct research and development activities, collect, process and prepare company financial information, provide information 
about our tests and other patient and physician education and outreach efforts through our website, and manage the 
administrative aspects of our business, any of which could adversely affect our business, including by materially damaging our 
reputation.

In addition, the interpretation and application of consumer, health-related and data protection laws in the United States, 
Europe and elsewhere are often uncertain, contradictory and in flux. It is possible that these laws may be interpreted and 
enforced in a manner that we have not anticipated in designing our practices and compliance policies. If so, this could result in 
government-imposed fines or orders requiring that we change our practices, which could adversely affect our business. Certain 
health-related and data protection requirements have been modified under section 319 of the Public Health Service Act during 
the Public Health Emergency, or PHE,  first declared January 31, 2020, which was most recently extended effective July 20, 
2021. We cannot predict when the PHE declaration will be lifted.  In addition, we are subject to various state laws, including 
the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, which, among other things, requires covered companies to provide disclosures 
to California consumers concerning the collection and sale of personal information, and gives such consumers the right to opt 
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out of certain sales of personal information. Amendments to the CCPA have been made since its enactment in 2018, and it 
remains unclear what, if any, further amendments will be made to this legislation or how it will be interpreted. We cannot yet 
predict the impact of the CCPA on our business or operations, but it may require us to modify our data processing practices and 
policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply.

Risks associated with data privacy issues, including evolving laws, regulations and associated compliance efforts, may 
adversely impact our business and financial results.

Legislation in various countries around the world with regard to cybersecurity, privacy and data protection is rapidly 
expanding and creating a complex compliance environment. We are subject to many federal, state, and foreign laws and 
regulations, including those related to privacy, rights of publicity, data protection, content regulation, intellectual property, 
health and safety, competition, protection of minors, consumer protection, employment, and taxation. 

Recent developments in Europe have created compliance uncertainty regarding the processing of personal data from 
Europe. For example, the GDPR, which became effective in the EU on May 25, 2018, applies to our activities conducted from 
an establishment in the EU or related to products and services that we offer to EU users. The GDPR imposed new compliance 
obligations applicable to our business, including accountability obligations requiring data controllers and processors to maintain 
a record of their data processing and implement policies as part of its mandated privacy governance framework. It also requires 
data controllers to be transparent and to disclose to data subjects how their personal data is to be used, protected, and shared; 
imposes limitations on retention of personal data; introduces mandatory data breach notification requirements; and sets higher 
standards for data controllers to demonstrate that they have obtained valid consent for certain data processing activities. 
Continued compliance with these obligations could cause us to change our business practices, and we risk financial penalties 
for noncompliance (including possible fines of up to 4% of global annual turnover for the preceding financial year or €20 
million (whichever is higher) for the most serious infringements). In addition, the GDPR prohibits the transfer of personal data 
from the EEA to the United States and other jurisdictions that the European Commission does not recognize as having 
“adequate” data protection laws unless a data-protective transfer mechanism has been put in place. On July 16, 2020, the Court 
of Justice of the European Union, or CJEU, issued a decision undermining the validity of the data-protective transfer 
mechanisms previously relied on, creating widespread uncertainty about compliance with the GDPR rules on data transfers to 
non-“adequate” jurisdictions.

While the CJEU generally confirmed the validity of the European Commission-approved “Standard Contractual Clauses”, 
or SCCs, as a personal data-protective transfer mechanism, it made clear that reliance on the SCCs alone may not necessarily be 
sufficient in all circumstances. Use of the SCCs must now be assessed on a case-by-case basis taking into account the legal 
regime applicable in the destination country, in particular applicable surveillance laws and rights of individuals and additional 
measures and/or contractual provisions may need to be put in place, however, the nature of these additional measures is 
currently uncertain. In response to the CJEU decision, the European Commission has published revised SCCs; existing SCC 
arrangements must be migrated to the revised SCCs by December 27, 2022. We must implement the revised SCCs, in relation 
to relevant existing contracts and certain additional contracts and arrangements, by that date. In addition, the revised SCCs are 
not to be relied on for data transfers to non-EEA entities subject to the GDPR, and we are waiting for further guidance on valid 
mechanisms for data transfers from the EEA to such entities.

Following the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the EEA and the EU, and the expiry of the transition period, companies 
have to comply with both the GDPR and the GDPR as incorporated into United Kingdom national law, the latter regime having 
the ability to separately fine up to the greater of £17.5 million or 4% of global turnover.  The European Commission has 
adopted an adequacy decision in favor of the United Kingdom, enabling data transfers from EU member states to the United 
Kingdom without additional safeguards. However, the UK adequacy decision will automatically expire in June 2025 unless the 
European Commission re-assesses and renews/ extends that decision, and remains under review by the Commission during this 
period. The relationship between the United Kingdom and the EU in relation to certain aspects of data protection law remains 
unclear, and it is unclear how UK data protection laws and regulations will develop in the medium to longer term, and how data 
transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be regulated in the long term. These developments may lead to additional costs 
and increase our overall risk exposure.

In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including federal health information privacy laws, 
state data breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws and federal and state consumer protection laws (e.g., 
Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act), that govern the collection, use, disclosure and protection of health-related and 
other personal information could apply to our operations or the operations of our collaborators. In addition, we may obtain 
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health information from third parties (including research institutions from which we obtain clinical trial data) that are subject to 
privacy and security requirements under HIPAA, as amended by HITECH. Depending on the facts and circumstances, we could 
be subject to civil and criminal penalties if we obtain, use, or disclose individually identifiable health information maintained by 
a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA. 

The state of California recently enacted the CCPA, which creates new individual privacy rights for California consumers 
and places increased privacy and data security obligations on entities handling personal information of consumers or 
households. The CCPA went into effect on January 1, 2020 and may impact our business activities and exemplifies the 
vulnerability of our business to the evolving regulatory environment related to personal information and protected health 
information. Additionally, although not effective until January 1, 2023, the California Privacy Rights Act, or the CPRA, which 
expands upon the CCPA, was passed in the election on November 3, 2020. The CCPA gives (and the CPRA will give) 
California residents expanded privacy rights, including the right to request correction, access, and deletion of their personal 
information, the right to opt out of certain personal information sharing, and the right to receive detailed information about how 
their personal information is processed. The CCPA and CPRA provide for civil penalties and a private right of action for data 
breaches that is expected to increase data breach litigation. The CCPA and CPRA may increase our compliance costs and 
potential liability. Additionally, the CCPA has prompted a number of proposals for new federal and state- level privacy 
legislation, such as in New York, Virginia, Washington, Illinois, and Nebraska, that, could increase our potential liability, 
increase our compliance costs, and adversely affect our business.

Other countries outside of the United States and Europe have enacted or are considering enacting similar cross-border data 
transfer restrictions and laws requiring local data residency and restricting cross-border data transfer, which could increase the 
cost and complexity of delivering our services and operating our business. For example, Brazil recently enacted the General 
Data Protection Law (Lei Geral de Proteção de Dados Pessoais or LGPD) (Law No. 13,709/2018), which broadly regulates the 
processing of personal information and imposes compliance obligations and penalties comparable to those of the GDPR.

These recent developments are likely to require us to review and amend the legal mechanisms by which we make and/ or 
receive personal data transfers to/in the United States and other countries outside of the EEA. As supervisory authorities issue 
further guidance on personal data export mechanisms, including circumstances where the SCCs cannot be used, and/or 
commence enforcement actions, we could suffer additional costs, complaints and/or regulatory investigations or fines, and/or if 
we are otherwise unable to transfer personal data between and among countries and regions in which we operate, it could affect 
the manner in which we provide our services and/or the geographical location or segregation of our relevant systems and 
operations, and could adversely affect our financial results.

If we cannot license rights to use technologies on reasonable terms, we may not be able to commercialize new products in 
the future.

In the future, we may license third-party technology to develop or commercialize new products. In return for the use of a 
third-party’s technology, we may agree to pay the licensor royalties based on sales of our solutions. Royalties are a component 
of cost of revenue and affect the margins on our solutions. We may also need to negotiate licenses to patents and patent 
applications after introducing a commercial product. Our business may suffer if we are unable to enter into the necessary 
licenses on acceptable terms, or at all, if any necessary licenses are subsequently terminated, if the licensors fail to abide by the 
terms of the license or fail to prevent infringement by third parties, or if the licensed patents or other rights are found to be 
invalid or unenforceable.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property effectively, our business would be harmed.

We rely on patent protection as well as trademark, copyright, trade secret and other intellectual property rights protection 
and contractual restrictions to protect our proprietary technologies, all of which provide limited protection and may not 
adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. If we fail to protect our intellectual 
property, third parties may be able to compete more effectively against us and we may incur substantial litigation costs in our 
attempts to recover or restrict use of our intellectual property.

We apply for and in-license patents covering our products and technologies and uses thereof, as we deem appropriate, 
however we may fail to apply for patents on important products and technologies in a timely fashion or at all, or we may fail to 
apply for patents in potentially relevant jurisdictions. Our issued patents expire between 2021 and 2038 and are related to 

58



methods used in thyroid diagnostics, urological diagnostics, breast cancer diagnostics, lung diagnostics, colorectal cancer 
diagnostics and the nCounter Analysis System.

It is possible that none of our pending patent applications will result in issued patents in a timely fashion or at all, and 
even if patents are granted, they may not provide a basis for intellectual property protection of commercially viable products, 
may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be challenged and invalidated by third parties. It is possible that 
others will design around our current or future patented technologies. We may not be successful in defending any challenges 
made against our patents or patent applications. Any successful third-party challenge to our patents could result in the 
unenforceability or invalidity of such patents and increased competition to our business. The outcome of patent litigation can be 
uncertain and any attempt by us to enforce our patent rights against others may not be successful, or, if successful, may take 
substantial time and result in substantial cost, and may divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.

The patent positions of life sciences companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions 
for which important legal principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in such 
companies’ patents has emerged to date in the United States or elsewhere. Courts frequently render opinions in the 
biotechnology field that may affect the patentability of certain inventions or discoveries, including opinions that may affect the 
patentability of methods for analyzing or comparing nucleic acids.

In particular, the patent positions of companies engaged in the development and commercialization of genomic diagnostic 
tests are particularly uncertain. Various courts, including the U.S. Supreme Court, have rendered decisions that affect the scope 
of patentability of certain inventions or discoveries relating to certain diagnostic tests and related methods. These decisions 
state, among other things, that patent claims that recite laws of nature (for example, the relationship between blood levels of 
certain metabolites and the likelihood that a dosage of a specific drug will be ineffective or cause harm) are not themselves 
patentable. What constitutes a law of nature is uncertain, and it is possible that certain aspects of genomic diagnostics tests 
would be considered natural laws. Accordingly, the evolving case law in the United States may adversely affect our ability to 
obtain patents and may facilitate third-party challenges to any owned and licensed patents.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United 
States, and we may encounter difficulties protecting and defending such rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of 
many other countries do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those 
relating to biotechnology, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents in such countries. 
Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our efforts and 
attention from other aspects of our business.

Changes in either the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States or other countries may diminish 
the value of our intellectual property. We cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or 
in third-party patents. We may not develop additional proprietary products, methods and technologies that are patentable.

In addition to pursuing patents on our technology, we take steps to protect our intellectual property and proprietary 
technology by entering into agreements, including confidentiality agreements, non-disclosure agreements and intellectual 
property assignment agreements, with our employees, consultants, academic institutions, corporate partners and, when needed, 
our advisors. Such agreements may not be enforceable or may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets or other 
proprietary information in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure or other breaches of the agreements, and we may not be 
able to prevent such unauthorized disclosure. If we are required to assert our rights against such party, it could result in 
significant cost and distraction.

Monitoring unauthorized disclosure is difficult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to prevent such 
disclosure are, or will be, adequate. If we were to enforce a claim that a third-party had illegally obtained and was using our 
trade secrets, it would be expensive and time consuming, and the outcome would be unpredictable. In addition, courts outside 
the United States may be less willing to protect trade secrets.

We may also be subject to claims that our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or 
other proprietary information of their former employers, or to claims that we have improperly used or obtained such trade 
secrets. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending such claims, in addition to paying 
monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights and face increased competition to our business. A loss of 
key research personnel work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize potential products, which could 

59



harm our business. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be 
a distraction to management.

Further, competitors could attempt to replicate some or all of the competitive advantages we derive from our development 
efforts, willfully infringe our intellectual property rights, design around our protected technology or develop their own 
competitive technologies that fall outside of our intellectual property rights. Others may independently develop similar or 
alternative products and technologies or replicate any of our products and technologies. If our intellectual property does not 
adequately protect us against competitors’ products and methods, our competitive position could be adversely affected, as could 
our business.

We have not registered certain of our trademarks in all of our potential geographic markets. If we apply to register these 
trademarks, our applications may not be allowed for registration in a timely fashion or at all, and our registered trademarks may 
not be maintained or enforced. In addition, opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademark 
applications and registrations, and our trademarks may not survive such proceedings. If we do not secure registrations for our 
trademarks, we may encounter more difficulty in enforcing them against third parties than we otherwise would. If some other 
business in one of these markets already owns a trademark that is confusingly similar to one of our trademarks, we may be 
prohibited from entering that market under our trademark unless we re-brand our product in that location. Similarly, if we 
develop a new product line, there is no guarantee that one of our existing trademarks will be available as the brand for that new 
product line.  Under those circumstances, we may incur the cost of developing a new trademark for this new product line.

To the extent our intellectual property offers inadequate protection, or is found to be invalid or unenforceable, we would 
be exposed to a greater risk of direct competition. If our intellectual property does not provide adequate coverage of our 
competitors’ products, our competitive position could be adversely affected, as could our business. Both the patent application 
process and the process of managing patent disputes can be time consuming and expensive.

We may be involved in litigation related to intellectual property, which could be time-intensive and costly and may 
adversely affect our business, operating results or financial condition.

We may receive notices of claims of direct or indirect infringement or misappropriation or misuse of other parties’ 
proprietary rights from time to time. Some of these claims may lead to litigation. We cannot assure you that we will prevail in 
such actions, or that other actions alleging misappropriation or misuse by us of third-party trade secrets, infringement by us of 
third-party patents and trademarks or other rights, or the validity of our patents, trademarks or other rights, will not be asserted 
or prosecuted against us.

We might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications and we might 
not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions. To determine the priority of these inventions, we may 
have to participate in interference proceedings, derivation proceedings, or other post-grant proceedings declared by the U.S. 
Patent and Trademark Office that could result in substantial cost to us. No assurance can be given that other patent applications 
will not have priority over our patent applications. In addition, recent changes to the patent laws of the United States allow for 
various post-grant opposition proceedings that have not been extensively tested, and their outcome is therefore uncertain. 
Furthermore, if third parties bring these proceedings against our patents, we could experience significant costs and management 
distraction.

Litigation may be necessary for us to enforce our patent and proprietary rights or to determine the scope, coverage and 
validity of the proprietary rights of others. The outcome of any litigation or other proceeding is inherently uncertain and might 
not be favorable to us, and we might not be able to obtain licenses to technology that we require on acceptable terms or at all. 
Further, we could encounter delays in product introductions, or interruptions in product sales, as we develop alternative 
methods or products. In addition, if we resort to legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the 
validity, scope and coverage of the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of others, the proceedings could be 
burdensome and expensive, even if we were to prevail. Any litigation that may be necessary in the future could result in 
substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or 
financial condition.

As we move into new markets and applications for our products, incumbent participants in such markets may assert their 
patents and other proprietary rights against us as a means of slowing our entry into such markets or as a means to extract 
substantial license and royalty payments from us. Our competitors and others may now and, in the future, have significantly 
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larger and more mature patent portfolios than we currently have. In addition, future litigation may involve patent holding 
companies or other adverse patent owners who have no relevant product revenue and against whom our own patents may 
provide little or no deterrence or protection. Therefore, our commercial success may depend in part on our non-infringement of 
the patents or proprietary rights of third parties. Numerous significant intellectual property issues have been litigated, and will 
likely continue to be litigated, between existing and new participants in our existing and targeted markets and competitors may 
assert that our products infringe their intellectual property rights as part of a business strategy to impede our successful entry 
into or growth in those markets. Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without 
authorization. In addition, our competitors and others may have patents or may in the future obtain patents and claim that 
making, having made, using, selling, offering to sell or importing our products infringes these patents. We could incur 
substantial costs and divert the attention of our management and technical personnel in defending against any of these claims. 
Parties making claims against us may be able to obtain injunctive or other relief, which could block our ability to develop, 
commercialize and sell products, and could result in the award of substantial damages against us. In the event of a successful 
claim of infringement against us, we may be required to pay damages and ongoing royalties, and obtain one or more licenses 
from third parties, or be prohibited from selling certain products. We may not be able to obtain these licenses on acceptable 
terms, if at all. We could incur substantial costs related to royalty payments for licenses obtained from third parties, which could 
negatively affect our financial results. In addition, we could encounter delays in product introductions while we attempt to 
develop alternative methods or products to avoid infringing third-party patents or proprietary rights. Defense of any lawsuit or 
failure to obtain any of these licenses could prevent us from commercializing products, and the prohibition of sale of any of our 
products could materially affect our business and our ability to gain market acceptance for our products. With respect to 
trademarks, infringement litigation or threats of infringement litigation may require us to re-brand our product in order to enter 
into the new mark.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, 
there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In 
addition, during the course of this kind of litigation, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or 
other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have 
a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

In addition, our agreements with some of our customers, suppliers or other entities with whom we do business require us 
to defend or indemnify these parties to the extent they become involved in infringement claims, including the types of claims 
described above. We could also voluntarily agree to defend or indemnify third parties in instances where we are not obligated to 
do so if we determine it would be important to our business relationships. If we are required or agree to defend or indemnify 
third parties in connection with any infringement claims, we could incur significant costs and expenses that could adversely 
affect our business, operating results, or financial condition.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited and may result in increased future tax liability to us.

We have incurred net losses since our inception and may never achieve profitability. As of December 31, 2021, we had 
net operating loss, or NOL, carryforwards of approximately $437.1 million, $87.6 million and $133.1 million available to 
reduce future taxable income, if any, for federal, California and other state income tax purposes, respectively. The U.S. federal 
NOL carryforwards will begin to expire in 2026 while for state purposes, the NOL carryforwards begin to expire in 2022. In 
addition, as of December 31, 2021, we had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $74.7 million and $31.3 
million available to reduce future taxable income, if any, for Canadian and French income tax purposes, respectively. The 
Canada net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2034, while for French purposes, the net operating losses will 
carryforward indefinitely. These NOL carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax 
liabilities. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Acts, or Tax Act, which was enacted in December 2017, federal NOLs incurred in tax 
years beginning after December 31, 2017 may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such federal NOLs is 
limited.  It is uncertain if and to what extent various states will conform to the newly enacted federal tax law.

To the extent that we continue to generate taxable losses, unused losses will carry forward to offset future taxable income, 
if any, until such unused losses expire. We may be limited in the portion of NOL carryforwards that we can use in the future to 
offset taxable income for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes, and federal tax credits to offset federal tax liabilities. 
Sections 382 and 383 of Internal Revenue Code limit the use of NOLs and tax credits after a cumulative change in corporate 
ownership of more than 50% occurs within a three-year period. The limitation could prevent a corporation from using some or 
all its NOL and tax credits before they expire within their normal 20-year lifespan, as it places a formula limit of how much 
NOL and tax credits a loss corporation can use in a tax year. In the event we have undergone an ownership change under 
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Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, if we earn net taxable income, our ability to use our pre-change NOL carryforwards 
to offset U.S. federal taxable income may become subject to limitations, which could potentially result in increased future tax 
liability to us.

On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was signed into law. The CARES Act changes certain provisions of the 2017 Tax 
Act. Under the CARES Act, NOLs arising in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2021 may 
be carried back to each of the five taxable years preceding the tax year of such loss, but NOLs arising in taxable years 
beginning after December 31, 2020 may not be carried back. In addition, the CARES Act eliminates the limitation on the 
deduction of NOLs to 80% of current year taxable income for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2021, and increases the 
amount of interest expense that may be deducted to 50% of adjusted taxable income for taxable years beginning in 2019 or 
2020. Notwithstanding the reduction in the corporate income tax rate, the overall impact of the Tax Act, as modified by the 
CARES Act, is uncertain and our business, financial conditions, results of operations and growth prospects could be materially 
and adversely affected. In addition, it is uncertain if and to what extent various states will conform to the Tax Act, as modified 
by the CARES Act. The impact of the Tax Act, as modified by the CARES Act, on holders of our common stock is also 
uncertain and could be adverse.

Impairment in the value of our goodwill or other intangible assets could have a material adverse effect on our operating 
results and financial condition.

We record goodwill and intangible assets at fair value upon the acquisition of a business. Goodwill represents the excess 
of amounts paid for acquiring businesses over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible 
assets are evaluated for impairment annually, or more frequently if conditions warrant, by comparing the carrying value of a 
reporting unit to its estimated fair value. Intangible assets with definite lives are reviewed for impairment when events or 
circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. Declines in operating results, divestitures, sustained 
market declines and other factors that impact the fair value of our reporting unit could result in an impairment of goodwill or 
intangible assets and, in turn, a charge to net income. Any such charges could have a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations or financial condition.

Our effective tax rate may fluctuate and we may incur obligations in tax jurisdictions in excess of amounts that have been 
accrued.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and various foreign jurisdictions. Our effective tax rate may be lower 
or higher than experienced in the past due to numerous factors, including a change in the mix of our revenue from country to 
country, the establishment or release of valuation allowances against our deferred tax assets, and changes in tax laws. In 
addition, we have recorded gross unrecognized tax benefits in our consolidated financial statements that, if recognized, would 
impact our effective tax rate. We are subject to tax audits in various jurisdictions, including the United States, and tax 
authorities may disagree with certain positions we have taken and assess additional taxes. There can be no assurance that we 
will accurately predict the outcomes of these audits, and the actual outcomes could have a material impact on our net income or 
financial condition. Any of these factors could cause us to experience an effective tax rate significantly different from previous 
periods or our current expectations, which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. The 
recognition of deferred tax assets is reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that the tax benefits will not 
be realized. We regularly review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and establish a valuation allowance based on 
historical income, projected future income, the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences, and the 
implementation of tax-planning strategies.

Changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse, unexpected financial reporting fluctuations 
and affect our reported operating results.

U.S. GAAP is subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, or the SEC, and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in 
accounting standards or practices can have a significant effect on our reported results and may even affect our reporting of 
transactions completed before the change is effective. New accounting pronouncements and varying interpretations of 
accounting pronouncements have occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to existing rules or the questioning of current 
practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we conduct our business.
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Our consolidated financial statements are subject to change and if our estimates or judgments relating to our critical 
accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our operating results could be adversely affected.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and related notes. We base 
our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, as provided in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments about the 
carrying values of assets, liabilities, and equity, and the amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. Critical accounting policies and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include those 
related to: revenue recognition; write-down of supplies; the useful lives of property and equipment; the recoverability of long-
lived assets; the incremental borrowing rate for leases; the estimation of the fair value of intangible assets and contingent 
consideration; variable interest entity assessment; impairment of equity investment, at cost; stock options; income tax 
uncertainties, including a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets; reserve on accounts receivable and contingencies. Our 
operating results may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our 
assumptions, which could cause our operating results to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, 
resulting in a decline in the price of our common stock.

Risks Related to our Recent Acquisitions

The recently completed acquisitions of HalioDx and Decipher Biosciences each present risks and we must successfully 
integrate the HalioDx and Decipher Biosciences businesses to realize the financial goals that we currently anticipate.

Risks we face in connection with the recently completed acquisition and ongoing integration of HalioDx and Decipher 
Biosciences include:

• We may not realize the benefits we expect to receive from these transactions, such as anticipated synergies;

• We may have difficulties managing acquired products and tests or retaining key personnel from the acquired 
businesses;

• We may not successfully integrate the acquired businesses as planned, there could be unanticipated adverse impacts on 
the acquired businesses, or we may otherwise not realize the expected return on our investments, which could 
adversely affect our business or operating results and potentially cause impairment to assets that we record as a part of 
an acquisition including intangible assets and goodwill;

• The Decipher Biosciences Merger Agreement does not provide for post-closing indemnification protection related to 
pre-closing Decipher Biosciences operations and, therefore, we may incur unforeseen costs as a result of Decipher 
Biosciences’ pre-closing activities, over which we have limited control, including Decipher Biosciences’ breach of the 
covenants contained in the Merger Agreement;

• Our operating results or financial condition may be adversely impacted by (i) claims or liabilities related to the 
acquired businesses including, among others, claims from U.S. or international regulatory or other governmental 
agencies, terminated employees, current or former customers or business partners, or other third parties; (ii) pre-
existing contractual relationships of the acquired businesses that we would not have otherwise entered into, the 
termination or modification of which may be costly or disruptive to our business; (iii) unfavorable accounting 
treatment as a result of the acquired businesses' practices; and (iv) intellectual property claims or disputes;

• Neither HalioDx nor Decipher Biosciences was required to maintain an internal control infrastructure that would meet 
the standards of a public company, including the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The costs that we 
may incur to implement such controls and procedures may be substantial and we could encounter unexpected delays 
and challenges in this implementation. In addition, we may discover significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in 
the quality of HalioDx's or Decipher Biosciences' respective financial and disclosure controls and procedures;

• We may experience a failure of development activities on behalf of a HalioDx customer where HalioDx bears 
development risk resulting in a refund of development fees;
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• We may fail to transition manufacturing of the test kits for the nCounter, currently produced by NanoString, to 
HalioDx’s manufacturing facility in Marseille, France in a timely manner or at all, or we may experience 
manufacturing irregularities or challenges in connection with the transition; 

• We may not realize the anticipated accretion to our gross margins as a result of transitioning manufacturing of test kits 
to HalioDx;

• We may experience disagreements with the employee French work council;

• Decipher Biosciences operates in segments of the diagnostic market that we have less experience with, including 
urology, and our further expansion of operations into these areas could present various integration challenges and 
result in increased costs and other unforeseen challenges; and

• We may have failed to identify or assess the magnitude of certain liabilities, shortcomings or other circumstances prior 
to acquiring either of the acquired businesses, which could result in unexpected litigation or regulatory exposure, 
unfavorable accounting treatment, a diversion of management’s attention and resources, and other adverse effects on 
our business, financial condition, and operating results.

Doing business internationally at the scale of HalioDx creates operational risk for our business.

Conducting and launching operations on an international scale requires close coordination of activities across multiple 
jurisdictions and consumes significant management resources. If we fail to coordinate and manage these activities effectively 
for any reason, including the risks noted below, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be adversely 
affected. 

The Acquisition increases the following risks and challenges associated with conducting business outside the U.S., where 
we expect a growing proportion of our operations and revenue to be located:

• longer payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable outside of the United States;
• longer sales cycles due to the volume of transactions taking place through public tenders;
• challenges in staffing and managing foreign operations;
• lack of consistency, and unexpected changes, in legislative or regulatory requirements of foreign countries into which 

we sell our products;
• increased risk of governmental and regulatory scrutiny and investigations;
• the burden of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws, regulations, and legal standards;
• import and export requirements, tariffs, taxes, and other trade barriers;
• possible enactment of laws regarding the management of and access to data and public networks and websites;
• potential negative impact of a global health crisis, such as the outbreak of a serious infectious disease, to our 

commercial or manufacturing operations, including the loss of productivity from our own workforce and consequences 
of any restrictions on the movement of people or materials;

• possible future limitations on foreign-owned businesses;
• significant taxes; and
• other factors beyond our control, including political, social and economic instability, and security concerns in general.

Additionally, we must comply with complex foreign and U.S. laws and regulations, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt 
Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act, and other local laws prohibiting corrupt payments to governmental officials and requiring 
issuers to maintain accurate books and records or maintain appropriate accounting controls, fair competition regulations, the 
U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control sanctions compliance program, and other similar laws and regulations. Violations of 
these laws and regulations could result in fines and penalties, criminal sanctions, restrictions on our business conduct and on 
our ability to offer our products in one or more countries, our ability to enter into governmental sale, supply, or service 
contracts, and could also materially affect our brand, our ability to attract and retain employees, our international operations, 
our business and our operating results. Although we have implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance 
with these laws and regulations, there can be no assurance that our employees, contractors, or agents will not violate our 
policies, or that our policies will be adopted or enforceable in all jurisdictions.
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As we continue to expand our business into multiple international markets, our success will depend, in large part, on our 
ability to anticipate and effectively manage these and other risks associated with our international operations. Any of these risks 
could harm our international operations and negatively impact our sales, adversely affecting our business, results of operations, 
financial condition and growth prospects.

We are exposed to risks associated with transactions denominated in foreign currency.

Changes in the value of the relevant currencies may affect the cost of certain items required in our operations and 
contractual agreements. Changes in currency exchange rates may also affect the relative prices at which we are able to sell 
products in the same market. Our revenues from international customers may be negatively impacted as increases in the U.S. 
dollar relative to our international customers local currency could make our products more expensive, impacting our ability to 
compete. Our costs of materials from international suppliers may increase if, in order to continue doing business with us, they 
raise their prices as the value of the U.S. dollar decreases relative to their local currency. Foreign policies and actions regarding 
currency valuation could result in actions by the United States and other countries to offset the effects of such fluctuations. 
Recent global financial conditions have led to a high level of volatility in foreign currency exchange rates and that level of 
volatility may continue, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

Risks Related to Being a Public Company

We will continue to incur increased costs and demands on management as a result of compliance with laws and 
regulations applicable to public companies, which could harm our operating results.

As a public company, we will continue to incur significant legal, accounting, consulting and other expenses that we did 
not incur as a private company, including costs associated with public company accounting and reporting requirements. In 
addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Dodd-Frank Act of 2010, as well as rules implemented by the SEC, and The 
Nasdaq Stock Market LLC, impose a number of requirements on public companies, including with respect to corporate 
governance practices. Our management and other personnel need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance 
and disclosure obligations. Moreover, these rules and regulations have and will continue to increase our legal, accounting and 
financial compliance costs and make some activities more complex, time-consuming and costly. We also expect that it will 
continue to be expensive for us to maintain director and officer liability insurance.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose 
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our reported financial information and the market price of our common 
stock may be negatively affected.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material 
weaknesses in such internal control. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires that we evaluate and determine the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and provide a management report on our internal controls on an 
annual basis. If we have material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we may not detect errors on a 
timely basis and our consolidated financial statements may be materially misstated. We will need to maintain and enhance the 
systems, processes and documentation necessary to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as we grow, and we 
will require additional management and staff resources to do so. Additionally, even if we conclude our internal controls are 
effective for a given period, we may in the future identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal controls, in which 
case our management will be unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective. We are also 
required to include an attestation report from our independent registered public accounting firm on the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting annually. Further, our recent acquisitions of Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx, both of 
which were previously private companies and were not subject to audits of internal controls, require or will require us to 
incorporate additional controls to such businesses, which may be difficult, costly and time-consuming. Even if our management 
concludes that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, our independent registered public accounting firm may 
conclude that there are material weaknesses with respect to our internal controls or the level at which our internal controls are 
documented, designed, implemented or reviewed.

If we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our auditors were to 
express an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting because we had one or more 
material weaknesses, investors could lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial disclosures, which 
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could cause the price of our common stock to decline. Irrespective of compliance with Section 404, any failure of our internal 
control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our reported operating results and harm our reputation. 
Internal control deficiencies could also result in a restatement of our financial results.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile, and you may not be able to sell shares of our common stock at or above the price you paid.

The trading price of our common stock is likely to continue to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations 
in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These factors include:

• actual or anticipated variations in our and our competitors’ results of operations;
• the global macroeconomic impact of the current COVID-19 outbreak;
• announcements by us or our competitors of new products, commercial relationships or capital commitments;
• changes in reimbursement by current or potential payers, including governmental payers;
• issuance of new securities analysts’ reports or changed recommendations for our stock;
• fluctuations in our revenue, due in part to the way in which we recognize revenue;
• actual or anticipated changes in regulatory oversight of our products;
• developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;
• commencement of, or our involvement in, litigation;
• announced or completed acquisitions of businesses or technologies by us or our competitors, including the effect of 

additional equity we or our competitors issue as consideration for such acquisitions;
• any major change in our management; and
• general economic conditions, including inflation and changes in interest rates, and slow or negative growth of our 

markets.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for stock of life sciences companies in particular, has experienced 
extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those 
companies. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our 
actual operating performance. These fluctuations may cause the trading volume of our stock to decrease. In addition, in the past, 
following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class 
action litigation has often been instituted against these companies. This litigation, if instituted against us, could result in 
substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a change 
in control and may affect the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws may have the effect of 
delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management. Our restated certificate of incorporation and 
amended and restated bylaws include provisions that:

• authorize our board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, up to 5.0 million shares of 
undesignated preferred stock;

• require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by 
written consent;

• specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, our chairman of the 
board, or our chief executive officer;

• establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder approvals to be brought before an annual meeting of our 
stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for election to our board of directors;

• establish that our board of directors is divided into three classes, Class I, Class II and Class III, with each class serving 
staggered terms;

• provide that our directors may be removed only for cause;
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• provide that vacancies on our board of directors may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled only by a majority 
of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;

• provide that the federal district courts of the United States shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any 
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

• specify that no stockholder is permitted to cumulate votes at any election of directors; and
• require a super-majority of votes to amend certain of the above-mentioned provisions.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law regulating corporate 
takeovers. Section 203 generally prohibits us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder subject to 
certain exceptions.

We have never paid dividends on our capital stock, and we do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

We have never paid dividends on any of our capital stock and currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the 
growth of our business. In addition, our Loan and Security Agreement restricts our ability to pay cash dividends on our 
common stock and we may also enter into credit agreements or other borrowing arrangements in the future that will restrict our 
ability to declare or pay cash dividends on our common stock. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the 
discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general 
business conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of 
our common stock will be the sole source of gain for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2.    PROPERTIES

We lease office and laboratory facilities in South San Francisco (approximately 59,000 square feet) and San Diego 
(approximately 28,400 square feet), California; Austin, Texas (approximately 10,400 square feet); Marseille, France 
(approximately 31,400 square feet); and Richmond, Virginia (approximately 8,200 square feet). We believe our facilities are in 
good condition and adequate for their current use. We may expand or improve our current facilities or add additional facilities 
as appropriate to meet the needs of our operations.

ITEM 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. We may from time to time become involved in legal 
proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable. 

PART II

ITEM 5.    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol "VCYT".  

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock and do not expect to pay dividends on our common 
stock for the foreseeable future. Instead, we anticipate that all of our earnings in the foreseeable future will be used for the 
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operation and growth of our business. Any future determination to declare dividends will be subject to the discretion of our 
board of directors and will depend on various factors, including applicable laws, our results of operations, financial condition, 
future prospects, and any other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. In addition, the terms of our credit agreement 
restrict our ability to pay dividends on our common stock, and we may also enter into credit agreements or other borrowing 
arrangements in the future that will further restrict our ability to declare or pay dividends on our common stock.

Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Stock Performance Graph

The following information is not deemed to be "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange 
Act, or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any 
filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such a 
filing.

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return of our common stock to the Nasdaq Global Market 
Index and the Nasdaq Biotechnology Index. The graph and table below assume that $100 was invested on the starting date and 
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dividends, if any, were reinvested on the date of payment without payment of any commissions. The comparisons in the table 
are required by the SEC and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of future performance of our common stock.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Stockholder Return

Veracyte, Inc. NASDAQ Global Market Index
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index

12/30/2016

12/31/2017

12/31/2018

12/31/2019

12/31/2020

12/31/2021

$100

$200

$300

$400
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$600

$700

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2019

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2021

Veracyte, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 84.00 $ 163.00 $ 361.00 $ 632.00 $ 532.00 
Nasdaq Global Market 
Index $ 100.00 $ 128.00 $ 123.00 $ 167.00 $ 239.00 $ 291.00 
Nasdaq Biotechnology 
Index $ 100.00 $ 121.00 $ 113.00 $ 142.00 $ 180.00 $ 180.00 

ITEM 6.    [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7.    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the 
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This 
discussion and analysis contains certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results 
may differ materially from those discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are 
not limited to, those identified below and those set forth under the section entitled "Risk Factors" in Item 1A, and other 
documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future 
results.

Overview 

We are a global diagnostics company that improves patient care by answering important clinical questions to inform 
diagnosis and treatment decisions throughout the patient journey in cancer and other diseases. Our growing menu of tests 
leverages advances in molecular science and machine learning technology to improve care for patients, enabling them to avoid 
risky, costly procedures and interventions, and reduce time to appropriate treatment. 

Our tests address eight of the 10 most prevalent cancers by incidence in the United States. In addition to making our tests 
available in the United States through our central laboratories, our exclusive license to the nCounter Analysis System positions 
us to deliver our tests to patients worldwide through laboratories and hospitals that can perform the tests locally. 

We develop tests that address significant unmet clinical needs in the diagnosis, prognosis and treatment of cancer and 
other diseases. We deploy a comprehensive strategic planning approach that broadly examines the clinical care spectrum in 
areas where our unique approach and expertise may potentially benefit physicians, patients and payers. In each disease area, our 
medical affairs and research teams focus intensely on understanding the patient journey and analyzing critical points of clinical 
decision-making, where having better information can impact what happens next for the patient. 

Our extensive team of research, bioinformatics and clinical professionals rely on deep scientific expertise and an extensive 
network of practicing physicians and key opinion leaders, or KOLs, to inform new product development. This includes 
determining what clinical question each test should answer, where it should be positioned in the patient work-up and what 
sample type and technology should be used. We develop our molecular tests using advanced scientific methods, such as RNA 
whole-transcriptome sequencing and machine learning. Veracyte’s tests are purposefully designed to integrate easily into 
current physician protocols, delivering clinical utility and economic value to physicians, payers, and the healthcare system.

We currently offer tests in thyroid cancer (Afirma); prostate cancer (Decipher Prostate); breast cancer (Prosigna); lung 
cancer (Percepta); interstitial lung diseases (Envisia); bladder cancer (Decipher Bladder); and colon cancer (Immunoscore). Our 
tests for kidney cancer and lymphoma are in development, the latter as a companion diagnostic. 

We serve global markets with two complementary and inter-related core models. In the United States, we offer laboratory 
developed tests, or LDTs, which we perform in our centralized, CLIA-certified laboratories in South San Francisco and San 
Diego, California, and Richmond, Virginia, supported by our cytopathology expertise in our Austin, Texas CLIA lab. In 
addition, outside of the United States, we intend to offer our tests as in vitro diagnostic, or IVD, tests that run on the nCounter 
Analysis System by laboratories that perform them for physicians and their patients locally. We believe our broad menu of 
advanced diagnostic tests, combined with our ability to deliver them globally, uniquely position us in the diagnostics sector. 

In the process of developing leading diagnostics across the oncology market, we have collected a significant number of 
patient samples and proprietary data related to various cancer types. We combine these assets with our robust machine learning 
core competency to further enhance our research capabilities, as well as build opportunities with biopharmaceutical and other 
partners.  

In early 2021, Veracyte acquired Decipher Biosciences, expanding our genomic testing menu into urologic cancers. The 
acquisition also provided Veracyte with Decipher GRID (Genomic Resource for Intelligent Discovery), a platform and database 
that helps drive biopharmaceutical partnerships, KOL engagement and pipeline development in urologic cancers. 

In mid-2021, we acquired HalioDx, giving us the capabilities and expertise to manufacture our own IVD test kits for use 
on the nCounter Analysis System. The acquisition also deepened our scientific expertise into the rapidly growing area of 
immuno-oncology, expanded our reach into colon cancer with the Immunoscore test and further strengthened our offerings to 
biopharmaceutical and other partners. 
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Impact of COVID-19

We believe the continuation of the COVID-19 outbreak and its recent escalation due to the Delta and Omicron variants 
has impacted our test volumes. Our customers, third-party contract manufacturers, carriers, suppliers and collaboration partners 
have been affected by the closure of hospitals, doctors' offices, manufacturing sites, or country borders, among other measures 
put in place around the world. Layoffs, furloughs and unplanned loss of staff (due to vaccination status or other reasons) in the 
medical industry and otherwise during the pandemic have had, and will continue to have, negative impacts on the demand for 
and supply of medical care and diagnostic tests, which affects the frequency with which tests are ordered, and the ability of 
doctors and hospitals to administer such tests. Further the inability to travel and conduct face-to-face meetings can also make it 
more difficult to expand utilization of our products into new geographies and to drive awareness of our products. 

Our Decipher Prostate test has been least impacted by the pandemic because our customers are mostly community-based 
urology practices, which generally remain more accessible to patients and our sales reps. Our Afirma thyroid cancer test has 
been impacted by COVID-19 because a majority of our samples come from institutions, which are less accessible to patients 
and our reps. We believe our pulmonology business continues to be most impacted since the bronchoscopy procedures used to 
collect samples for our Percepta and Envisia tests are considered elective procedures and are performed in hospital settings, 
which continue to be more restrictive, and these tests are ordered by pulmonologists who are currently largely preoccupied with 
caring for COVID-19 patients. 

The rapid increase in daily COVID-19 testing consumes reagents and supplies otherwise available to diagnostic testing 
companies like ours across the United States. When not limited by the expiration date of products and when we feel it 
reasonable and feasible to do so, we are taking steps to manage our level of stock reserves, to develop alternative sources of 
supply and to implement procedures to mitigate the impact on our supply chain and our ability to process samples in our 
laboratories. Though we are in regular contact with our key suppliers, we do not have, nor expect to have, the necessary insight 
into our vendors’ supply chain issues that we may need to know to effectively mitigate the impact to our business. Though we 
attempt to mitigate the impact to our business, these interruptions in manufacturing (including the sourcing of reagents or 
supplies) may negatively impact our test volumes or levels of revenue.

The extent of the impact of COVID-19 on our future liquidity and operational performance will depend on certain 
developments, including the deployment and long-term efficacy of vaccines; the duration and spread of the outbreak 
particularly in the form of more transmissible variants; the impact on our customers' operations; and the impact to our sales and 
renewal cycles. See Risk Factors for further discussion of the possible impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business. 

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Reported Test Volume
 

Our performance depends on the number of tests that we perform and report as completed in our CLIA-certified 
laboratories and tests processed on the nCounter Analysis System. Factors impacting the number of tests that we report as 
completed include, but are not limited to:

 
• the impact of COVID-19 on patients seeking to have tests performed;
• the availability of hospital staff to perform and support procedures needed to collect samples for our tests; 
• the number of samples that we receive that meet the medical indication for each test performed;
• the quantity and quality of the sample received;
• receipt of the necessary documentation, such as physician order and patient consent, required to perform, bill and 

collect for our tests;
• the patient's ability to pay or provide necessary insurance coverage for the tests performed;
• the time it takes us to perform our tests and report the results;
• the seasonality inherent in our business, such as the impact of work days per period, timing of industry 

conferences and the timing of when patient deductibles are exceeded, which also impacts the reimbursement we 
receive from insurers; and

• our ability to obtain prior authorization or meet other requirements instituted by payers, benefit managers, or 
regulators necessary to be paid for our tests.
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We generate a substantial amount of our revenue from Afirma genomic testing services, including the rendering of a 
cytopathology diagnosis as part of the Afirma solution. For the Afirma classifier, we do not accrue revenue for approximately 
5% - 10% of the tests that we perform and report as complete due principally to insufficient RNA from which to render a result, 
and tests performed for which we do not reasonably expect to be paid.

 
Continued Adoption of and Reimbursement for our Products

 
Revenue growth depends on our ability to secure coverage decisions, achieve broader reimbursement at increased levels 

from third-party payers, expand our base of prescribing physicians and increase our penetration in existing accounts. Because 
some payers consider our products experimental and investigational, we may not receive payment for tests and payments we 
receive may not be at acceptable levels. We expect our revenue growth to increase if more payers make a positive coverage 
decision and as payers enter into contracts with us, which should enhance our revenue and cash collections. Our sales teams are 
aligned under our general manager-based structure to focus on specific products and global markets. If we are unable to expand 
the base of prescribing physicians and penetration within these accounts at an acceptable rate, or if we are not able to execute 
our strategy for increasing reimbursement, we may not be able to effectively increase our revenue. We expect to continue to see 
pressure from payers to limit the utilization of tests, generally, and we believe more payers are deploying cost containment 
tactics, such as pre-authorization, reduction of the payer portion of reimbursement and employing laboratory benefit managers 
to reduce utilization rates.

 
Integrating acquired assets and advances to our collaborations

 
Revenue growth, operational results and advances to our business strategy depends on our ability to integrate any acquired 

assets into our existing business. The integration of acquired assets may impact our revenue growth, increase the cost of 
operations, cause significant write-offs of intangible assets, or may require management resources that otherwise would be 
available for ongoing development of our existing business. The integration of assets acquired from Decipher Biosciences in 
March 2021 and HalioDx in August 2021 may impact our revenue and operating results through integration of various 
functions.

 
Revenue growth or reimbursement from our biopharmaceutical and IVD contract manufacturing partners depends on our 

ability to deliver services or information and achieve milestones required from our collaborative partners. Our collaboration 
partners pay us for the provision of data and other services and the achievement of milestones. 
 
How We Recognize Revenue

We recognize revenue in accordance with the provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, or ASC 
606. This process involves identifying the contract with a customer, determining the performance obligations in the contract, 
determining the contract price, allocating the contract price to the distinct performance obligations in the contract, and 
recognizing revenue when the performance obligations have been satisfied. 

Testing Revenue
 

We bill for testing services at the time of test completion as defined by the delivery of test results. We recognize revenue 
based on estimates of the amount that will ultimately be realized. In determining the amount to accrue for a delivered test, we 
consider factors such as payment history, payer coverage, whether there is a reimbursement contract between the payer and us, 
payment as a percentage of agreed upon rate (if applicable), amount paid per test and any current developments or changes that 
could impact reimbursement. These estimates require significant judgment by management. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates and assumptions.

Generally, cash we receive is collected within 12 months of the date the test is billed. We cannot provide any assurance as 
to when, if ever, or to what extent any of these amounts will be collected. Notwithstanding our efforts to obtain payment for 
these tests, payers may deny our claims, in whole or in part, and we may never receive payment for these tests.

 
We bill list price regardless of contract rate, but only recognize revenue from amounts that we estimate are collectible and 

meet our revenue recognition criteria. Revenue may not be equal to the billed amount due to a number of factors that we 
consider when determining revenue accrual rates, including differences in reimbursement rates, the amounts of patient co-
payments and co-insurance, the existence of secondary payers, claims denials and the amount we expect to ultimately collect. 
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Finally, when we increase our list price, it will increase the cumulative amounts billed but may not positively impact accrued 
revenue. In addition, payer contracts generally include the right of offset and payers may offset payments prior to resolving 
disputes over tests performed.

 
Generally, we calculate the average reimbursement from our products from all payers, for tests that are on average a year 

old since it can take a significant period of time to collect from some payers. Except in situations where we believe the rate we 
reasonably expect to collect to vary due to a coverage decision, contract, more recent reimbursement data or evidence to the 
contrary, we use an average of reimbursement for tests provided over four quarters as it reduces the effects of temporary 
volatility and seasonal effects. Thus, the average reimbursement per product represents the total cash collected to date against 
tests performed during the relevant period divided by the number of these tests performed during that same period.

 
The average test reimbursement rates will change over time due to a number of factors, including medical coverage 

decisions by payers, the effects of contracts signed with payers, changes in allowed amounts by payers, our ability to 
successfully win appeals for payment, and our ability to collect cash payments from third-party payers and individual patients. 
Historical average reimbursement is not necessarily indicative of future average reimbursement. 

 
We incur expense for tests in the period in which the test is conducted and recognize revenue for tests in the period in 

which our revenue recognition criteria are met.

Product Revenue

Our products consist of the Prosigna breast cancer assay, the nCounter Analysis System and related diagnostic kits. We 
recognize product revenue when control of the promised goods is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the 
consideration expected to be received in exchange for those products. This process involves identifying the contract with a 
customer, determining the performance obligations in the contract, determining the contract price, allocating the contract price 
to the distinct performance obligations in the contract, and recognizing revenue when the performance obligations have been 
satisfied. A performance obligation is considered distinct from other obligations in a contract when it provides a benefit to the 
customer either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available to the customer and is separately identified 
in the contract. Performance obligations are considered satisfied once we have transferred control of a product to the customer, 
meaning the customer has the ability to use and obtain the benefit of the product. We recognize product revenue for satisfied 
performance obligations only when there are no uncertainties regarding payment terms or transfer of control. Shipping and 
handling costs incurred for product shipments are charged to our customers and included in product revenue. Revenues are 
presented net of the taxes that are collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities.

Biopharmaceutical and Other Revenues

We enter into arrangements to license or provide access to our assets or services, including testing services, clinical and 
medical services, research and development, contract manufacturing and other services. Such arrangements may require us to 
deliver various rights, data, services, manufactured diagnostic test kits, access and/or testing services to partner 
biopharmaceutical companies. One such arrangement is a collaborative arrangement that falls under the scope of ASC Topic 
808, Collaborative Arrangements, or ASC 808. The underlying terms of these arrangements generally provide for consideration 
paid to us in the form of nonrefundable fees; payments on delivery of data, test results or manufactured products; costs of 
service plus margin; performance milestone payments; expense reimbursements and possibly royalty and/or other payments.  
Net sales of data or other services to our customers are recognized in accordance with ASC 606 and are classified under 
biopharmaceutical and other revenue. Milestone payments which fall under the scope of  ASC 808, are recognized in the same 
manner as milestone payments from customers and are considered to be collaboration revenue. Payments received that are not 
related to sales or services to a customer or collaboration revenue are recorded as offsets against research and development 
expense or cost of biopharmaceutical and other revenue in our consolidated statements of operations.

In arrangements involving more than one good or service delivered to a customer, each good or service is evaluated to 
determine whether it qualifies as a distinct performance obligation based on whether (i) the customer can benefit from the good 
or service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available and (ii) the good or service is separately 
identifiable from other promises in the contract. The consideration under the arrangement is then allocated to each separate 
distinct performance obligation based on its respective relative stand-alone selling price. The estimated selling price of each 
deliverable reflects our best estimate of what the selling price would be if the deliverable was regularly sold by us on a stand-
alone basis or using an adjusted market assessment approach if the selling price on a stand-alone basis is not available.
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The consideration allocated to each distinct performance obligation is recognized as revenue when control is transferred 
which may be at a point in time or over time. Consideration associated with at-risk substantive performance milestones is 
recognized as revenue when it is probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. 
Should there be royalties, we utilize the sales and usage-based royalty exception in arrangements that resulted from the license 
of intellectual property, recognizing revenues generated from royalties or profit sharing as the underlying sales occur.

Development of Additional Tests

We continue to advance our portfolio of diagnostic tests to further improve patient guidance and care globally. For this, 
we leverage innovations in genomic science, sequencing technology, spatial immunohistochemistry and machine learning, as 
well as our robust biorepositories and our exclusive diagnostics rights to the nCounter Analysis System.

Timing of Our Research and Development Expenses
 
We deploy state-of-the-art and costly genomic technologies in our biomarker discovery experiments, and our spending on 

these technologies may vary substantially from quarter to quarter. We also spend a significant amount to secure clinical samples 
that can be used in discovery and product development as well as clinical validation studies. The timing of these research and 
development activities is difficult to predict, as is the timing of sample acquisitions. If a substantial number of clinical samples 
are acquired in a given quarter or if a high-cost experiment is conducted in one quarter versus the next, the timing of these 
expenses can affect our financial results. We conduct clinical studies to validate our new products as well as on-going clinical 
studies to further the published evidence to support our commercialized tests. As these studies are initiated, start-up costs for 
each site can be significant and concentrated in a specific quarter. Spending on research and development, for both experiments 
and studies, may vary significantly by quarter depending on the timing of these various expenses.

Financial Overview

Revenue

Through December 31, 2021, we had derived most of our revenue from the sale of Afirma and the Decipher urologic tests, 
delivered primarily to physicians in the United States. We generally invoice third-party payers upon delivery of a patient report 
to the prescribing physician. As such, we take the assignment of benefits and the risk of cash collection from the third-party 
payer and individual patients. Third-party payers and other customers in excess of 10% of total revenue and their related 
revenue as a percentage of total revenue were as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Medicare  30 %  24 %  26 %
UnitedHealthcare  10 %  11 %  11 %

 40 %  35 %  37 %

For tests performed, we recognize the related revenue upon delivery of a patient report to the prescribing physician based 
on the amount that we expect to ultimately receive. In determining the amount to accrue for a delivered test, we consider factors 
such as payment history, payer coverage, whether there is a reimbursement contract between the payer and us, payment as a 
percentage of agreed upon reimbursement rate (if applicable), amount paid per test and any current development or changes that 
could impact reimbursement. Upon ultimate collection, the amount received is compared to previous estimates and the amount 
accrued is adjusted accordingly. Our ability to increase our revenue will depend on our ability to penetrate the market, obtain 
positive coverage policies from additional third-party payers, obtain reimbursement and/or enter into contracts with additional 
third-party payers for our current and new tests, and increase reimbursement rates for tests performed. Finally, should the 
judgments underlying our estimated reimbursement change, our accrued revenue and financial results could be negatively 
impacted in future periods.
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Cost of Testing Revenue
 

The components of our cost of testing revenue are laboratory expenses, sample collection kit costs, sample collection 
expenses, compensation expense, license fees and royalties, depreciation and amortization, other expenses such as equipment 
and laboratory supplies, and allocations of facility and information technology expenses. Costs associated with performing tests 
are recorded as the test is processed regardless of whether and when revenue is recognized with respect to that test. As a result, 
our cost of testing revenue as a percentage of testing revenue may vary significantly from period to period because we may not 
recognize all revenue in the period in which the associated costs are incurred. We expect cost of testing revenue in absolute 
dollars to increase as the number of tests we perform increases. However, we expect that the cost per test will decrease over 
time due to leveraging fixed costs, efficiencies we may gain as test volume increases and from automation, process efficiencies 
and other cost reductions. As we introduce new tests, initially our cost of testing revenue will be high as we expect to run 
suboptimal batch sizes, quality control batches, test batches and registry samples, and generally incur costs that may suppress or 
reduce gross margins. This will disproportionately increase our aggregate cost of testing revenue until we achieve efficiencies 
in processing these new tests.

Cost of Product Revenue
 

Our cost of product revenue consists primarily of costs of purchasing instruments and diagnostic kits from third-party 
contract manufacturers, installation, warranty, service and packaging and delivery costs. In addition, cost of product revenue 
includes royalty costs for licensed technologies included in our products, and labor expenses. As our Prosigna test kits are sold 
in various configurations with different number of tests, our product cost per test will vary based on the specific kit 
configuration purchased by customers.

Cost of Biopharmaceutical Revenue

Our cost of biopharmaceutical and other revenue are the costs of performing activities under arrangements that require us 
to perform research and development, commercialization, contract manufacturing and contract testing services on behalf of a 
customer, and is mainly comprised of compensation expense, laboratory supplies and pass-through costs.

Research and Development
 

Research and development expenses include expenses incurred to develop our technology, collect clinical samples and 
conduct clinical studies to develop and support our products and pipeline. These expenses consist of compensation expenses, 
direct research and development expenses such as prototype materials, laboratory supplies and costs associated with setting up 
and conducting clinical studies at domestic and international sites, professional fees, depreciation and amortization, other 
miscellaneous expenses and allocation of facility and information technology expenses. We expense all research and 
development costs in the periods in which they are incurred. We expect to incur significant research and development expenses 
as we continue to invest in research and development activities related to developing additional products and evaluating various 
platforms. We incurred a majority of our research and development expenses in years ended December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020 in support of our pipeline products. Going forward, we are investing in the development of our pipeline 
products, including required clinical studies, the development of current tests for the nCounter instrument and the transition of 
manufacturing to our Veracyte SAS facility.

 
Selling and Marketing

 
Selling and marketing expenses consist of compensation expenses, direct marketing expenses, professional fees, other 

expenses such as travel and communications costs and allocation of facility and information technology expenses. Our sales 
team of approximately 150 representatives is organized by business unit, with separate teams calling on thyroid cancer, urologic 
cancers, breast cancer, pulmonology and colorectal cancers physicians. The business units have dedicated marketing support, as 
well as a marketing operations team that serves the commercial organization broadly. Prosigna sales outside of the U.S. are led 
by direct sales teams that call on laboratories and breast cancer oncologists, and have dedicated marketing support. 
 
General and Administrative
 

General and administrative expenses include compensation expenses for executive officers and administrative, billing and 
client service personnel, professional fees for legal and audit services, occupancy costs, depreciation and amortization, and 
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other expenses such as information technology and miscellaneous expenses offset by allocation of facility and information 
technology expenses to other functions. For the year ended December 31, 2021, costs related to the acquisitions of Decipher 
Biosciences and HalioDx were included in general and administrative compensation expense and professional fees. For the year 
ended December 31, 2021, approximately 50% of the average headcount classified as general and administrative encompass our 
billing and customer care teams.  We expect general and administrative expenses to continue to increase as we build our general 
and administration functions to support our global revenue growth.

 
Intangible Asset Amortization
 

Our finite-lived intangible assets, acquired in business combinations, are being amortized over 4 to 15 years, using the 
straight-line method.  Amortization expense is expected to be approximately $22.0 million per year through 2024 and decreases 
thereafter. 

 
Interest Expense
 

Interest expense is attributable to our borrowings under debt agreements and costs associated with the prepayment of debt.  
 

Other Income, Net
 

Other income, net consists primarily of realized and unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency transactions, French 
research tax credits, interest expense on our debt and interest income from our cash held in interest bearing accounts. The 
French research tax credits (crédit d’impôt recherche or CIR) are generated by our wholly owned subsidiary, Veracyte SAS, in 
connection with its research efforts performed in Marseille, France. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our audited 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting 
principles, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported revenue generated and expenses incurred during the reporting periods. 
Our estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or 
conditions and any such differences may be material. We believe that the accounting policies discussed below are critical to 
understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving 
management's judgments and estimates.

Testing Revenue

We bill for testing services at the time of test completion as defined by the delivery of test results. We recognize revenue 
on an accrual basis based on estimates of the amount that will ultimately be realized. In determining the amount to accrue for a 
delivered test, we consider factors such as payment history, payer coverage, whether there is a reimbursement contract between 
the payer and us, payment as a percentage of the agreed upon rate (if applicable), amount paid per test and any current 
developments or changes that could impact reimbursement. These estimates require significant judgment by management.

Generally, we determine accrual rates based on the average reimbursement from payers for tests that are on average a year 
old, since it can take a significant period of time to collect from some payers. Except in situations where we believe the rate we 
reasonably expect to collect to vary due to a coverage decision, contract, more recent reimbursement data or evidence to the 
contrary, we use an average of reimbursement for tests provided over four quarters as it reduces the effects of temporary 
volatility and seasonal effects. 

 
We use judgment in determining accrual rates and our judgments will continue to evolve in the future as we continue to 

gain reimbursement experience.
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Product Revenue
 

Our products consist of the Prosigna breast cancer assay, the nCounter Analysis System and related diagnostic kits. We 
recognize product revenue when control of the promised goods is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the 
consideration expected to be received in exchange for those products. Shipping and handling costs incurred for product 
shipments are charged to our customers and included in product revenue. Revenues are presented net of the taxes that are 
collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities.

Biopharmaceutical and Other Revenues

For biopharmaceutical and other revenue, we develop estimates and assumptions that require judgment to determine the 
underlying stand-alone selling price for each performance obligation which determines how the transaction price is allocated 
among the performance obligations. The estimation of the stand-alone selling price may include independent evidence of 
market price, forecasted revenues or costs, development timelines, discount rates, and probabilities of technical and regulatory 
success. We evaluate each performance obligation to determine if they can be satisfied at a point in time or over time, and we 
measure the services delivered to the collaborative partner which are periodically reviewed based on the progress of the related 
program. For licenses that are bundled with other promises, we utilize judgment to assess the nature of the combined 
performance obligation to determine whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time. 
The effect of any change made to an estimated input component and, therefore revenue or expense recognized, would be 
recorded as a change in estimate. In addition, variable consideration must be evaluated to determine if it is constrained and, 
therefore, excluded from the transaction price. 

At the inception of each arrangement that includes milestone payments (variable consideration), we evaluate whether the 
milestones are considered probable of being reached and estimates the amount to be included in the transaction price. Milestone 
payments that are not within either party’s control, such as non-operational developmental and regulatory approvals, are 
generally not considered probable of being achieved until those approvals are received. At the end of each reporting period, we 
re-evaluate the probability of achievement of milestones that are within either party’s control, such as operational 
developmental milestones and any related constraint, and if necessary, adjusts its estimate of the overall transaction price. Any 
such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect revenues and earnings in the period of 
adjustment. Revisions to our estimate of the transaction price may also result in negative revenues and earnings in the period of 
adjustment. One collaboration arrangement with milestone payments falls under the scope of ASC 808. These milestone 
payments are recognized in the same manner as milestone payments from customers and are classified under biopharmaceutical 
and other revenue.

Other Significant Accounting Policies

Acquisitions

We first determine whether a set of assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business and should be accounted 
for as a business combination. If the assets acquired are not a business, we account for the transaction as an asset acquisition. 
Business combinations are accounted for by using the acquisition method of accounting. Under the acquisition method, assets 
acquired, and liabilities assumed are recorded at their respective fair values as of the acquisition date in our consolidated 
financial statements. The excess of the fair value of consideration transferred over the fair value of the net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill.  Contingent consideration obligations incurred in connection with a business combination are recorded at 
fair value on the acquisition date and remeasured at each subsequent reporting period until the related contingencies are 
resolved, with the resulting changes in fair value recorded in earnings. The estimation of the fair value of the contingent 
consideration is based on the present value of the expected payments calculated by assessing the likelihood of when the related 
milestones would be achieved, discounted using our estimated borrowing rate. 

Intangible Asset Amortization

We have acquired finite-lived and indefinite-lived intangible assets in business combinations. These intangible assets are 
measured at their respective fair values as of the acquisition date and are subject to potential adjustments within the 
measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition dates. The fair values of the intangible assets are 
generally determined using income approaches such as the multi-period excess earnings method, the with-and-without method 
and the relief from royalty method. These income approaches are based on various estimates for each asset including the 
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estimate of future cash flows including, revenue assumptions (such as projected testing volumes, growth rates), discount rates 
and the expected economic life/obsolescence factors of the respective assets. Our finite-lived intangible assets are being 
amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 4 to 15 years, based on management's estimate of 
the period over which their economic benefits will be realized, product life and patent life. Our in-process research and 
development, or IPR&D, is not amortized until it becomes commercially viable and placed in service. At the time when the 
IPR&D is placed in service, we will determine a useful life. We test these intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis or 
when events or circumstances indicate a reduction in the fair value below their carrying amounts. There was no impairment 
recognized during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, or 2019.

Goodwill 

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that it may 
be impaired. Our goodwill evaluation is based on both qualitative and quantitative assessments regarding the fair value of 
goodwill relative to its carrying value. We have determined that we operate in a single segment and have a single reporting unit 
associated with the development and commercialization of diagnostic products. In the event we determine that it is more likely 
than not the carrying value of the reporting unit is higher than its fair value, quantitative testing is performed comparing 
recorded values to estimated fair values. If impairment is present, the impairment loss is measured as the excess of the recorded 
goodwill over its implied fair value. We perform our annual evaluation of goodwill during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. 
There was no impairment recognized during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, or 2019.

Stock-based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expense for only those shares underlying stock options and restricted stock units 
that we expect to vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award. We estimate the fair value of stock 
options using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the 
option's expected term and stock price volatility. In addition, judgment is also required in estimating the number of stock-based 
awards that are expected to be forfeited. Forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience at the time of grant and 
revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Performance-based stock units, 
which vest upon the achievement of certain performance conditions, are subject to the employees’ continued service with the 
Company. The probability of vesting is assessed at each reporting period and compensation cost is adjusted based on this 
probability assessment. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards represent 
management's best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management's judgment. 
As a result, if factors change and we use different assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense could be materially 
different in the future.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiary Veracyte SAS is the Euro. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated to U.S. dollars using the exchange rates at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency translation 
adjustments are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity. 
Revenues and expenses from our foreign subsidiaries are translated using the monthly average exchange rates in effect during 
the period in which the transactions occur.  Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in other (loss) income, 
net, on the consolidated statements of operations.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands, except percentages)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 Change % 2020

Revenue:
Testing revenue $ 188,182 $ 86,212  85 % $ 101,970 
Product revenue  11,464  1,619  16 %  9,845 
Biopharmaceutical and other revenue  19,868  14,200  251 %  5,668 

Total revenue  219,514  102,031  87 %  117,483 
Operating expense:   

Cost of testing revenue  58,860  22,947  64 %  35,913 
Cost of product revenue  5,887  966  20 %  4,921 
Cost of biopharmaceutical and other revenue  9,653  9,032  1,454 %  621 
Research and development  29,843  12,639  73 %  17,204 
Selling and marketing  79,840  27,451  52 %  52,389 
General and administrative  101,353  64,624  176 %  36,729 
Intangible asset amortization  15,981  10,886  214 %  5,095 

Total operating expenses  301,417  148,545  97 %  152,872 
Loss from operations  (81,903)  (46,514)  (131) %  (35,389) 
Other income, net  254  (226)  (47) %  480 
Loss before income tax benefit  (81,649)  (46,740)  134 %  (34,909) 
Income tax benefit  (6,086)  (6,086) NM  — 
Net loss $ (75,563) $ (40,654)  (116) % $ (34,909) 
Other Operating Data:
Diagnostic tests reported  70,449  33,048  88 %  37,401 
Product tests sold  8,116  1,028  15 %  7,088 
Total test volume  78,565  34,076  77 %  44,489 

Depreciation and amortization expense $ 19,593 $ 11,649  147 % $ 7,944 
Stock-based compensation expense $ 22,968 $ 9,973  77 % $ 12,995 

Revenue

Revenue increased $102.0 million, or 87%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 2020. This was primarily 
due to an $86.2 million increase in testing revenue from an 88% volume increase in our diagnostic tests, as well as a 
$1.6 million increase in sales of Prosigna. Tests reported for the year ended December 31, 2021 also includes the Decipher 
urology tests, which contributed $65.9 million of revenue during the year ended December 31, 2021. Biopharmaceutical and 
other revenue increased $14.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 2020.  Biopharmaceutical and other 
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 includes $4.0 million of collaboration revenue from the fulfillment of 
obligations relating to development milestones under a Johnson & Johnson diagnostic development agreement. 
Biopharmaceutical and other revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 also includes the operations of HalioDx following 
its acquisition.

Comparison of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is included in Item 8 of Part II of the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission dated February 22, 2021.  
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Cost of revenue

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows (in thousands of dollars, except 
percentages):

 Year Ended December 31,
2021 Change % 2020

Cost of testing revenue:
Laboratory expense $ 32,190 $ 12,903  67 % $ 19,287 
Sample collection expense  5,423  1,182  28 %  4,241 
Compensation expense  11,775  4,645  65 %  7,130 
License fees and royalties  931  879  1,690 %  52 
Depreciation and amortization  1,141  86  8 %  1,055 
Other expenses  2,910  1,289  80 %  1,621 
Allocations  4,490  1,963  78 %  2,527 

Total $ 58,860 $ 22,947  64 % $ 35,913 

Cost of product revenue:
Product costs $ 4,751 $ 719  18 % $ 4,032 
License fees and royalties  1,061  191  22 %  870 
Depreciation and amortization  75  56  295 %  19 

Total $ 5,887 $ 966  20 % $ 4,921 

Cost of biopharmaceutical and other revenue:
Compensation expense $ 4,257 $ 4,107  2,738 % $ 150 
Laboratory expense  754  754 NM  — 
License fees and royalties  101  101 NM  — 
Depreciation and amortization  234  234 NM  — 
Other expenses  4,340  3,869  821 %  471 
Allocations  (33)  (33) NM  — 

Total $ 9,653 $ 9,032  1,454 % $ 621 

Cost of testing revenue increased $22.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 2020. Following the 
acquisition of Decipher Biosciences in March 2021, its operations are included in cost of testing revenue and contributed 
approximately $15.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase in laboratory costs was primarily related to an 
88% increase in the volume of diagnostic tests reported, including Decipher tests. The increase in sample collection costs 
primarily related to the 88% increase in the volume of diagnostic tests reported. The increase in compensation expense related 
to a headcount increase of 162%, including the addition of Decipher Biosciences employees.

Cost of product revenue is related to sales of Prosigna. Cost of product revenue increased $1.0 million, or 20%, for the 
year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020, primarily due to a 15% increase in product tests sold. 

Cost of biopharmaceutical and other revenue includes labor costs incurred by our employees working on customer 
projects and laboratory supplies and pass-through expenses incurred on these projects. Cost of biopharmaceutical and other 
revenue includes the operations of HalioDx following its acquisition on August 2, 2021, which contributed approximately 
$9.3 million to cost of revenue.

Comparison of cost of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are included in Item 8 of Part II of the 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission dated February 22, 2021. 
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Research and development

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows (in thousands of dollars, except 
percentages):

 Year Ended December 31,
2021 Change % 2020

Research and development expense
Compensation expense $ 21,107 $ 9,449  81 % $ 11,658 
Direct research and development expense  4,504  1,520  51 %  2,984 
Professional fees  944  181  24 %  763 
Depreciation and amortization  312  70  29 %  242 
Other expenses  813  588  261 %  225 
Allocations  2,163  831  62 %  1,332 

Total $ 29,843 $ 12,639  73 % $ 17,204 

Research and development expense increased $12.6 million or 73% for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 
2020. Compensation expense increased $9.4 million, primarily due to an increase in average headcount including the addition 
of Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx employees. 

Comparison of research and development expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are included in Item 
8 of Part II of the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission dated February 22, 2021.

Selling and marketing

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows (in thousands of dollars, except 
percentages):

 Year Ended December 31,
2021 Change % 2020

Selling and marketing expense:
Compensation expense $ 57,411 $ 18,300  47 % $ 39,111 
Direct marketing expense  7,211  3,489  94 %  3,722 
Professional fees  2,683  1,224  84 %  1,459 
Depreciation and amortization  3  3 NM  — 
Other expenses  7,754  3,373  77 %  4,381 
Allocations  4,778  1,062  29 %  3,716 

Total $ 79,840 $ 27,451  52 % $ 52,389 

Selling and marketing expense increased $27.5 million, or 52%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 2020.  
The increase in compensation expense was primarily due to temporary furloughs and termination of employees in 2020 as a 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, by the addition of Decipher Biosciences employees in March 2021 and HalioDx employees 
in August 2021. The increase in direct marketing expenses were primarily due to increased outside marketing costs and the 
addition of Decipher Biosciences. 

Comparison of selling and marketing expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are included in Item 8 of 
Part II of the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission dated February 22, 2021.
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General and administrative

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was as follows (in thousands of dollars, except 
percentages):

 Year Ended December 31,
2021 Change % 2020

General and administrative expense:
Compensation expense $ 64,942 $ 42,067  184 % $ 22,875 
Professional fees  32,977  22,635  219 %  10,342 
Occupancy costs  5,055  2,384  89 %  2,671 
Depreciation and amortization  1,847  314  20 %  1,533 
Other expenses  7,930  1,047  15 %  6,883 
Allocations  (11,398)  (3,823)  50 %  (7,575) 

Total $ 101,353 $ 64,624  176 % $ 36,729 

General and administrative expense increased $64.6 million, or 176%, for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 
2020.  General and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 consists of  costs related to the acquisitions of 
Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx, including $27.0 million of stock-based compensation as well as $20.1 million of 
professional fees and other costs associated with the transactions. Following the acquisitions, Decipher Biosciences and 
HalioDx operations also contributed to the increase in general and administrative expenses. The increase in compensation 
expense was also due to an increase in headcount, including the addition of Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx employees. The 
increase in other expenses was primarily due to higher IT costs. General and administrative expenses related to occupancy costs 
and information technology costs are allocated monthly to general and administrative expense, selling and marketing expense, 
research and development expense, and cost of revenue based on the headcount and employee location.

Comparison of general and administrative expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are included in Item 
8 of Part II of the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission dated February 22, 2021.

Other income, net

Other income, net, decreased $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 2020, primarily due to a 
decrease of $1.1 million of unrealized foreign currency gain(loss) and a decrease of $0.5 million of interest and dividend 
income partially offset by an increase of $1.5 million from the CIR related to operations in France. The CIR are generated by 
our wholly owned subsidiary, Veracyte SAS, in connection with its research efforts performed in Marseille, France. We 
recognize other income from the CIR over time based on when the research and development expenses are incurred.

Comparison of Other income, net, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are included in Item 8 of Part II of the 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission dated February 22, 2021.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

From inception through December 31, 2021, we have been financed primarily through net proceeds from the sale of our 
equity securities. We have incurred net losses since our inception. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we 
had net losses of $75.6 million, $34.9 million and $12.6 million, respectively, and we expect to incur additional losses in 2022 
and potentially in future years. As of December 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $357.2 million. 

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents of $173.2 million as of December 31, 2021, our available revolving 
line of credit, and our revenue during the next 12 months will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for at least 
the next 12 months. We expect that our near- and longer-term liquidity requirements will continue to consist of costs to run our 
laboratories, research and development expenses, selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses, working 
capital, costs to service our Loan and Security Agreement (See Note 8 to our audited consolidated financial statements included 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information about our Loan and Security Agreement), capital expenditures, lease 
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obligations and general corporate expenses associated with the growth of our business. However, we may also use cash to 
acquire or invest in complementary businesses, technologies, services or products that would change our cash requirements. If 
we are not able to generate revenue to finance our cash requirements, including due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
we will need to finance future cash needs primarily through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, borrowings or 
strategic collaborations or licensing arrangements. If we raise funds by issuing equity securities, dilution to stockholders could 
result. Any equity securities issued also may provide for rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of our 
common stock. The terms of debt securities issued or borrowings could impose significant restrictions on our operations. The 
incurrence of additional indebtedness or the issuance of certain equity securities could result in increased fixed payment 
obligations and could also result in restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt or issue 
additional equity, limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual property rights, restrictions on our cash pursuant to 
the terms of our Loan and Security Agreement and other operating restrictions that could adversely affect our ability to conduct 
our business. Our Loan and Security Agreement imposes restrictions on our operations, increases our fixed payment obligations 
and has restrictive covenants. In addition, the issuance of additional equity securities by us, or the possibility of such issuance, 
may cause the market price of our common stock to decline. In the event that we enter into collaborations or licensing 
arrangements to raise capital, we may be required to accept unfavorable terms. These agreements may require that we 
relinquish or license to a third-party on unfavorable terms our rights to technologies or product candidates that we otherwise 
would seek to develop or commercialize ourselves, or reserve certain opportunities for future potential arrangements when we 
might be able to achieve more favorable terms. If we are not able to secure additional funding when needed, we may have to 
delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more research and development programs or selling and marketing initiatives, or 
forgo potential acquisitions or investments. In addition, we may have to work with a partner on one or more of our products or 
development programs, which could lower the economic value of those programs to us.

Public Offering of Common Stock

On February 9, 2021, we issued and sold 8,547,297 shares of common stock in a registered public offering, including 
1,114,864 shares issued and sold upon the underwriters' exercise in full of their option to purchase additional shares, at a price 
to the public of $74.00 per share. Our net proceeds from the offering were $593.8 million, after deducting underwriting 
commissions and offering expenses of $38.7 million.

In August 2020, we issued and sold 6,900,000 shares of common stock in a registered public offering, including 900,000 
shares issued and sold upon the underwriters’ exercise in full of their option to purchase additional shares, at a price to the 
public of $30.00 per share. Our net proceeds from the offering were approximately $193.8 million, after deducting underwriting 
discounts and commissions and offering expenses of $13.2 million.

In May 2019, we issued and sold 6,325,000 shares of common stock in a registered public offering, including 825,000 
shares issued and sold upon the underwriters’ exercise in full of their option to purchase additional shares, at a price to the 
public of $23.25 per share. Our net proceeds from the offering were approximately $137.8 million, after deducting underwriting 
discounts and commissions and offering expenses of $9.2 million.

Operating Leases

We lease office and laboratory facilities in South San Francisco and San Diego, California; Austin, Texas; Marseille, 
France; and Richmond, Virginia, and lease certain equipment under various non-cancelable lease agreements. The lease terms 
extend to October 2030 and contain extension of lease term and expansion options. As of December 31, 2021, the leases have a 
weighted average remaining lease term of 4.8 years and total future minimum lease payments of $20.7 million. 

As of December 31, 2021, Veracyte SAS has signed a lease agreement for facilities which will be constructed in 
Marseille, France. The lease will commence upon completion of the construction of the office building which we currently 
expect to occur in the fourth quarter of 2023 at which time we will record a lease liability and a corresponding ROU asset. The 
initial term of the lease will be twelve years with annual rent of approximately $1.4 million, which is subject to change based on 
final construction. 

Loan and Security Agreement

On November 3, 2017, we entered into the Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank.  The Loan and 
Security Agreement allows us to borrow up to $35.0 million, with a $25.0 million term loan, or Term Loan, and a revolving line 
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of credit of up to $10.0 million, or the Revolving Line of Credit, subject to, with respect to the Revolving Line of Credit, a 
borrowing base of 85% of eligible accounts receivable.  The Term Loan was advanced upon the closing of the Loan and 
Security Agreement. Borrowings under the Loan and Security Agreement mature in October 2022.  The Term Loan bears 
interest at a variable rate equal to (i) the thirty-day U.S. London Interbank Offer Rate, or LIBOR, plus (ii) 4.20%, with a 
minimum rate of 5.43% per annum.  Principal amounts outstanding under the Revolving Line of Credit bear interest at a 
variable rate equal to (i) LIBOR plus (ii) 3.50%, with a minimum rate of 4.70% per annum.  We are also required to pay an 
annual facility fee on the Revolving Line of Credit of $25,000.  

We may prepay the outstanding principal amount under the Term Loan plus accrued and unpaid interest and, if the Term 
Loan is repaid in full, a prepayment premium of $250,000. If the Loan and Security Agreement is terminated before maturity, 
then a termination fee equal to 1% of the Revolving Line of Credit, or $0.1 million, will be due.  In addition, a final payment on 
the Term Loan in the amount of $1.2 million is due upon the earlier of the maturity date of the Term Loan or its payment in full.  
In 2019 and 2020, we prepaid $24.9 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of the principal amount of the Term Loan Advance 
and did not incur any prepayment premium as we did not repay the Term Loan Advance in full. As of December 31, 2021, the 
principal balance outstanding was one dollar.

The Loan and Security Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, and events of default, as well as 
affirmative and negative covenants.  As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with debt covenants. 

Our obligations under the Loan and Security Agreement are secured by substantially all of our assets (excluding 
intellectual property), subject to certain customary exceptions.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands of 
dollars):

 Years Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Net cash used in operating activities $ (31,621) $ (9,711) $ (3,232) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (739,206)  (3,837)  (42,733) 
Net cash provided by financing activities  596,320  203,595  127,287 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $31.6 million. The net loss of $75.6 million 
includes non-cash charges of $22.5 million of stock-based compensation expense, $19.6 million of depreciation and 
amortization, which includes $16.0 million of intangible asset amortization, $6.3 million of deferred income taxes, noncash 
lease expense of $1.6 million, $1.2 million of foreign currency loss, and a $0.8 million expense for the revaluation of the 
contingent consideration related to the NanoString transaction. Cash provided by changes in operating assets and liabilities was 
$4.2 million, primarily comprised of an increase in accrued liabilities of $14.4 million and an increase in accounts payable of 
$5.2 million partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable of $8.6 million, an increase in prepaid expense and other 
current assets of $3.3 million, an increase in supplies of $1.5 million and a decrease in operating lease liability of $1.8 million. 

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $9.7 million. The net loss of $34.9 million 
includes non-cash charges of $13.0 million of stock-based compensation expense, $7.9 million of depreciation and 
amortization, which includes $5.1 million of intangible asset amortization, a $1.1 million write-down of supplies, noncash lease 
expense of $1.0 million, impairment loss of $1.0 million and a $1.5 million expense for the revaluation of the contingent 
consideration related to the NanoString transaction. Cash used as a result of changes in operating assets and liabilities was $0.5 
million, primarily comprised of a decrease in accrued liabilities of $0.9 million, a decrease in operating lease liability of $1.4 
million, and an increase in prepaid expense and other current assets of $1.0 million, partially offset by a decrease in accounts 
receivable of $1.0 million, and an increase in accounts payable of $0.7 million and a decrease in supplies of $1.1 million.

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $3.2 million. The net loss of $12.6 million 
includes non-cash charges of $9.8 million of stock-based compensation expense and $4.1 million of depreciation and 
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amortization, which includes $1.4 million of intangible asset amortization, noncash lease expense of $1.0 million, and $0.2 
million of end-of-term debt obligation accruals.  Cash used as a result of changes in operating assets and liabilities was $5.9 
million, primarily comprised of an increase in accounts receivable of $6.2 million, an increase in supplies of $3.4 million, a 
decrease in operating lease liability of $1.2 million and an increase in other assets of $0.4 million, partially offset by an increase 
in accrued liabilities and deferred rent of $5.2 million.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $739.2 million consisting of $574.4 million 
for the acquisition of Decipher Biosciences, $162.4 million for the acquisition of HalioDx and $5.4 million for the acquisition 
of property and equipment partially offset by $3.0 million of proceeds from the sale of an equity investment.

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $2.8 million for the acquisition of property 
and equipment and $1.0 million for the purchase of equity securities of MAVIDx, Inc.

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $42.7 million, consisting of $40.0 million for 
the acquisition of NanoString's diagnostics business, and $2.7 million for the acquisition of property and equipment, net of 
proceeds from the disposal of property and equipment.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $596.3 million, consisting of 
$593.8 million in net proceeds from the issuance of common stock in a public offering in February 2021, $11.5 million in 
proceeds from the exercise of options to purchase our common stock and purchase of stock under our Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan, or ESPP, partially offset by $9.0 million in tax payments during the period related to the vesting of restricted stock units 
granted to employees.

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $203.6 million, consisting of 
$193.8 million in net proceeds from the issuance of common stock in a public offering in August 2020, $13.7 million in 
proceeds from the exercise of options to purchase our common stock and purchase of stock under our ESPP partially offset by 
$3.8 million in tax payments during the period related to the vesting of restricted stock units granted to employees.

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $127.3 million, consisting of 
$137.8 million in net proceeds from the issuance of common stock in a public offering in May 2019 and $15.6 million in 
proceeds from the exercise of options to purchase our common stock and purchase of stock under our ESPP, during the year, 
partially offset by $24.9 million of loan principal repayments, $1.0 million in tax payments during the period related to the 
vesting of restricted stock units granted to employees and finance lease payments of $0.3 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, issued Accounting Standards Update, or 
ASU, 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. This standard simplifies the 
accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740. This ASU removes the 
following exceptions: (1) exception to the incremental approach for intra-period tax allocation when there is a loss from 
continuing operations and income or a gain from other items; (2) exception to the requirement to recognize a deferred tax 
liability for equity method investments when a foreign subsidiary becomes an equity method investment; (3) exception to the 
ability not to recognize a deferred tax liability for a foreign subsidiary when a foreign equity method investment becomes a 
subsidiary; and (4) exception to the general methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period when a year-to-date 
loss exceeds the anticipated loss for the year. The amendments in this ASU also improve consistency and simplify other areas 
of Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance. The revised guidance will be applied prospectively and became 
effective for us beginning January 1, 2021. The adoption of ASU 2019-12 did not have a material impact on our consolidated 
financial statements.

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets 
and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, which requires entities to recognize and measure contract assets and 
contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with ASC 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606). The update will generally result in an entity recognizing contract assets and contract liabilities at 
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amounts consistent with those recorded by the acquiree immediately before the acquisition date rather than at fair value. The 
new standard is effective on a prospective basis for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption 
permitted. We do not expect to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures from the 
adoption of this guidance.

ITEM 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily relate to interest rates. We 
had cash and cash equivalents of $173.2 million as of December 31, 2021 which consisted of bank deposits and money market 
funds. Such interest-bearing instruments carry a degree of risk; however, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates during any 
of the periods presented would not have had a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

Foreign Currency Risk

As of December 31, 2021 we held $10.3 million of bank deposits and time deposits denominated in Euros.  Such Euro 
denominated deposits carry a degree of risk from changes in currency exchange rates as the gains or losses from changes in 
exchange rates are included in our net loss and comprehensive loss. As of December 31, 2021 a hypothetical 10% appreciation 
or depreciation of the U.S. dollar relative to the Euro would have increased or decreased our net loss by $1.0 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2021. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Veracyte, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Veracyte, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated 
financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(2013 Framework), and our report dated February 28, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters 

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that 
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that 
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The 
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as 
a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit 
matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Revenue from diagnostic services
Description of the Matter During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company’s revenue from diagnostic 

services was approximately $188.2 million. As discussed in Note 2, the Company’s 
diagnostic services revenue is recognized upon the delivery of test results to the 
prescribing physician, at which time the Company bills for its services. The Company 
recognizes revenue related to billings based on estimates of the amount that will 
ultimately be realized.

Auditing the measurement of the Company’s diagnostic services revenue was complex 
due to the judgments used in estimating the amount to be realized per test. In 
determining the amount to recognize for a delivered test the Company considers 
factors such as payment history, amount collected per test, payer coverage, and 
whether there is a reimbursement contract between the payer and the Company. The 
Company also considers whether historical collections per test are indicative of future 
collections or if there are any current or expected developments or changes that could 
affect reimbursement rates, which is an estimate that requires significant judgment by 
the Company.

How We Addressed the 
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating 
effectiveness of controls used by management in making this estimate. For example, 
we tested controls over management’s review of changes in collection trends, payer 
rates, contract terms, and payer behavior and expectations of how those changes are 
expected to impact future collections and the amount of revenue to be recognized per 
test. 

To test management’s estimate of the amount of revenue to be recognized per test 
delivered our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating the methodology 
used, understanding and testing the significant assumptions discussed above, and 
testing the underlying data used by the Company (including the completeness and 
accuracy of historical data). We tested payment history and amount collected per test 
on a sample basis, including agreeing selections to supporting documentation such as 
physician requisition, cash collected, write-offs of receivables, and proof of delivery, 
as applicable. We evaluated and tested management’s assessment of changes in payer 
trends, behaviors, and contract terms and how those changes will impact future cash 
collections as well as management’s consideration of any contrary factors. We also 
assessed and tested management’s review of differences between prior period accrual 
rates and actual cash collections and how those differences were factored into 
management’s estimate of current period accrual rates.

89



Valuation of intangible assets acquired in business combinations
Description of the Matter During 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of Decipher Biosciences for total 

purchase consideration of $594.7 million and its acquisition of HalioDx for total 
purchase consideration of $319.6 million, as disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated 
financial statements.  The transactions were accounted for as business combinations. 
The acquisition date fair values of acquired intangible assets were estimated to be 
$161.6 million.

Auditing the acquisition date fair values of the intangible assets was complex due to 
the subjective assumptions required in estimating the fair values of each asset. In 
particular, the fair value estimates required the use of valuation methodologies that 
were sensitive to significant assumptions, such as projected testing volumes, discount 
and obsolescence rates.

How We Addressed the 
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating 
effectiveness of controls used by management for the determination of the estimated 
fair value of the intangible assets. For example, we tested controls over management’s 
review of the valuation of intangible assets, including the review of the valuation 
models and significant assumptions used to develop the fair value estimates of the 
intangible assets. We also tested management's controls to validate that the data used 
in the fair value estimates were complete and accurate.  

Our audit procedures related to the valuation of intangible assets included, among 
others, utilizing a valuation specialist to assist in evaluating the appropriateness of the 
Company’s valuation models and discount rates, performing sensitivity analyses to 
determine which assumptions had the most impact on the overall determination of 
value and testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used to develop 
the assumptions. Our audit procedures included comparing significant assumptions, 
such as obsolescence rates, to other guideline companies within the same industry. In 
addition, we compared projected testing volumes to current industry trends, to 
historical results of the acquired business and to the Company’s historical results. 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.
Redwood City, California 
February 28, 2022 
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VERACYTE, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 173,197 $ 349,364 
Accounts receivable  41,461  18,461 
Supplies  11,225  4,657 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  17,219  3,197 

Total current assets  243,102  375,679 
Property and equipment, net  15,098  8,990 
Right-of-use assets - operating leases  16,043  7,843 
Intangible assets, net  202,731  59,924 
Goodwill  707,904  2,725 
Restricted cash  749  603 
Other assets  2,198  1,399 

Total assets $ 1,187,825 $ 457,163 
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 12,360 $ 3,116 
Accrued liabilities  39,475  11,705 
Current portion of long-term debt  1,127  — 
Current portion of deferred revenue  4,646  371 
Current portion of acquisition-related contingent consideration  2,682  — 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities  3,630  1,589 
Current portion of other liabilities  231  — 

Total current liabilities  64,151  16,781 
Long-term debt  —  810 
Deferred revenue, net of current portion  343  829 
Deferred tax liability  5,592  — 
Acquisition-related contingent consideration, net of current portion  5,722  7,594 
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion  14,096  9,917 
Other liabilities  1,407  — 

Total liabilities  91,311  35,931 
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding as of 

December 31, 2021 and 2020  —  — 
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 125,000,000 shares authorized, 71,123,108 and 58,200,526 shares 

issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively  71  58 
Additional paid-in capital  1,468,683  702,768 
Accumulated deficit  (357,157)  (281,594) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (15,083)  — 

Total stockholders' equity  1,096,514  421,232 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 1,187,825 $ 457,163 

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VERACYTE, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Revenue:
Testing revenue $ 188,182 $ 101,970 $ 107,355 
Product revenue  11,464  9,845  923 
Biopharmaceutical and other revenue  19,868  5,668  12,090 

Total revenue  219,514  117,483  120,368 

Operating expenses:
Cost of testing revenue  58,860  35,913  36,077 
Cost of product revenue  5,887  4,921  446 
Cost of biopharmaceutical and other revenue  9,653  621  — 
Research and development  29,843  17,204  14,851 
Selling and marketing  79,840  52,389  53,691 
General and administrative  101,353  36,729  29,029 
Intangible asset amortization  15,981  5,095  1,401 

Total operating expenses  301,417  152,872  135,495 
Loss from operations  (81,903)  (35,389)  (15,127) 
Other income, net  254  480  2,528 
Loss before income tax benefit  (81,649)  (34,909)  (12,599) 
Income tax benefit  (6,086)  —  — 
Net loss $ (75,563) $ (34,909) $ (12,599) 
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ (1.11) $ (0.66) $ (0.27) 
Shares used to compute net loss per common share, basic and diluted  67,890,328  53,239,231  46,138,177 

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VERACYTE, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands)

 Year Ended December 31,

 2021 2020 2019

Net loss $ (75,563) $ (34,909) $ (12,599) 

Other comprehensive loss:

Change in currency translation adjustments  (15,083)  —  — 

Net comprehensive loss $ (90,646) $ (34,909) $ (12,599) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VERACYTE, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

(in thousands)

 
Additional

Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss

Total
Stockholders'

Equity
 Common Stock
 Shares Amount
Balance at December 31, 2018  40,863 $ 41 $ 313,800 $ (234,086) $ — $ 79,755 
Sale of common stock in a public offering, net of 

offering costs of $9,208  6,325  6  137,842  —  —  137,848 
Issuance of common stock on exercise of stock options 

and vesting of restricted stock units  1,924  2  14,353  —  —  14,355 
Issuance of common stock under employee stock 

purchase plan (ESPP)  136  —  1,266  —  —  1,266 
Issuance of common stock for acquisition  377  1  9,999  —  —  10,000 
Tax portion of vested restricted stock units  —  —  (977)  —  —  (977) 
Stock-based compensation expense (employee)  —  —  8,883  —  —  8,883 
Stock-based compensation expense (non-employee)  —  —  181  —  —  181 
Stock-based compensation expense (ESPP)  —  —  743  —  —  743 
Net loss  —  —  —  (12,599)  —  (12,599) 
Balance at December 31, 2019  49,625  50  486,090  (246,685)  —  239,455 
Sale of common stock in a public offering, net of 

offering costs of $13,169  6,900  7  193,824  —  —  193,831 
Issuance of common stock on exercise of stock options 

and vesting of restricted stock units  1,573  1  11,667  —  —  11,668 
Issuance of common stock under ESPP  103  —  2,037  —  —  2,037 
Tax portion of vested restricted stock units  —  —  (3,845)  —  —  (3,845) 
Stock-based compensation expense (employee)  —  —  12,017  —  —  12,017 
Stock-based compensation expense (non-employee)  —  —  51  —  —  51 
Stock-based compensation expense (ESPP)  —  —  927  —  —  927 
Net loss  —  —  —  (34,909)  —  (34,909) 
Balance at December 31, 2020  58,201  58  702,768  (281,594)  —  421,232 
Sale of common stock in a public offering, net of 

offering costs of $38,677  8,547  9  593,812  —  —  593,821 
Issuance of common stock for acquisition  3,347  3  147,086  —  —  147,089 
Issuance of common stock on exercise of stock options 

and vesting of restricted stock units  947  1  9,174  —  —  9,175 
Issuance of common stock under ESPP  81  —  2,353  —  —  2,353 
Tax portion of vested restricted stock units  —  —  (9,029)  —  —  (9,029) 
Stock-based compensation expense (employee)  —  —  20,795  —  —  20,795 
Stock-based compensation expense (non-employee)  —  —  61  —  —  61 
Stock-based compensation expense (ESPP)  —  —  1,663  —  —  1,663 
Net loss  —  —  —  (75,563)  —  (75,563) 
Comprehensive loss  —  —  —  —  (15,083)  (15,083) 
Balance at December 31, 2021  71,123 $ 71 $ 1,468,683 $ (357,157) $ (15,083) $ 1,096,514 

 
  The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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VERACYTE, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands of dollars)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019
Operating activities    
Net loss $ (75,563) $ (34,909) $ (12,599) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization  19,593  7,944  4,117 
Gain on disposal of property and equipment  —  —  (23) 
Stock-based compensation  22,519  12,995  9,807 
Benefit from income taxes  (6,258)  —  — 
Amortization and write-off of debt discount and issuance costs  —  —  83 
Interest on end-of-term debt obligation  216  216  229 
Write-down of excess supplies  —  1,088  — 
Noncash lease expense  1,632  964  1,034 
Revaluation of acquisition-related contingent consideration  810  1,506  — 
Impairment loss  —  1,000  — 
Effect of foreign currency on operations  1,211  (34)  — 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Accounts receivable  (8,571)  955  (6,161) 
Supplies  (1,464)  1,061  (3,404) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  (3,316)  (970)  154 
Other assets  (216)  37  (351) 
Operating lease liability  (1,794)  (1,407)  (1,205) 
Accounts payable  5,155  711  (141) 
Accrued liabilities and deferred revenue  14,425  (868)  5,228 

Net cash used in operating activities  (31,621)  (9,711)  (3,232) 
Investing activities    
Acquisition of Decipher Biosciences, net of cash acquired  (574,411)  —  — 
Acquisition of HalioDx, net of cash acquired  (162,419)  —  — 
Acquisition of NanoString diagnostics platform  —  —  (40,000) 
Proceeds from sale of equity securities  3,000  —  — 
Purchase of equity securities  —  (1,000)  — 
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment  —  —  23 
Purchases of property and equipment  (5,376)  (2,837)  (2,756) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (739,206)  (3,837)  (42,733) 
Financing activities    
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in a public offering, net of issuance costs  593,821  193,831  137,848 
Payment of long-term debt  —  (100)  (24,900) 
Payment of financial lease liability  —  —  (308) 
Payment of taxes on vested restricted stock units  (9,029)  (3,845)  (977) 
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options and employee stock purchases  11,528  13,709  15,624 
Net cash provided by financing activities  596,320  203,595  127,287 
(Decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  (174,507)  190,047  81,322 
Effect of foreign currency on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  (1,514)  —  — 
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  (176,021)  190,047  81,322 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year  349,967  159,920  78,598 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 173,946 $ 349,967 $ 159,920 

Supplementary cash flow information of non-cash investing and financing activities:    
Shares issued for purchase consideration for a business combination $ 147,089 $ — $ 10,000 
Deferred purchase consideration for a business combination  —  —  6,088 
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  392  294  226 
Supplementary cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest on debt  9  13  332 
Cash paid for tax  112  112  35 
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Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash:

December 31,

 
2021 2020 2019

Cash and cash equivalents $ 173,197 $ 349,364 $ 159,317 
Restricted cash  749  603  603 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 173,946 $ 349,967 $ 159,920 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Organization and Description of Business

Veracyte, Inc., or Veracyte, or the Company, is a global diagnostics company that improves patient care by answering 
important clinical questions to inform diagnosis and treatment decisions throughout the patient journey in cancer and other 
diseases. The Company’s growing menu of tests leverage advances in genomic science and machine learning technology to 
influence care for patients, enabling them to avoid unnecessary and potentially harmful procedures and interventions, and 
accelerate time to more appropriate treatment. In addition to making its tests available in the United States through its central 
laboratories, the Company believes its exclusive access to the nCounter Analysis System, a diagnostics platform, positions the 
company to deliver its tests to patients worldwide through laboratories and hospitals that can perform them locally. 

Veracyte was incorporated in the state of Delaware on August 15, 2006, as Calderome, Inc. Calderome operated as an 
incubator until early 2008. On March 4, 2008, the Company changed its name to Veracyte, Inc. The Company’s headquarters 
are in South San Francisco, California, and it also has operations in San Diego, California; Austin, Texas; Richmond, Virginia; 
Vancouver, Canada; and Marseille, France. It performs diagnostic testing in its Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments 
of 1988, or CLIA, certified laboratories in South San Francisco, San Diego, Austin, Richmond and Marseille. 

Veracyte’s foundational approach for its tests begins with determining what clinical questions need to be answered in order 
to inform what happens next for the patient. The Company deploys rigorous science and technology to develop and validate its 
tests and collects extensive clinical utility data to demonstrate their ability to influence care. This approach has enabled the 
Company to obtain Medicare reimbursement for many of its commercially available tests. The Company positions its tests to 
integrate seamlessly into the way physicians currently evaluate patients, to facilitate adoption. 

Veracyte currently offers genomic tests, which it believes are changing patient care in thyroid cancer (Afirma); prostate 
cancer (Decipher Prostate); breast cancer (Prosigna); lung cancer (Percepta); and interstitial lung diseases, or ILD, including 
idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, or IPF (Envisia). The Company’s commercially available tests in each of these indications are 
covered by Medicare.  Additionally, through its acquisition of HalioDx, the Company also offers a clinically validated immuno-
oncology test in colon cancer (Immunoscore).

The Company performs its genomic tests for thyroid cancer, lung cancer and IPF in its CLIA-certified laboratory in South 
San Francisco, California, and its genomic tests for prostate and bladder cancer in its College of American Pathologists, or 
CAP, accredited and CLIA-certified laboratory in San Diego, California. In 2019, the Company acquired from NanoString 
Technologies, Inc. or NanoString, the exclusive global diagnostics license to the nCounter Analysis System and the Prosigna 
Breast Cancer Prognostic Gene Signature Assay, which is commercially available, along with the LymphMark lymphoma 
subtyping assay, which is in development for use as a companion diagnostic with Acerta Pharma’s and AstraZeneca’s 
Calquence. Both tests are designed for use on the nCounter Analysis System. The Prosigna test kits and associated products are 
sold to laboratories and hospitals globally. Additionally, the Company’s Immunoscore Colon Cancer test is performed in 
Veracyte’s CLIA-certified laboratories in Marseille, France, and Richmond, Virginia.  

Veracyte’s scientific approach and capabilities in genomics and immuno-oncology also provide multiple opportunities for 
partnerships with biopharmaceutical and diagnostic testing companies. In developing and commercializing its products, the 
Company has built or gained access to unique data and sample biorepositories, and proprietary technology and bioinformatics 
that it believes are important to the development of new targeted therapies, determining clinical trial eligibility and guiding 
treatment selection.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The Company's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and 
its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

VERACYTE, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities as of 
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. 
Significant items subject to such estimates include: revenue recognition; write-down of supplies; useful lives of property and 
equipment; recoverability of long-lived assets; incremental borrowing rates for leases; accounting for acquisitions; estimation of 
the fair value of intangible assets and contingent consideration; assessment of variable interest entities; stock based 
compensation; income tax uncertainties, including a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets; allowance for credit losses and 
contingencies. The Company bases these estimates on historical and anticipated results, trends, and various other assumptions 
that the Company believes are reasonable under the circumstances, including assumptions as to future events. These estimates 
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and recognized revenue and expenses 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

Liquidity

The Company has incurred net losses since its inception and as of December 31, 2021, the Company had an accumulated 
deficit of $357.2 million.  The Company believes its cash and cash equivalents of $173.2 million as of December 31, 2021, and 
its revenue from sales in 2022 will be sufficient to meet its anticipated cash requirements through at least February 2022.

On February 9, 2021, the Company issued and sold 8,547,297 shares of common stock in a registered public offering, 
including 1,114,864 shares issued and sold upon the underwriters' exercise in full of their option to purchase additional shares, 
at a price to the public of $74.00 per share. The Company's net proceeds from the offering were $593.8 million, after deducting 
underwriting commissions and offering expenses of $38.7 million.

In August 2020, the Company issued and sold 6,900,000 shares of common stock in a registered public offering, including 
900,000 shares issued and sold upon the underwriters' exercise in full of their option to purchase additional shares, at a price to 
the public of $30.00 per share. The Company's net proceeds from the offering were approximately $193.8 million, after 
deducting underwriting commissions and offering expenses of $13.2 million.

In May 2019, the Company issued and sold 6,325,000 shares of common stock in a registered public offering, including 
825,000 shares issued and sold upon the underwriters' exercise in full of their option to purchase additional shares, at a price to 
the public of $23.25 per share. The Company's net proceeds from the offering were approximately $137.8 million, after 
deducting underwriting commissions and offering expenses of $9.2 million.

If the Company is not able to generate cash proceeds from revenue sufficient to satisfy its cash obligations, the Company 
will need to finance future cash needs primarily through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, borrowings or 
strategic collaborations or licensing arrangements. If the Company is not able to secure additional funding when needed, on 
acceptable terms, it may have to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more research and development programs or 
selling and marketing initiatives which may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations, 
financial condition and/or its ability to fund its scheduled obligations on a timely basis or at all.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties

The worldwide spread of coronavirus, or COVID-19, has created significant uncertainty in the global economy. There 
have been no comparable recent events that provide guidance as to the effect the spread of COVID-19 as a global pandemic 
may have. As a result, the ultimate impact of COVID-19 and the extent to which COVID-19 impacts the Company’s business, 
results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments, are highly uncertain and difficult to predict. If 
the financial markets or the overall economy are impacted for an extended period, the Company’s liquidity, revenues, supplies, 
goodwill and intangibles may be adversely affected. The Company considers the effects, to the extent knowable, of the 
COVID-19 pandemic in developing our estimates.

 
The majority of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are deposited with one major financial institution in the United 

States. Deposits in this institution may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. The Company has not 
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realized any losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents other than exchange rate losses related to foreign currency 
denominated accounts.

Several of the components of the Company's sample collection kit and test reagents, and its nCounter Analysis Systems 
and related test kits are obtained from single-source suppliers. If these single-source suppliers fail to satisfy the Company's 
requirements on a timely basis, it could suffer delays in being able to deliver its diagnostic solutions, a possible loss of revenue, 
or incur higher costs, any of which could adversely affect its operating results.

The Company is also subject to credit risk from its accounts receivable related to its sales. Credit risk for accounts 
receivable from testing revenue is incorporated in testing revenue accrual rates as the Company assesses historical collection 
rates and current developments to determine accrual rates and amounts the Company will ultimately collect. The Company 
generally does not perform evaluations of customers’ financial condition for testing revenue and generally does not require 
collateral. The Company assesses credit risk and the amount of accounts receivable the Company will ultimately collect for 
product, biopharmaceutical and other revenue based on collection history, current developments and credit worthiness of the 
customer. The estimate of credit losses is not material at December 31, 2021.

Through December 31, 2021, the Company has derived most of its revenue from the sale of Afirma and the Decipher 
urologic tests, delivered primarily to physicians in the United States. The Company generally invoices third-party payers upon 
delivery of a patient report to the prescribing physician. As such, the Company takes the assignment of benefits and the risk of 
cash collection from the third-party payer and individual patients.  The Company's total third-party payers and other customers 
in excess of 10% of revenue and their related revenue as a percentage of total revenue were as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Medicare  30 %  24 %  26 %
UnitedHealthcare  10 %  11 %  11 %

 40 %  35 %  37 %

The Company's significant third-party payers and other customers in excess of 10% of total accounts receivable and their 
related accounts receivable balance as a percentage of total accounts receivable were as follows:

 As of December 31,
 2021 2020

Medicare  12 %  13 %
UnitedHealthcare  9 %  12 %

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers demand deposits in a bank, money market funds and highly liquid investments with an original 
maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. 

Restricted Cash

The Company had deposits of $749,000 and $603,000 included in long-term assets as of December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020, respectively, restricted from withdrawal and held by banks in the form of collateral for irrevocable standby 
letters of credit held as security for the Company's leases.

Acquisitions

The Company first determines whether a set of assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute a business and should be 
accounted for as a business combination. If the assets acquired are not a business, the Company accounts for the transaction as 
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an asset acquisition. Business combinations are accounted for by using the acquisition method of accounting. Under the 
acquisition method, assets acquired, and liabilities assumed are recorded at their respective fair values as of the acquisition date 
in our consolidated financial statements. The estimated fair value of intangible assets acquired are based on discounted cash 
flows utilizing certain assumptions including revenues (such as projected testing volumes, growth rates), discount rates and 
expected economic life/obsolescence factors of the respective assets. The excess of the fair value of consideration transferred 
over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Contingent consideration obligations incurred in 
connection with a business combination are recorded at fair value on the acquisition date and remeasured at each subsequent 
reporting period until the related contingencies are resolved, with the resulting changes in fair value recorded in general and 
administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Equity Investment

In July 2020, the Company invested $1.0 million in the preferred stock of MAVIDx, Inc., or MAVIDx, a company 
developing a diagnostic platform for infectious diseases testing. MAVIDx is a variable interest entity, or VIE, and the 
Company's investment is a variable interest. The Company has determined that it is not the primary beneficiary of the VIE due 
to the fact that the Company does not have the power to direct the activities that impact the economic performance of MAVIDx 
or the obligation to fund its operations with ongoing financial support or contributions. MAVIDx is a private company and its 
equity securities are not traded or quoted in any securities exchange or in the over-the-counter market, and therefore does not 
have a readily determinable fair value.  As such, the Company has elected to measure its investment in the preferred stock at 
cost, less any impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for an identical 
or similar equity financings of MAVIDx, in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC 321, Investments—
Equity Securities. Based on the fourth quarter of 2020 operating performance of MAVIDx and the volatile nature of the market 
in which it operates, the Company determined that the investment in MAVIDx is fully impaired as of December 31, 2020. As a 
result, an impairment loss of $1.0 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2020 and is included in general and 
administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is computed 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally between three and five years. Leasehold 
improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term 
of the lease. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, and improvements and betterments are capitalized. 
When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and 
any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the statements of operations in the period realized.

Finite-lived Intangible Assets 

Finite-lived intangible assets consist of intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations. The Company 
amortizes finite-lived intangible assets using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 4 to 15 years, based on 
management's estimate of the period over which their economic benefits will be realized, product life and patent life. The 
Company tests these finite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or circumstances indicate a reduction in the fair 
value below their carrying amounts. There was no impairment for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019.

Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of in-process research and development, or IPR&D, acquired as part of business 
combinations.  The IPR&D is not amortized until it becomes commercially viable and placed in service. At the time when the 
intangible assets are placed in service the Company will determine a useful life. The Company also tests these indefinite-lived 
intangible assets for impairment when events or circumstances indicate a reduction in the fair value below their carrying 
amounts. There was no impairment for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019.
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Goodwill 

Goodwill, is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that it 
may be impaired. The Company's goodwill evaluation is based on both qualitative and quantitative assessments regarding the 
fair value of goodwill relative to its carrying value. The Company has determined that it operates in a single segment and has a 
single reporting unit associated with the development and commercialization of diagnostic products. In the event the Company 
determines that it is more likely than not the carrying value of the reporting unit is higher than its fair value, quantitative testing 
is performed comparing recorded values to estimated fair values. If impairment is present, the impairment loss is measured as 
the excess of the recorded goodwill over its implied fair value.  There was no impairment for the years ended December 31, 
2021, 2020 or 2019.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of certain financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid 
expenses and other current assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their relatively short 
maturities.

See Note 6. Fair Value Measurements for further information on the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers, or ASC 606. This process involves identifying the contract with a customer, determining the performance 
obligations in the contract, determining the contract price, allocating the contract price to the distinct performance obligations in 
the contract, and recognizing revenue when the performance obligations have been satisfied. A performance obligation is 
considered distinct from other obligations in a contract when it provides a benefit to the customer either on its own or together 
with other resources that are readily available to the customer and is separately identified in the contract. Performance 
obligations are considered satisfied once the Company has completed a service or transferred control of a product to the 
customer. 

In arrangements involving more than one service or good, each required service or good is evaluated to determine whether 
it qualifies as a distinct performance obligation based on whether (i) the customer can benefit from the service or good either on 
its own or together with other resources that are readily available and (ii) the service or good is separately identifiable from 
other promises in the contract. The consideration under the arrangement is then allocated to each separate distinct performance 
obligation based on its respective relative stand-alone selling price. The estimated selling price of each deliverable reflects the 
Company's best estimate of what the selling price would be if the deliverable was regularly sold by the Company on a stand-
alone basis or using an adjusted market assessment approach if selling price on a stand-alone basis is not available. The 
consideration allocated to each distinct performance obligation is recognized as revenue when control is transferred which may 
be at a point in time or over time.

Testing Revenue

The Company bills for testing services at the time of test completion as defined by the delivery of test results. The 
Company recognizes revenue based on estimates of the amount that will ultimately be realized. In determining the amount to 
accrue for a delivered test, the Company considers factors such as payment history, payer coverage, whether there is a 
reimbursement contract between the payer and the Company, payment as a percentage of agreed upon rate (if applicable), 
amount paid per test and any current developments or changes that could impact reimbursement. These estimates require 
significant judgment by management. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

During 2021, the Company changed its testing revenue estimates due to actual and anticipated cash collections for tests 
delivered in 2020 or prior years and recognized additional revenue of $1.5 million, which resulted in a decrease in the 
Company's loss from operations of $1.5 million and a decrease in loss per share of $0.02 for the year ended December 31, 
2021.
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During 2020, the Company changed its testing revenue estimates due to actual and anticipated cash collections for tests 
delivered in 2019 or prior years and recognized additional revenue of $1.5 million, which resulted in a decrease in the 
Company's loss from operations of $1.5 million and a decrease in loss per share of $0.02 for the year ended December 31, 
2020.

During 2019, the Company changed its testing revenue estimates due to actual and anticipated cash collections for tests 
delivered in 2018 or prior years and recognized additional revenue of $1.6 million, which resulted in a decrease in the 
Company's loss from operations of $1.6 million and a decrease in loss per share of $0.04 for the year ended December 31, 
2019.

Product Revenue

The Company began recognizing product revenue in December 2019, when the Company executed an agreement with 
NanoString for the exclusive global license to the nCounter Analysis System for diagnostic use. More details on this agreement 
are in Note 4. Business Combination.  

Product revenue from instruments and diagnostic kits is recognized generally upon shipment or when the instrument is 
ready for use by the end customer. Shipping and handling costs incurred for product shipments are included in product revenue. 
Revenues are presented net of the taxes that are collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities. There was 
no revenue from instrument sales for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019.  

Biopharmaceutical and Other Revenue

The Company enters into arrangements for research and development, commercialization, contract manufacturing and 
contract testing services which are classified under biopharmaceutical and other revenue. Such arrangements may require the 
Company to deliver various rights, manufactured diagnostic test kits, services and/or samples, including intellectual property 
rights/licenses, research and development services, and/or commercialization services. The Company receives consideration in 
the form of upfront license fees; payments on delivery of data, test results or manufactured products; costs of service plus 
margin; and development and commercial performance milestone payments. 

 
The Company develops estimates and assumptions that require judgment to determine the underlying stand-alone selling 

price for each performance obligation which determines how the transaction price is allocated among the performance 
obligations. The estimation of the stand-alone selling price may include independent evidence of market price, forecasted 
revenues or costs, development timelines, discount rates, and probabilities of technical and regulatory success. The Company 
evaluates each performance obligation to determine if they can be satisfied at a point in time or over time, and it measures the 
services delivered to the collaborative partner which are periodically reviewed based on the progress of the related program. For 
licenses that are bundled with other promises, the Company utilizes judgment to assess the nature of the combined performance 
obligation to determine whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time. The effect of 
any change made to an estimated input component and, therefore revenue or expense recognized, would be recorded as a 
change in estimate. In addition, variable consideration must be evaluated to determine if it is constrained and, therefore, 
excluded from the transaction price. 

At the inception of each arrangement that includes milestone payments (variable consideration), the Company evaluates 
whether the milestones are considered probable of being reached and estimates the amount to be included in the transaction 
price. Milestone payments that are not within either party’s control, such as non-operational developmental and regulatory 
approvals, are generally not considered probable of being achieved until those approvals are received. At the end of each 
reporting period, the Company re-evaluates the probability of achievement of milestones that are within either party’s control, 
such as operational developmental milestones and any related constraint, and if necessary, adjusts its estimate of the overall 
transaction price. Any such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect revenues and earnings 
in the period of adjustment. Revisions to the Company’s estimate of the transaction price may also result in negative revenues 
and earnings in the period of adjustment. One collaboration arrangement with milestone payments falls under the scope of ASC 
Topic 808, Collaborative Arrangements, or ASC 808. These milestone payments are recognized in the same manner as 
milestone payments from customers and are classified under biopharmaceutical and other revenue.
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Accounts receivable from biopharmaceutical and other revenue was $11.6 million and $0.4 million at December 31, 2021 
and 2020, respectively. There was $5.0 million and $1.2 million of deferred revenue related to these agreements at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Revenues included in biopharmaceutical and other revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were 
as follows (in thousands of dollars):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Development services $ 10,387 $ 2,123 $ 1,000 

Collaboration milestones  4,000  —  4,000 

Provision of data  1,876  1,545  7,090 

Milestones  350  1,000  — 

Development rights  —  1,000  — 

Contract manufacturing  2,872  —  — 

Contract testing  383  —  — 

Total $ 19,868 $ 5,668 $ 12,090 

Cost of Testing Revenue

The components of our cost of testing services are laboratory expenses, sample collection expenses, compensation 
expense, license fees and royalties, depreciation and amortization, other expenses such as equipment and laboratory supplies, 
and allocations of facility and information technology expenses. Costs associated with performing tests are expensed as the test 
is processed regardless of whether and when revenue is recognized with respect to that test. Cost of testing revenue for the year 
ended December 31, 2020 included a $1.1 million write-down of supplies for the expiration of reagents due to an anticipated 
decline in volumes resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Cost of Product Revenue 

Cost of product revenue consists primarily of costs of purchasing instruments and diagnostic kits from third-party contract 
manufacturers, installation, service and packaging and delivery costs. In addition, cost of product includes royalty costs for 
licensed technologies included in the Company’s products, and labor expenses. Cost of product revenue for instruments and 
diagnostic kits is recognized in the period the related revenue is recognized. Shipping and handling costs incurred for product 
shipments are included in cost of product in the consolidated statements of operations.

Cost of Biopharmaceutical and Other Revenue 

Cost of biopharmaceutical and other revenue consists of costs of performing activities under arrangements that require the 
Company to perform research and development, commercialization, contract manufacturing and contract testing services on 
behalf of a customer.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses include expenses incurred to develop the Company's technology, collect clinical 
samples and conduct clinical studies to develop and support its products. These expenses consist of compensation expenses, 
direct research and development expenses such as prototype materials, laboratory supplies and costs associated with setting up 
and conducting clinical studies at domestic and international sites, professional fees, depreciation and amortization, other 
miscellaneous expenses and allocation of facility and information technology expenses. The Company expenses all research 
and development costs in the periods in which they are incurred. 
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method.  Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax 
rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income.  Valuation allowances are established 
when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.

The Company assesses all material positions taken in any income tax return, including all significant uncertain positions, 
in all tax years that are still subject to assessment or challenge by relevant taxing authorities. The Company's assessment of an 
uncertain tax position begins with the initial determination of the position's sustainability and is measured at the largest amount 
of benefit that is more-likely-than-not of being realized upon ultimate settlement. As of each balance sheet date, unresolved 
uncertain tax positions must be reassessed, and the Company will determine whether (i) the factors underlying the sustainability 
assertion have changed and (ii) the amount of the recognized tax benefit is still appropriate. The recognition and measurement 
of tax benefits requires significant judgment. Judgments concerning the recognition and measurement of a tax benefit may 
change as new information becomes available.

Stock-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for stock options issued to employees and non-employees is measured based on the 
grant-date fair value of the award. The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model.  Stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock units, or RSUs, is measured based on the fair 
value of the award, which is determined based upon the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant.  
The Company grants performance-based stock units, or PSUs, to certain employees which vest upon the achievement of certain 
performance conditions, subject to the employees’ continued service with the Company. The probability of vesting is assessed 
at each reporting period and compensation cost is adjusted based on this probability assessment.

The Company recognizes compensation costs on a straight-line basis for all employee stock-based compensation awards 
that are expected to vest over the requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the awards' vesting period. 
Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from 
those estimates.

Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration of common stock equivalents. Diluted 
net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average 
number of common share equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the treasury stock method. Potentially 
dilutive securities consisting of options to purchase common stock, RSUs and shares subject to purchase under our employee 
stock purchase plan are considered to be common stock equivalents and were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss 
per common share because their effect would be anti-dilutive for all periods presented.

French Research Tax Credits

The French research tax credits (crédit d’impôt recherche or CIR) is generated by the Company’s wholly owned 
subsidiary, Veracyte SAS, in connection with its research efforts performed in Marseille, France. The Company recognizes 
other income from the CIR over time based on when the research and development expenses are incurred and includes the CIR 
in prepaids and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiary HalioDx is the Euro. Assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated to U.S. dollars using the exchange rates at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency translation 
adjustments are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity. 
Revenues and expenses from the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated using the monthly average exchange rates in 
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effect during the period in which the transactions occur.  Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in other 
income, net, on the consolidated statements of operations.

Segment Reporting

The chief operating decision maker for the Company is the Chief Executive Officer, who reviews financial information 
presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and assessing financial performance.  The Company has a 
single reporting unit associated with the development and commercialization of diagnostic products and biopharmaceutical 
services. 

Revenue by geographic region based on the customer billing address was as follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

United States $ 200,982 $ 109,614 $ 119,153 
International  18,532  7,869  1,215 

Total revenue $ 219,514 $ 117,483 $ 120,368 

Substantially all of the Company’s long-lived assets were located in the United States as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, issued Accounting Standards Update, or 
ASU, 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. This standard simplifies the 
accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740. This ASU removes the 
following exceptions: (1) exception to the incremental approach for intraperiod tax allocation when there is a loss from 
continuing operations and income or a gain from other items; (2) exception to the requirement to recognize a deferred tax 
liability for equity method investments when a foreign subsidiary becomes an equity method investment; (3) exception to the 
ability not to recognize a deferred tax liability for a foreign subsidiary when a foreign equity method investment becomes a 
subsidiary; and (4) exception to the general methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period when a year-to-date 
loss exceeds the anticipated loss for the year. The amendments in this ASU also improve consistency and simplify other areas 
of Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance. The revised guidance will be applied prospectively and became 
effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2021. The adoption of ASU 2019-12 did not have a material impact on the 
Company's consolidated financial statements.

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets 
and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, which requires entities to recognize and measure contract assets and 
contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with ASC 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606). The update will generally result in an entity recognizing contract assets and contract liabilities at 
amounts consistent with those recorded by the acquiree immediately before the acquisition date rather than at fair value. The 
new standard is effective on a prospective basis for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption 
permitted. The Company does not expect to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements and related 
disclosures from the adoption of this guidance.
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3. Net Loss Per Share

The following outstanding common stock equivalents have been excluded from diluted net loss per common share for the 
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Shares of common stock subject to outstanding options  3,754,807  4,564,777  5,394,944 
Employee stock purchase plan  21,158  21,006  26,124 
Restricted stock units  1,106,938  913,562  712,122 
Total common stock equivalents  4,882,903  5,499,345  6,133,190 

4. Business Combinations

HalioDx 

On August 2, 2021, the Company acquired 100% of the equity interests (the "HalioDx Acquisition") of HalioDx SAS and 
100% of the equity interest of HalioDx Inc., historically a wholly owned subsidiary of HalioDx SAS, (collectively referred to as 
“HalioDx”). HalioDx was a privately-held company providing immune-based diagnostic products and services. The 
consideration to acquire HalioDx was $319.6 million, comprised of $147.1 million in the form of 3.3 million shares of the 
Company’s common stock based on the Company's share price on the closing date, $4.2 million in liabilities, and the remainder 
in cash. The Company incurred $11.5 million of transaction costs related to the acquisition of HalioDx, which were recorded as 
general and administrative expense during the year ended December 31, 2021.

In connection with the HalioDx Acquisition, 11,031 unvested HalioDx free ordinary share awards, or free shares, were 
modified to provide the Company the right to purchase the vested free shares (call option) from the holders and the holders the 
right to sell the vested free shares to the Company (put option) from time to time through late 2023. As a result of the call and 
put options, the free shares are liability classified with an initial fair value of $5.1 million, based on the expected settlement 
amount. As the free shares require the holders to continue to provide services post-combination, the Company included 
$3.5 million, attributed to pre-combination services, in the purchase price and the remainder will be recorded in post-
combination compensation expense, which will be recognized over the period the holders provide services to the Company. 

Additionally, in connection with the HalioDx Acquisition, all of HalioDx's equity-classified options that were outstanding 
prior to the HalioDx Acquisition were terminated and cancelled at the acquisition date. The Company paid holders of vested 
options cash consideration of $0.4 million and as the payment is related to pre-combination services, the amount was included 
in the purchase price. The Company also committed to pay cash consideration of $1.5 million to holders of unvested options on 
the date the employee satisfies the original service requirement. As this payment requires continuing services and is forfeited if 
the holders' employment is terminated, the amount was considered nonrecurring post-combination compensation expense and 
will be recognized over the remaining service period. 

As part of the agreement, the Company held back $16.8 million of the cash consideration, or the holdback, which will be 
payable to the founders of HalioDx based on their continuous employment with the Company. Fifty percent of the holdback 
will be placed in escrow on the founders' behalf on the first anniversary of the closing date and the remainder will be paid 
directly to the founders on the second anniversary. As this payment is dependent on the founders’ continuing employment and 
is forfeited if the employment is terminated, the holdback is not included in the purchase price and will be recognized as post-
combination compensation expense over the two-year service period. 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized post-combination compensation expense of $4.5 million, 
of which $0.3 million was recorded as cost of revenue, $0.8 million was recorded as research and development, $1.3 million 
was recorded as sales and marketing, and the remainder was recorded as general and administrative. 
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The Company included the financial results of HalioDx in its consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date, 
which contributed $11.5 million and $13.0 million of revenue and operating loss, respectively, during the year ended 
December 31, 2021.

The following table summarizes the purchase price and post-combination compensation expense as a part of the HalioDx 
Acquisition (in thousands):

 Purchase Price

Post-Combination 
Compensation 

Expense
Cash transferred $ 168,357 $ — 
Liabilities incurred  4,194  19,904 
Common stock transferred  147,089  — 

Total $ 319,640 $ 19,904 

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded based on valuations derived from estimated fair value assessments 
and assumptions used by the Company. While the Company believes that its estimates and assumptions underlying the 
valuations are reasonable, different estimates and assumptions could result in different valuations assigned to the individual 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, and the resulting amount of goodwill. The following table summarizes the fair values of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of HalioDx at the date of acquisition (in thousands):

 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,938 
Accounts receivable  10,793 
Supplies inventory  3,610 
Prepaids and other current assets  7,045 
Property and equipment, net  2,716 
Right-of-use assets, financing lease  733 
Right-of-use assets, operating lease  2,136 
Intangible assets  60,303 
Other assets  524 

Total identifiable assets acquired  93,798 
Accounts payable  (2,645) 
Accrued liabilities  (5,627) 
Current portion of financing lease liability  (247) 
Current portion of operating lease liability  (448) 
Long-term debt  (1,171) 
Deferred revenue  (3,250) 
Financing lease liability, net of current portion  (488) 
Operating lease liability, net of current portion  (1,687) 
Deferred tax liability  (7,409) 

Net identifiable assets acquired  70,826 
Goodwill  248,814 

Total purchase price $ 319,640 

 
Based on the guidance provided in ASC 805, Business Combinations, or ASC 805, the Company accounted for the 

acquisition of HalioDx as a business combination in which the Company determined that HalioDx was a business which 
combines inputs and processes to create outputs, and substantially all of the fair value of gross assets acquired was not 
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
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The Company's purchase price allocation for the HalioDx Acquisition is preliminary and subject to revision as additional 
information about the fair value of the assets and liabilities becomes available. The fair values assigned to tangible and 
intangible assets acquired, and liabilities assumed, are based on management’s estimates and assumptions and may be subject to 
change as additional information is received. Primary areas that are not yet finalized are related to certain income tax items, 
intangible assets, deferred revenue, accounts receivable, other assets, commitments and contingencies and goodwill. Additional 
information that existed as of the closing date but not known at the time of this filing may become known to the Company 
during the remainder of the measurement period, a period not to exceed 12 months from the closing date.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded certain measurement period adjustments due to new 
information becoming available pertaining to the valuation of accounts payable and certain other assets. These adjustments 
were recorded as decreases to goodwill and did not impact the consolidated statements of operations. 

The intangible assets acquired include three developed technology assets (related to diagnostics, biopharma, and contract 
IVD), two customer relationships assets (related to biopharma and contract IVD manufacturing and development), and two 
customer backlog assets (related to biopharma and contract IVD manufacturing and development). The fair value of our 
intangible assets acquired as of the acquisition date and the method used to value these assets as well as the estimated economic 
lives for amortizable intangible assets were as follows (in thousands, except estimated useful life which is in years):

 Fair value Estimated useful life Valuation method
Developed technology – diagnostics $ 4,163 10 Multi-period excess earnings
Developed technology – biopharma  42,224 10 Multi-period excess earnings
Developed technology – contract IVD  1,546 10 Multi-period excess earnings
Customer relationships – biopharma  2,141 7 With-and-without
Customer relationships – contract IVD  2,973 5 With-and-without
Customer backlog – biopharma  2,736 4 Multi-period excess earnings
Customer backlog – contract IVD  4,520 4 Multi-period excess earnings

Total $ 60,303 

The amortization expense for all acquired intangible assets will be recognized on a straight-line basis and recorded within 
intangible asset amortization. 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. 
The HalioDx Acquisition resulted in the recognition of $248.8 million of goodwill which the Company believes consists 
primarily of expanded market and product opportunities, including new areas of testing, as well as the potential manufacturing 
of the Company's product offerings for international markets. Goodwill created as a result of the HalioDx Acquisition is not 
deductible for tax purposes. The HalioDx Acquisition allows the Company to continue to develop and further enhance its 
business as a global diagnostics company and continues the Company’s ability to inform the diagnosis and treatment decisions 
related to cancer. The HalioDx portfolio complements and expands the existing business and allows for vertical integration 
through the addition of manufacturing capabilities for the Company’s test kits.  

In connection with the HalioDx acquisition, a net deferred tax liability was assumed with a fair value of $7.4 million 
which primarily relates to future intangible asset amortization which is not deductible for income tax purposes.

The Company also granted RSUs to new employees who joined the Company in connection with the HalioDx Acquisition 
with a fair value of $16.5 million, net of estimated forfeitures.  As the number of shares that are expected to be issued is fixed, 
the awards are equity-classified. The RSUs vest over four years, subject to the employees’ continuous service.  During the year 
ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded $3.5 million in stock-based compensation expense which includes 
$2.0 million related to one employee whose continuing services were deemed non-substantive. 

VERACYTE, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

108



Decipher Biosciences

On March 12, 2021, the Company acquired 100% of the equity interests of Decipher Biosciences, a privately-held 
company developing diagnostic tests in urologic cancers, for approximately $594.7 million, comprised of approximately 
$550.5 million in the form of upfront cash consideration and the remainder in cash payable post-acquisition of which 
$43.8 million was paid prior to June 30, 2021 (the "Decipher Acquisition"). The Company incurred approximately 
$10.6 million of transaction costs related to the acquisition of Decipher Biosciences which were recorded as general and 
administrative expense during the year ended December 31, 2021.

In connection with the Decipher Acquisition, certain of Decipher Biosciences' equity awards that were outstanding and 
unvested prior to the Decipher Acquisition became fully vested per the terms of the merger agreement. The acceleration of 
vesting required the Company to allocate the fair value of the historical Decipher Biosciences’ employee stock awards 
attributable to pre-combination service to the purchase price and the remaining amount was considered the Company's 
nonrecurring post-combination expense. In March 2021, the Company recognized nonrecurring post-combination expense 
related to the acceleration and cash settlement of unvested historical Decipher Biosciences’ employee stock awards of 
$25.1 million, all of which was recorded as general and administrative expense during the quarter ended March 31, 2021.

The Company included the financial results of Decipher Biosciences in its consolidated financial statements from the 
acquisition date, which contributed $65.9 million and $18.2 million of revenue and operating income, respectively, during the 
year ended December 31, 2021. 

The following table summarizes the purchase price and nonrecurring post-combination compensation expense recorded as 
a part of the Decipher Acquisition (in thousands):

 Purchase Price

Nonrecurring 
Post-Combination 

Compensation 
Expense

Upfront cash consideration $ 550,515 $ 270 
Liabilities incurred  44,179  24,809 

Total $ 594,694 $ 25,079 

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded based on valuations derived from estimated fair value assessments 
and assumptions used by the Company. While the Company believes that its estimates and assumptions underlying the 
valuations are reasonable, different estimates and assumptions could result in different valuations assigned to the individual 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, and the resulting amount of goodwill. The following table summarizes the fair values of 
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assets acquired and liabilities assumed through the Company's acquisition of Decipher Biosciences at the date of acquisition (in 
thousands):

 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 19,782 
Accounts receivable  7,562 
Supplies inventory  1,641 
Prepaids and other current assets  778 
Property and equipment, net  1,737 
Right-of-use assets, operating lease  7,601 
Finite-lived intangible assets  94,000 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets  7,300 
Restricted cash  146 
Other assets  3,075 

Total identifiable assets acquired  143,622 
Accounts payable  (2,351) 
Accrued liabilities  (4,322) 
Operating lease obligations (current)  (1,241) 
Operating lease obligations, net of current portion  (4,540) 
Deferred tax liability  (4,740) 

Net identifiable assets acquired  126,428 
Goodwill  468,266 

Total purchase price $ 594,694 

 
Based on the guidance provided in ASC 805, the Company accounted for the acquisition of Decipher Biosciences as a 

business combination in which the Company determined that Decipher Biosciences was a business which combines inputs and 
processes to create outputs, and substantially all of the fair value of gross assets acquired was not concentrated in a single 
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

The Company's purchase price allocation for the Decipher Acquisition is preliminary and subject to revision as additional 
information about the fair value of the assets and liabilities becomes available. The fair values assigned to tangible and 
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on management’s estimates and assumptions and may be subject to 
change as additional information is received. Primary areas that are not yet finalized are related to accounts receivable, and 
goodwill. Additional information that existed as of the closing date but not known at the time of this filing may become known 
to the Company during the remainder of the measurement period, a period not to exceed 12 months from the closing date. 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded certain measurement period adjustments due to new 
information becoming available pertaining to the valuation of accounts receivable and certain other assets. These adjustments 
were recorded as decreases to goodwill and did not impact the consolidated statements of operations.  One of these adjustments 
relates to cash collections of accounts receivable that existed as of the acquisition date exceeding the initial fair value of 
accounts receivable recorded on the acquisition date by $1.8 million. 

The intangible assets acquired are two IPR&D assets, developed technology, and trade names. Additionally, the Company 
identified an off-market lease and an intangible asset of $1.8 million is included in operating lease assets which will be 
amortized over the remaining lease term.

The estimated fair value of the IPR&D is determined using the multi-period excess earnings method which calculates the 
present value of the estimated revenues and net cash flows derived from the IPR&D once the technologies are developed. The 
IPR&D is not amortized until it becomes commercially viable and placed in service. At the time when the intangible assets are 
placed in service the Company will determine a useful life.  If the IPR&D is abandoned or determined to be impaired, the 
carrying value will be expensed.
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The fair value of the finite-lived intangible assets was estimated as follows: (i) the developed technology of $90.0 million 
was based on a multi-period excess earnings method, and (ii) the trade names of $4.0 million was based on the relief from 
royalty method. The estimated useful life for the developed technology is 10 years, and the estimated useful life for the trade 
names is five years. The amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets is recorded within the intangible asset 
amortization financial statement line item.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. 
The Decipher Acquisition resulted in the recognition of $468.3 million of goodwill which the Company believes consists 
primarily of expanded market and product opportunities, including new areas of genomic testing, as well as the potential 
expansion of the Company's product offerings in international markets. Furthermore, the acquisition of Decipher Biosciences 
bolsters the Company's presence to seven of the ten most common cancers impacting patients in the United States, which in 
turn enhances the Company’s overall prominence in the genomic testing arena. Goodwill created as a result of the Decipher 
Acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes. The Decipher Acquisition advances the Company's objective to improve the lives 
of patients through innovations in genomic technology tailored for diagnostic, prognostic, and treatment decisions related to 
urologic cancers.

We recorded an income tax benefit primarily due to net deferred tax liabilities assumed in connection with the Decipher 
Acquisition, which provided a future source of income to support the realization of our deferred tax assets and resulted in a 
release of $3.5 million in the Company's valuation allowance.

Exclusive License to NanoString Diagnostics Platform  

On December 3, 2019, the Company executed an agreement with NanoString for the exclusive global diagnostics license 
to the nCounter Analysis System, the Prosigna breast cancer prognostic gene signature assay, and the LymphMark lymphoma 
subtyping assay. The strategic transaction positioned the Company to expand its genomic diagnostics business globally, with 
the ability to deliver its advanced genomic tests to physicians and their patients via hospital and clinical laboratories throughout 
the European Union and other parts of the world.  The Company has accounted for this agreement under ASC 805.  Pursuant to 
the terms of the agreement, Veracyte paid NanoString $40.0 million in cash and $10.0 million in Veracyte common stock, and 
may pay up to an additional $10.0 million in cash, contingent upon the commercial launch of Veracyte diagnostic tests for use 
on the platform.  This contingency was valued at $6.1 million as of the acquisition date, recorded as a liability, and will be 
remeasured to fair value at each reporting date until the contingent consideration is settled. As of December 31, 2021, this 
contingency was remeasured to $8.4 million with the corresponding change included in general and administrative expense in 
the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Assets acquired are recorded based on valuations derived from estimated fair value assessments and assumptions used by 
the Company. While the Company believes that its estimates and assumptions underlying the valuations are reasonable, 
different estimates and assumptions could result in different valuations assigned to the individual assets acquired and the 
resulting amount of goodwill. The following table summarizes the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the 
date of acquisition (in thousands of dollars):

Prosigna product technology $ 4,120 
Prosigna customer relationships  2,430 
nCounter Dx license  46,880 
LymphMark product technology  990 

Total identifiable intangible assets acquired  54,420 
Goodwill  1,668 
Net assets acquired $ 56,088 

Identifiable acquisition-related intangibles included in the above table are finite-lived and are being amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated lives, which approximates the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible 
assets are expected to be realized, as follows:
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Estimated Useful life 

(In Years)

Prosigna product technology 15
Prosigna customer relationships 5
nCounter Dx license 15
LymphMark product technology 7

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. 
This acquisition includes $1.7 million of goodwill which the Company believes consists principally of the organized workforce 
that will help the Company execute its strategic plans in relation to the assets acquired. As of December 31, 2021, goodwill is 
not deductible for tax purposes, however, if contingent consideration is paid at a future date, the portions of contingent 
consideration paid and allocated to the intangible assets for tax purposes will be tax deductible.  

Supplemental Pro Forma Information (unaudited)

The unaudited pro forma financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of operations for 
Veracyte, Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx as though the companies had been combined as of January 1, 2020. The pro 
forma amounts have been adjusted for:

• day 1 expense related to the accelerated vesting of unvested legacy Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx equity awards,
• transaction expenses incurred by Decipher Biosciences, HalioDx and us,
• lease expense resulting from the fair value adjustments to the operating lease obligation and operating lease asset for 

both Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx,
• depreciation expense resulting from the fair value adjustments to fixed asset for both Decipher Biosciences and 

HalioDx,
• amortization expense resulting from the acquired intangible assets for both Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx,
• the elimination of historical interest expense incurred on debt and debt-like items for both Decipher Biosciences and 

HalioDx,
• income tax benefits resulting from the deferred tax liabilities acquired related to Decipher Biosciences, and
• compensation expense recognized in relation to the equity awards granted in connection with both acquisitions.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information is for informational purposes only and is not necessarily 
indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved as if the acquisitions had taken place as of January 1, 2020 
(in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Total revenues $ 245,930 $ 177,630 
Net loss $ (36,000) $ (122,203) 

Related Party Transactions

Members of Veracyte's board of directors, Dr. Tina S. Nova, Ph.D. and Dr. Robert S. Epstein, M.D., M.S., served on the 
board of directors of Decipher Biosciences prior to the acquisition, with Dr. Nova additionally serving as President and Chief 
Executive Officer of Decipher Biosciences.  Pursuant to Veracyte's related party transactions policy, Dr. Nova and Dr. Epstein 
recused themselves from all discussions of its board of directors related to the Decipher Acquisition, and the Decipher 
Acquisition was approved by each of the non-interested members of the board of directors.  In connection with the Decipher 
Acquisition, certain Decipher Biosciences equity awards held by Dr. Nova and Dr. Epstein were fully-accelerated and certain 
incentive bonus payments were made to Dr. Nova pursuant to a management incentive plan established by the Decipher 
Biosciences board of directors, resulting in payments of approximately $26.5 million and $1.4 million to each of them, 
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respectively.  Dr. Nova resigned from Veracyte’s board of directors and now serves as Veracyte's President, CLIA US. Dr. 
Epstein continues to serve on Veracyte’s board of directors.

5. Balance Sheet Components

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):

 December 31,
 2021 2020

Leasehold improvements $ 8,607 $ 6,863 

Laboratory equipment  17,533  10,643 

Computer equipment  2,311  1,783 

Software, including software developed for internal use  4,627  3,793 

Furniture and fixtures  2,502  1,544 

Construction-in-process  999  761 

Total property and equipment, at cost  36,579  25,387 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization  (21,481)  (16,397) 

Total property and equipment, net $ 15,098 $ 8,990 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $3.6 million, $2.8 million and $2.7 million for the years ended December 31, 
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Intangible Assets, Net

Finite-live intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 Weighted 
Average 

Amortization 
Period 
(Years) 

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net 
Carrying 
Amount

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net 
Carrying 
Amount

Percepta product technology $ 16,000 $ (7,200) $ 8,800 $ 16,000 $ (6,133) $ 9,867 15
Prosigna product technology  4,120  (572)  3,548  4,120  (298)  3,822 15
Prosigna customer relationships  2,430  (1,013)  1,417  2,430  (526)  1,904 5
nCounter Dx license  46,880  (6,511)  40,369  46,880  (3,386)  43,494 15
LymphMark product technology  990  (295)  695  990  (153)  837 7
Decipher product technology  90,000  (7,234)  82,766  —  —  — 10
Decipher trade names  4,000  (643)  3,357  —  —  — 5
HalioDx developed technology  45,640  (1,877)  43,763  —  —  — 10
HalioDx customer relationships  4,870  (352)  4,518  —  —  — 6
HalioDx customer backlog  6,908  (710)  6,198  —  —  — 4
Total finite lived intangibles  221,838  (26,407)  195,431  70,420  (10,496)  59,924 10.9
In-process research and 
development  7,300  —  7,300  —  —  — 

Total intangible assets $ 229,138 $ (26,407) $ 202,731 $ 70,420 $ (10,496) $ 59,924 

Amortization of the finite-lived intangible assets is recognized on a straight-line basis. Amortization of $16.0 million, 
$5.1 million and $1.4 million was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
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The estimated future aggregate amortization expense as of December 31, 2021 is as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Year Ending December 31, Amounts

2022 $ 22,043 
2023  22,042 
2024  22,002 
2025  20,846 
2026  18,941 
Thereafter  89,557 

Total $ 195,431 

Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Amounts

Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 2,725 

Goodwill acquired - Decipher Biosciences  468,266 

Goodwill acquired - HalioDx  248,814 

Effect of foreign currency translation on Goodwill acquired - HalioDx  (11,901) 

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 707,904 

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):

 December 31,
 2021 2020

Accrued compensation expense $ 30,792 $ 9,201 
Accrued other  8,683  2,504 

Total accrued liabilities $ 39,475 $ 11,705 

6. Fair Value Measurements 

The Company records its financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The carrying amounts of certain financial 
instruments of the Company, including cash and cash equivalents, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities, approximate fair value due to their relatively short maturities. The accounting guidance for fair value 
provides a framework for measuring fair value and clarifies the definition of fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the reporting date. The accounting guidance establishes a three-tiered hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used 
in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value as follows:

• Level I: Inputs which include quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;
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• Level II: Inputs other than Level I that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for 
similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or 
can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; and 

• Level III: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the 
fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The fair value of the Company's financial assets includes money market funds, time deposits and deposits for leases of 
the Company's facilities. Money market funds, included in cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets, was $159.2 million and $346.8 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are Level I assets as 
described above. Included in prepaid expenses and other current assets as of December 31, 2021 were time deposits with a bank 
valued at amortized cost of $4.0 million, which approximates fair value, and are Level II assets as described above. The 
deposits for the leases, included in restricted cash, was $749,000 and $603,000 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, 
and are Level I assets as described above. There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 for the years ended December 31, 
2021, 2020, and 2019.

The fair value of the contingent consideration in Note 4. Business Combination, associated with the agreement with 
NanoString on December 3, 2019, includes inputs that are not observable in the market and thus represents a Level III financial 
liability. The estimation of the fair value of the contingent consideration is based on the present value of the expected payments 
calculated by assessing the likelihood of when the related milestones would be achieved, discounted using the Company's 
estimated borrowing rate. These estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of the contingent 
consideration that are not readily apparent from other sources. Changes to the forecasts for the achievement of the milestones, 
and the estimates of the borrowing rate can significantly affect the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration.  As of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, this contingency was remeasured to $8.4 million and $7.6 million, respectively. with the 
corresponding changes included in general and administrative expense. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 
2019 expenses of $0.8 million, $1.5 million and zero, respectively, were recorded in general and administrative expense for the 
changes in carrying value. As of December 31, 2021, the achievement of one of the milestones is forecasted to occur within the 
next 12 months. As a result, $2.7 million of the contingent consideration is included in short term liabilities at December 31, 
2021. As of December 31, 2021, the Company calculated the estimated fair value of the milestones using the following 
significant unobservable inputs:

 Value or Range
Unobservable input (Weighted-Average)

Discount rate 5.9%
Probability of achievement 80% - 100% (94%)

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases office and laboratory facilities in South San Francisco and San Diego, California; Austin, Texas; 
Marseille, France; and Richmond, Virginia, and leases certain equipment under various non-cancelable lease agreements. The 
lease terms extend to October 2030 and contain extension of lease term and expansion options. The leases have a weighted 
average remaining lease term of 4.8 years as of December 31, 2021. The Company had deposits of $749,000 and $603,000 
included in long-term assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, restricted from withdrawal and held by banks in 
the form of collateral for irrevocable standby letters of credit held as security for the leases

The Company determined its operating lease liabilities using payments through their current expiration dates and a 
weighted average discount rate of 6.4% based on the rate that the Company would have to pay to borrow, on a collateralized 
basis, an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. Operating lease liabilities along with the 
associated right-of-use assets are disclosed in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  After the adoption of ASC 842, 
Leases, the Company classified its deferred rent for tenant improvements with its operating lease right-of-use assets on the 
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consolidated balance sheets. In connection with the acquisition of Decipher Biosciences, the Company identified certain off-
market rate leases and has estimated an intangible asset of $1.8 million which is included in operating lease assets and will be 
amortized over the remaining lease term. See Note 4 for more information on the acquisition of Decipher Biosciences. 

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2021 are as follows (in 
thousands of dollars):

Year Ending December 31, Amounts

2022 $ 4,356 
2023  4,420 
2024  4,414 
2025  4,484 
2026  1,404 
Thereafter  1,580 

Total future minimum lease payments  20,658 
Less: amount representing interest  2,932 

Present value of future lease payments  17,726 
Less: short-term lease liabilities  3,630 

Long-term lease liabilities $ 14,096 
 

The Company recognizes operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelable lease period. The 
following table summarizes operating lease expense and cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities 
(in thousands of dollars): 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Operating lease expense $ 3,503 $ 1,889 $ 1,899 

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities $ 3,650 $ 2,332 $ 2,227 

The company has leased laboratory equipment under various financing leases. The total right-of-use assets and total 
financing lease liabilities for these financing leases were $0.7 million and $0.6 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2021, 
and are included in property and equipment, net and other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s wholly owned foreign subsidiary has signed a lease agreement for facilities 
which will be constructed in Marseille, France. The lease will commence upon completion of the construction of the office 
building which the Company currently expects to occur in the fourth quarter of 2023 at which time the Company will record a 
lease liability and a corresponding ROU asset. The initial term of the lease will be twelve years with annual rent of 
approximately $1.4 million, which is subject to change based on final construction. 

Supplies Purchase Commitments

The Company had non-cancelable purchase commitments with suppliers to purchase a minimum quantity of supplies for 
approximately $16.1 million at December 31, 2021.

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may be involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. The 
Company believes there is no litigation pending that could have, either individually or in the aggregate, a material impact on the 
Company's consolidated financial statements.  
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8. Debt

Loan and Security Agreement

On November 3, 2017, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (the “Loan and Security Agreement”) 
with Silicon Valley Bank.  The Loan and Security Agreement allows the Company to borrow up to $35.0 million, with a 
$25.0 million advance term loan (the “Term Loan Advance”) and a revolving line of credit of up to $10.0 million (the 
“Revolving Line of Credit”).  The Term Loan Advance was advanced upon the closing of the Loan and Security Agreement 
and was used to pay the outstanding balance of the Company’s existing long-term debt, which was canceled at that date.  The 
Company had not drawn on the Revolving Line of Credit as of December 31, 2021.  Borrowings under the Loan and Security 
Agreement mature on October 1, 2022.  Amounts may be borrowed and repaid under the Revolving Line of Credit up until the 
earliest of full repayment or maturity of the Loan and Security Agreement, termination of the Loan and Security Agreement, or 
October 1, 2022.

The Term Loan Advance bears interest at a variable rate equal to (i) the thirty-day U.S. London Interbank Offer Rate 
(“LIBOR”) plus (ii) 4.20%, with a minimum rate of 5.43% per annum. Principal amounts outstanding under the Revolving Line 
of Credit bear interest at a variable rate equal to (i) LIBOR plus (ii) 3.50%, with a minimum rate of 4.70% per annum. 

The Company may prepay the outstanding principal amount under the Term Loan Advance plus accrued and unpaid 
interest and, if the Term Loan Advance is repaid in full, a prepayment premium of $250,000.  In 2019 and 2020, the Company 
prepaid $24.9 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of the principal amount of the Term Loan Advance. These prepayments 
did not trigger any prepayment premium because they were partial, not full, repayments of the principal amount.  If the Loan 
and Security Agreement is terminated before maturity, then a termination fee equal to 1% of the Revolving Line of Credit, or 
$0.1 million, will be due.

In addition, a final payment on the Term Loan Advance in the amount of $1.2 million is due upon the earlier of the 
maturity date of the Term Loan Advance or its payment in full. The Loan and Security Agreement contains customary 
representations, warranties, and events of default, as well as affirmative and negative covenants. As of December 31, 2021, the 
Company was in compliance with the loan covenants. The Company’s obligations under the Loan and Security Agreement are 
secured by substantially all of its assets (excluding intellectual property), subject to certain customary exceptions.  

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the net debt obligation for borrowings made under the Loan and Security Agreement 
was as follows (in thousands of dollars):

December 31,
 2021 2020

Debt principal $ — $ — 
End-of-term debt obligation  1,026  810 
Net debt obligation $ 1,026 $ 810 

As of December 31, 2021, the principal balance outstanding was one dollar. Future principal and end-of-term debt 
obligation payments due under the Loan and Security Agreement total $1.2 million and are due in 2022.  As of December 31, 
2021 and 2020, the accrued interest payable under the Loan and Security Agreement was immaterial.

 
The end-of-term debt obligation accretes over the term of the Loan and Security Agreement until maturity and is included 

in interest expense in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.
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9. Stockholders' Equity

Common Stock

The Company's Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the Company to issue 125,000,000 shares of common 
stock with a par value of $0.001 per share. The holder of each share of common stock shall have one vote for each share of 
stock. The common stockholders are also entitled to receive dividends whenever funds and assets are legally available and 
when declared by the Board of Directors, subject to the prior rights of holders of all series of convertible preferred stock 
outstanding. No dividends have been declared as of December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had reserved shares of common stock for issuance as follows:

 

 December 31,
 2021 2020

Stock options and restricted stock units issued and outstanding  4,892,164  4,867,303 
Stock options and restricted stock units available for grant under stock option plans  4,418,364  3,061,589 
Common stock available for the Employee Stock Purchase Plan  1,490,130  1,571,395 

Total  10,800,658  9,500,287 

10. Stock Incentive Plans

Stock Plans

In February 2008, the Company adopted the 2008 Stock Plan (the "2008 Plan"). The 2008 Plan provides for the granting 
of options to purchase common stock and common stock to employees, directors and consultants of the Company. The 
Company may grant incentive stock options, or ISOs, non-statutory stock options, or NSOs, or restricted stock under the 2008 
Plan. ISOs may only be granted to Company employees (including directors who are also considered employees). NSOs and 
restricted stock may be granted to Company employees, directors and consultants. Options may be granted for terms of up to 
ten years from the date of grant, as determined by the Board of Directors, provided however, that with respect to an ISO granted 
to a person who owns stock representing more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company, the term 
shall be for no more than five years from the date of grant. The exercise price of options granted must be at a price no less than 
100% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, as determined by the Board of Directors, provided however, 
that with respect to an ISO granted to an employee who at the time of grant of such option owns stock representing more than 
10% of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company, the exercise price shall not be less than 110% of the estimated 
fair value of the shares on the date of grant. 

In October 2013, the Company adopted the 2013 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2013 Plan"). The 2013 Plan was 
subsequently approved by the Company's stockholders and became effective on November 4, 2013, immediately before the 
closing of the Company's initial public offering, or IPO. Following the effectiveness of the 2013 Plan, no additional options 
were granted under the 2008 Plan. An aggregate of 1,700,000 shares were initially reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plan. In 
addition, to the extent that any awards outstanding or subject to vesting restrictions under the 2008 Plan are subsequently 
forfeited or terminated for any reason before being exercised or settled, the shares of common stock reserved for issuance 
pursuant to such awards as of the closing of the IPO will become available for issuance under the 2013 Plan. The remaining 
shares available for grant under the 2008 Plan became available for issuance under the 2013 Plan upon the closing of the IPO. 
On the first day of each year from 2014 to 2023, the 2013 Plan authorizes an annual increase of the lesser of 4% of outstanding 
shares on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year or a lesser amount as determined by the Company's Board of 
Directors. As of December 31, 2021, 4,418,364 shares were available for future issuance under the 2013 Plan.

Pursuant to the 2013 Plan, stock options, restricted shares, stock units, including RSUs and stock appreciation rights may 
be granted to employees, consultants, and outside directors of the Company. Options granted may be either ISOs or NSOs.
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Stock options are governed by stock option agreements between the Company and recipients of stock options. ISOs and 
NSOs may be granted under the 2013 Plan at an exercise price of not less than 100% of the fair market value of the common 
stock on the date of grant, determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Options become exercisable 
and expire as determined by the Compensation Committee, provided that the term of ISOs may not exceed ten years from the 
date of grant. Stock option agreements may provide for accelerated exercisability in the event of an optionee's death, disability, 
or retirement or other events.

Stock units are governed by stock unit agreements between the Company and recipients of stock units. Stock units may 
be granted under the 2013 Plan and the number of stock units awarded are determined by the Compensation Committee of the 
Board of Directors. Stock units vest and expire as determined by the Compensation Committee. Stock unit agreements may 
provide for accelerated vesting in the event of a stock unit holder's death, disability, or retirement or other events.

Beginning in 2021, any outside director who was not previously an employee and who first joins the Company's Board of 
Directors on or after the effective date of the 2013 Plan will be automatically granted RSUs valued on the grant date at 
$600,000. The RSUs will vest as to one-third of those shares on each of the first, second and third annual anniversaries of the 
date of grant. On the first business day after each annual meeting of stockholders, each non-employee director who continues to 
serve on our board of directors and who has served as a director for at least six months will be automatically granted RSUs 
valued on the grant date at $300,000. The RSUs will vest in full on the first anniversary of the date of grant or, if earlier, the 
date of the next annual meeting of stockholders. In 2020 and prior years, any outside director who was not previously an 
employee and who first joined the Company's Board of Directors on or after the effective date of the 2013 Plan was 
automatically granted an initial NSO to purchase 35,000 shares of common stock upon first becoming a member of the Board 
of Directors. The shares subject to the initial option will vest and become exercisable one-third each of the first, second and 
third annual anniversaries of the date of grant. On the first business day after each regularly scheduled annual meeting of 
stockholders, each outside director who was not elected to the Board of Directors for the first time at such meeting and who will 
continue serving as a member of the Board of Directors thereafter was automatically granted an option to purchase 10,000 
shares of common stock, provided that the outside director had served on the Board of Directors for at least six months. Each 
annual option vested and became exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of grant, or immediately prior to the next 
regular annual meeting of the Company's stockholders following the date of grant if the meeting occurred prior to the first 
anniversary date. The options granted to outside directors have a per share exercise price equal to 100% of the fair market value 
of the underlying shares on the date of grant. These RSUs and options will become fully vested in the event of a change in 
control. In addition, such options will terminate on the earlier of (i) the day before the 10th anniversary of the date of grant or 
(ii) the date 12 months after the termination of the outside director's service for any reason.
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The following table summarizes activity under the Company's stock incentive plans (aggregate intrinsic value in 
thousands):

 
Shares

Available
for Grant

Stock Options
Outstanding 
and Unvested 
Stock Units

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price 
of Stock 
Options

Weighted 
Average

Remaining
Contractual 
Life of Stock 

Options
(Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value of 

Stock 
Options

Balance—December 31, 2020  3,061,589  4,867,303 $ 15.14 6.98 $ 135,879 
Additional shares authorized  2,328,021  —    
Granted - stock options  (677,851)  677,851  46.85   
Granted - restricted stock units  (1,168,896)  1,168,896 
Canceled  713,175  (713,175)  18.89   
Exercised  —  (712,588)  12.88   
Restricted stock units vested  —  (396,123) 
Tax portion of restricted stock units vested  162,326  — 

Balance—December 31, 2021  4,418,364  4,892,164 $ 19.87 6.16 $ 78,914 

Options vested and exercisable—December 31, 2021   2,391,848 $ 12.67 5.02 $ 68,246 

Options vested and expected to vest—December 31, 2021   3,379,118 $ 19.10 6.04 $ 77,946 

The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the options to purchase 
common stock and the fair market value of the Company's common stock, which was $41.20 and $48.94 per share as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The weighted average fair value of options to purchase common stock granted was $23.45, $12.97 and $11.07 for the 
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The aggregate estimated grant date fair value of employee options to purchase common stock vested during the years 
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $7.8 million, $7.3 million and $4.4 million, respectively.

The intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $24.0 million, $32.9 million and $31.3 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The weighted average fair value of RSUs granted was $46.41 and $27.09 for the years ended December 31, 2021, and 
2020, respectively.  The intrinsic value of RSUs vested was $21.7 million and $10.3 million for the years ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020, respectively.

Included in RSUs granted for 2021 are PSUs with a grant date fair value of $3.8 million.  These PSUs vest based on the 
achievement of certain performance conditions, subject to the employees’ continued service with the Company.  The service 
period for the PSUs begins in 2022 and as such the expense related to the PSUs will begin in 2022 and will be based on the 
Company's assessment of the probability of the achievement of the performance condition.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In May 2015, the Company's stockholders approved the Company's ESPP. The ESPP provides eligible employees with an 
opportunity to purchase common stock from the Company and to pay for their purchases through payroll deductions. The ESPP 
will be implemented through a series of offerings of purchase rights to eligible employees. Under the ESPP, the Compensation 
Committee of the Company's Board of Directors may specify offerings with a duration of not more than 12 months and may 
specify shorter purchase periods within each offering. During each purchase period, payroll deductions will accumulate, 
without interest. On the last day of the purchase period, accumulated payroll deductions will be used to purchase common stock 
for employees participating in the offering.
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The purchase price will be specified pursuant to the offering, but cannot, under the terms of the ESPP, be less than 85% 
of the fair market value per share of the Company's common stock on either the offering date or on the purchase date, 
whichever is less.

The Company's Board of Directors has determined that the purchase periods initially shall have a duration of six months, 
that the first purchase period began on August 3, 2015, and that the purchase price will be 85% of the fair market value per 
share of the Company's common stock on either the offering date or the purchase date, whichever is less. The length of the 
purchase period applicable to U.S. employees and the purchase price may not be changed without the approval of the 
independent members of the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee 
has determined that if the fair market value of a share of the Company's common stock on any purchase date within a particular 
offering period is less than the fair market value on the start date of that offering period, then the offering period will 
automatically terminate and the employees in that offering period will automatically be transferred and enrolled in a new 
offering period which will begin on the next day following such purchase date.

No employee is permitted to accrue, under the ESPP, a right to purchase stock of the Company having a value in excess 
of $25,000 of the fair market value of such stock (determined at the time the right is granted) for each calendar year.  As of 
December 31, 2021, 1,490,130 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the ESPP.

 
Stock-based Compensation

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense related to stock options, RSUs and the ESPP for the 
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, and are included in the consolidated statements of operations as follows (in 
thousands of dollars):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Cost of testing revenue $ 640 $ 369 $ 277 
Research and development  4,636  2,690  1,856 
Selling and marketing  4,390  3,474  2,938 
General and administrative  12,853  6,462  4,736 
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 22,519 $ 12,995 $ 9,807 

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had $52.1 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested 
stock options and RSUs, which is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted-average period of 2.5 years.

The estimated grant-date fair value of stock options was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, based 
on the following assumptions.

• Expected Term: The expected term represents the period that the options granted are expected to be outstanding. 
During 2021 and 2020 it was determined using the Company's historical data and during prior years it was determined 
using the simplified method (based on the mid-point between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term).

• Expected Volatility: During 2021 and 2020, the Company used the historical volatility of its common stock. For prior 
years, the Company used an average historical stock price volatility of comparable public companies as the Company 
did not have sufficient trading history for its common stock.

• Risk-Free Interest Rate: The Company based the risk-free interest rate over the expected term of the options based on 
the constant maturity rate of U.S. Treasury securities with similar maturities as of the date of the grant.

• Expected Dividend Yield: The Company has not paid and does not anticipate paying any dividends in the near future. 
Therefore, the expected dividend yield was zero.
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The estimated grant-date fair value of employee stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model was based 
on the following assumptions:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Weighted-average volatility 56.83 - 60.48% 54.40 - 58.20% 52.90 - 53.40%
Weighted-average expected term (years) 5.05 - 5.25 5.24 - 5.42 5.50 - 6.08
Risk-free interest rate 0.40 - 1.21% 0.24 - 0.92% 1.90 - 2.60%
Expected dividend yield — — —

The estimated grant date fair value of the ESPP shares was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, 
based on the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

 2021 2020 2019

Weighted-average volatility 62.03 - 80.70% 54.16 - 85.01% 53.38 - 71.77%
Weighted-average expected term (years) 0.50 - 1.00 0.50 - 1.00 0.50 - 1.00
Risk-free interest rate 0.06 - 0.08% 0.11 - 1.56% 1.88 - 2.56%
Expected dividend yield — — —

11. Income Taxes

The Company generated a pre-tax loss of $81.6 million, $34.9 million and $12.6 million in the United States for the years 
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Starting in 2020, the Company began generating pre-tax loss outside 
the United States. Pre-tax loss has been recorded in the following jurisdictions for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 
and 2019 (in thousands of dollars):

 Year Ended December, 31,
 2021 2020 2019

United States $ (68,707) $ (34,909) $ (12,599) 
Foreign  (12,942)  —  — 

Total $ (81,649) $ (34,909) $ (12,599) 

The Company recorded an income tax benefit in 2021 of $6.1 million primarily due to the release of certain valuation 
allowances on the Company's deferred tax assets upon recording of the deferred tax liabilities upon acquisition of Decipher 
Biosciences and a provision benefit recorded on the current year loss of HalioDx French entity that has no valuation allowance.  
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The Company recorded no provision for income taxes during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.  The components 
of the benefit for income taxes are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands of dollars):

 Year Ended December, 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Current:
Federal $ — $ — $ — 
State  63  —  — 
Foreign  54  —  — 

Total current  117  —  — 
Deferred:

Federal  (3,526)  —  — 
State  (508)  —  — 
Foreign  (2,169)  —  — 

Total deferred  (6,203)  —  — 
Total income tax benefit $ (6,086) $ — $ — 

The Company follows FASB ASC No. 740, Income Taxes for the Computation and Presentation of its Tax Provision. 
The following table presents a reconciliation of the income tax expense computed at the statutory federal rate and the 
Company's income tax expense for the periods presented (in thousands of dollars):

 Year Ended December, 31,
 2021 2020 2019

U.S. federal taxes at statutory rate $ (17,146) $ (7,302) $ (2,632) 
State tax (net of federal benefit)  (1,609)  (1,794)  (828) 
Foreign rate differential  674  1  — 
Non deductible officers' compensation  3,055  1,443  439 
Transaction costs  2,255  —  — 
Permanent differences  59  131  221 
Stock based compensation - excess benefit  (5,687)  (4,881)  (4,366) 
Tax credits  (714)  (588)  (996) 
Change in valuation allowance  13,027  12,990  8,162 
Total $ (6,086) $ — $ — 
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the 
Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Deferred tax assets:    
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 133,492 $ 68,113 $ 56,506 
Research and development credits  7,926  6,167  5,579 
Stock-based compensation  3,760  2,696  2,246 
NanoString intangibles and goodwill  1,244  908  380 
Operating lease liability  4,327  2,826  3,068 
Accruals and other  7,099  2,623  2,610 

Gross deferred tax assets  157,848  83,333  70,389 
Valuation allowance  (120,586)  (78,650)  (65,228) 

Net deferred tax assets  37,262  4,683  5,161 
Deferred tax liabilities:    

Property and equipment  (219)  (334)  (471) 
Other acquired intangibles  (34,823)  —  — 
In-process research and development  (3,892)  (2,423)  (2,597) 
ROU assets  (3,920)  (1,926)  (2,093) 

Gross deferred tax liabilities  (42,854)  (4,683)  (5,161) 
Net deferred tax liabilities  (42,854)  (4,683)  (5,161) 

Net deferred taxes $ (5,592) $ — $ — 
  

The Company records net deferred tax assets to the extent it is more likely than not that the assets will be realized. In 
making such determination, the Company considered all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of 
existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations.  
The Company has established a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding 
realization of such assets. The valuation allowance increased $41.9 million, $13.4 million and $9.9 million during the years 
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $437.1 million, 
$87.6 million and $133.1 million available to reduce future taxable income, if any, for federal, California and other state income 
tax purposes, respectively.  The U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2026 while for state 
purposes, the net operating losses begin to expire in 2022.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $74.7 million and 
$31.3 million available to reduce future taxable income, if any, for Canadian and French income tax purposes, respectively. The 
Canada net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2034, while for French purposes, the net operating losses will 
carryforward indefinitely.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had net research and development credit carryforwards of approximately 
$5.9 million and $5.7 million available to reduce future taxable income, if any, for federal and state income tax purposes, 
respectively. The federal credit carryforwards begin to expire in 2028. California credits have no expiration date. Other state 
credit carryforwards begin to expire in 2023.
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The Company also had scientific net research and development credit carryforwards of approximately $1.4 million 
available to reduce future taxable income, if any, for Canadian income tax purposes. The credit carryforwards begin to expire in 
2025.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, imposes restrictions on the utilization of net operating losses and tax 
credits in the event of an "ownership change" of a corporation. Accordingly, a company's ability to use net operating losses and 
tax credits may be limited as prescribed under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 and 383 ("IRC Section 382"). Events which 
may cause limitations in the amount of the net operating losses or tax credits that the Company may use in any one year 
include, but are not limited to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a three-year period. Utilization of the 
federal and state net operating losses may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change limitations 
provided by the IRC Section 382 rules and similar state provisions. In the event the Company has any changes in ownership, 
net operating losses and research and development credit carryovers could be limited and may expire unutilized.

Uncertain Tax Positions

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $4.5 million, none of which currently would 
affect the Company's effective tax rate if recognized due to the Company's deferred tax assets being fully offset by a valuation 
allowance. The Company does not anticipate that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits relating to tax positions existing at 
December 31, 2021 will significantly increase or decrease within the next 12 months.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands of dollars):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of period $ 3,563 $ 3,278 $ 2,799 
Gross increases—tax position in prior period  515  —  — 
Gross decreases—tax position in prior period  —  —  — 
Gross increases—current period tax position  374  285  479 
Lapse of statute of limitations  —  —  — 
Unrecognized tax benefits, end of period $ 4,452 $ 3,563 $ 3,278 

It is the Company's policy to include penalties and interest expense related to income taxes as a component of other 
income (expense), net, and interest expense, respectively, as necessary. There was no interest expense or penalties related to 
unrecognized tax benefits recorded through December 31, 2021.

The Company's major tax jurisdictions are the United States, Canada, California and France. All of the Company's tax 
years will remain open for examination by the Federal and state tax authorities for three and four years, respectively, from the 
date of utilization of the net operating loss or research and development credit. The Company does not have any tax audits 
pending in the United States. There is an audit in progress in France.  Currently, there has not been a basis for reassessment.

Beginning in 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act eliminates the option to deduct research and development expenditures and 
requires taxpayers to amortize domestic expenditures over five years and foreign expenditures over fifteen years. While it is 
possible that Congress may modify or repeal this provision before it becomes effective, the Company has no assurance that 
these provisions will be modified or repealed. Therefore, based on current assumptions, this could potentially increase the 
effective tax rate and decrease the Company's cash from operations beginning in 2022. On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus 
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company 
does not expect the provisions of the legislation to have a significant impact on the effective tax rate of the Company.
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12. Employee Benefit Plans

401(k) plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution plan covering all employees. Under the plan, participants are 
entitled to make pre-tax contributions up to the annual maximums established by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company, 
at its discretion, may make matching contributions to the 401(k) plan. Employer contributions to the plan were $1.3 million, 
$0.6 million and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.

Pension plan

The Company also maintains a defined benefit plan for certain non-U.S. employees of its HalioDx subsidiary. The 
pension liability is included in other long-term liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets and totaled $1.1 million 
and zero as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

13. Components of Other Income, net 

Other income, net consists of the following (in thousands of dollars):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020 2019

French research tax credits $ 1,535 $ — $ — 
Interest and dividend income  135  594  3,025 
Interest expense  (241)  (229)  (677) 
Gain (loss) on currency revaluation  (1,081)  56  — 
Other  (94)  59  180 

Total $ 254 $ 480 $ 2,528 
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ITEM 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures," as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, 
as amended, are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file 
or submit under the Exchange Act are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in 
Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our 
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed 
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily 
applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this 
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective as of December 31, 2021.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined 
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial 
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control to 
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 
of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Under the supervision and with the participation of our 
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, using the criteria established in Internal 
Control Integrated Framework ("2013 Framework") issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission ("COSO"). Our management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, our internal control over financial 
reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

The scope of management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting excluded Decipher 
Biosciences acquired in March 2021 and HalioDx acquired in August 2021. Total assets, total liabilities and total revenues of 
the acquired entities represented approximately 7%, 38% and 35% of the total assets, total liabilities and total revenues of 
Veracyte's consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been audited by Ernst & 
Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Other than the aforementioned acquisitions, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting as 
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act, during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 that have materially affected, 
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Veracyte Inc. 

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Veracyte, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Veracyte, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the COSO criteria.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, 
management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the 
internal controls of Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx which are included in the 2021 consolidated financial statements of the 
Company and constituted 7% and 38% of total assets and liabilities, respectively, as of December 31, 2021 and 35% of total 
revenues for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not include an 
evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Decipher Biosciences and HalioDx.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB), the 2021 consolidated financial statements of the Company and our report dated February 28, 2022 expressed 
an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. 

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a 
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed 
risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
February 28, 2022
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ITEM 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION

None. 

ITEM 9C.    Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

None. 

PART III

ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item with respect to directors is incorporated by reference from the information 
contained in our proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days from the end 
of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 in connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2022 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders, or the Proxy Statement. 

ITEM 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14.    PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.    EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report

1.     Financial Statements:

Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statements of Veracyte, Inc. included in Item 8 of Part II hereof.

2.     Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, or the required information is included in 
the financial statements or notes thereto.

3.     Exhibits

See Item 15(b) below. Each management contract or compensating plan or arrangement required to be filed has been 
identified.

(b) Exhibits 

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the 
Registrant 8-K 001-36156 3.1 11/8/2013

3.2 Restated Bylaws of the Restated Bylaws of the 
Registrant 8-K 001-36156 3.1 1/25/2021

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate S-1/A 333-191282 4.1 10/15/2013

4.2
Description of Securities Registered under Section 
12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended

10-K 001-36156 4.2 2/22/2021

10.1# Form of Indemnification Agreement between the 
Registrant and its officers and directors S-1/A 333-191282 10.1 10/7/2013

10.2# 2008 Stock Plan and forms of agreements thereunder S-1 333-191282 10.2 9/20/2013

10.3#
2013 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of 
stock option award agreement, stock option exercise 
agreement, restricted stock agreement and restricted 
stock unit agreement

10-K 001-36156 10.3 2/27/2018

10.4# Form of stock option award under 2013 Stock 
Incentive Plan 10-Q 001-36156 10.1 11/2/2020

10.5# Form of stock unit award under 2013 Stock Incentive 
Plan 10-Q 001-36156 10.1 11/2/2020

10.6# Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan 10-Q 001-36156 10.1 7/30/2020

10.7
Lease Agreement between Riata Holdings, L.P., as 
landlord, and the Registrant, as tenant, dated 
November 28, 2012

S-1 333-191282 10.6 9/20/2013

10.8
Second Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of 
August 14, 2017 by and between BRI 1868 RIATA, 
LLC and the Registrant

10-Q 001-36156 10.1 11/7/2017

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit 
Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

Filed 
Herewith
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10.9
First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of 
January 7, 2014 by and between Riata Holdings, L.P. 
and the Registrant

10-K 001-36156 10.7 3/20/2014

10.10
Office Building Lease by and between American 
Fund US Investments LP and the Registrant dated 
April 29, 2015

10-Q 001-36156 10.2 8/13/2015

10.11
First Amendment to Office Building Lease dated 
May 3, 2016 by and between American Fund US 
Investments LP and the Registrant

10-K 001-36156 10.9 2/27/2018

10.12
Second Amendment to Office Building Lease dated 
February 8, 2017 by and between CRP 6000 
Shoreline, L.L.C. and the Registrant

10-K 001-36156 10.10 3/1/2017

10.13#
Offer Letter dated as of March 5, 2008 with Giulia 
Kennedy 10-K 001-36156 10.15 2/25/2020

10.14†
Amended and Restated Pathology Services 
Agreement dated as of February 14, 2019 between 
Thyroid Cytopathology Partners, P.A. and the 
Registrant

10-Q 001-36156 10.1 4/30/2019

10.15
Loan and Security Agreement dated as of November 
3, 2017 between Silicon Valley Bank and the 
Registrant

10-K 001-36156 10.19 2/27/2018

10.16 Form of Performance Stock Unit 10-Q 001-36156 10.1 5/1/2018

10.17#
Amended and Restated Change in Control and 
Severance Agreement, effective July 1, 2019 
between Bonnie Anderson and the Registrant

10-Q 001-36156 10.2 7/30/2019

10.18#
Amended and Restated Change in Control and 
Severance Agreement, effective July 1, 2019 
between Giulia Kennedy and the Registrant

10-Q 001-36156 10.4 7/30/2019

10.19†
Diagnostic Development Agreement, dated 
December 28, 2018, between Johnson & Johnson 
Services, Inc. and the Registrant

10-K 001-36156 10.22 2/25/2019

10.20†
License and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated 
December 3, 2019, between NanoString 
Technologies, Inc. and the Registrant

8-K 001-36156 2.1 12/3/2019

10.21 Registration Rights Schedule, dated December 3, 
2019 8-K 001-36156 4.1 12/3/2019

10.22 Memorandum of Understanding between the 
Shareholders of HalioDx and the Registrant 10-Q 001-36156 10.4 7/29/2021

10.23
Securities Purchase and Contribution Agreement, 
dated July 13, 2021, between the registrant and 
HalioDx SAS

10-Q 001-36156 10.5 7/29/2021

10.24# Employment Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2021, 
between Marc Stapley and the Registrant 10-Q 001-36156 10.2 7/29/2021

10.25#
Change in Control and Severance Agreement, 
effective June 1, 2021 between Marc Stapley and the 
Registrant

10-Q 001-36156 10.3 7/29/2021

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit 
Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

Filed 
Herewith
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10.26# Employment Agreement, dated as of May 28, 2021, 
between Bonnie Anderson and the Registrant 10-Q 001-36156 10.1 7/29/2021

10.27
Agreement and Plan of Merger between Decipher 
Biosciences, Inc., the Registrant, and the parties 
thereto, dated as of February 2, 2021

10-Q 001-36156 10.1 5/10/2021

10.28#
Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated August 
15, 2021, between the Registrant and Rebecca 
Chambers

10-Q 001-36156 10.1 11/9/2021

10.29#
Change in Control and Severance Agreement, 
effective July 19, 2021 between Rebecca Chambers 
and the Registrant

10-Q 001-36156 10.2 11/9/2021

21.1 List of Subsidiaries X

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm X

24.1 Power of Attorney (see the signature page of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K) X

31.1 Principal Executive Officer’s Certification Pursuant 
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 X

31.2 Principal Financial Officer’s Certification Pursuant 
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 X

32.1* Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 
(Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) X

32.2* Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 
(Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) X

101.INS XBRL Instance Document X

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema X

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation 
Linkbase X

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition 
Linkbase X

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase X

101.PRE
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation 
Linkbase X

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within 
the Inline XBRL document and included in Exhibit 
101) X

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit 
Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

Filed 
Herewith

_____________________________________________
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# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
* In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regulation S-K and SEC Release No. 34-47986, the certifications 

furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Form 10-K and will not be 
deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) or 
deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

† Registrant is requesting or has previously been granted confidential treatment with respect to certain 
portions of this Exhibit.

Copies of the above exhibits not contained herein are available to any stockholder, upon payment of a reasonable per page fee, 
upon written request to: Chief Financial Officer, Veracyte, Inc., 6000 Shoreline Court, Suite 300, South San Francisco, 
California 94080.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

Reference is made to Item 15(a) 2 above.
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ITEM 16.    FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable. 

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 

this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  VERACYTE, INC.
By: /s/ MARC STAPLEY

 Marc Stapley
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date: February 28, 2022

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and 

appoints Marc Stapley and Rebecca Chambers, and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with full 
power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this annual report on Form 10-K and 
to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact or their substitute or substitutes may do or 
cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons, on behalf of the registrant on the dates and the capacities indicated.

Signature  Title  Date

/s/ MARC STAPLEY Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 28, 2022
Marc Stapley   

/s/ REBECCA CHAMBERS Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 28, 2022
Rebecca Chambers   

/s/ BONNIE H. ANDERSON Executive Chairwoman February 28, 2022
Bonnie H. Anderson

/s/ JANE ALLEY Vice President, Controller (Principal 
Accounting Officer)

February 28, 2022
Jane Alley

/s/ JOHN L. BISHOP Lead Independent Director February 28, 2022
John L. Bishop   

/s/ MUNA BHANJI Director February 28, 2022
Muna Bhanji

/s/ KARIN EASTHAM Director  February 28, 2022
Karin Eastham  

/s/ ROBERT S. EPSTEIN, M.D., M.S. Director  February 28, 2022
Robert S. Epstein, M.D., M.S.  

/s/ KEVIN K. GORDON Director  February 28, 2022
Kevin K. Gordon  

/s/ JENS HOLSTEIN Director February 28, 2022
Jens Holstein

/s/ EVAN JONES Director  February 28, 2022
Evan Jones  
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